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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of

investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will

be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents
of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for

any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (“Directors”) of WLS Holdings Limited (“Company” or “WLS”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, contirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained
in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (2) there are no other

matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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“CIRCLE AND SQUARE” CONCEPT

In this intensely competitive world, the winners are those who take the
initiative to build a solid foundation and dedicate efforts on self improvement

and enhance business efficiencies.

WLS Holdings Limited, with excellent business acumen, takes a proactive
stance on incorporating the “Circle and Square” concept into its corporate
mission. The underlying meaning of having a “Circle” encompassing a
square symbolises the importance of offering smooth services and flexibility
to external parties, and “Square” encompassed by a circle symbolises the
requirement of cautiousness and striving after perfection. That is why
WLS shall adhere unwaveringly to its principle of perpetual emphasis and

continuous improvement on “Safety, Quality and Efficiency”.

WLS practises and preaches the theory of “Circle and Square” by integrating
flexibility into every step of its operations as well as abiding by every legal

regulation and restriction.
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COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.wls.com.hk
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Hong Kong
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31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10
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TRANSFER OFFICE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

#HZUH =1 H ik Bf B 4 B Financial Year ended 30 April

ZRPYLE % e S SR
2024 2022 2021
T 0 Tt Tt T 0
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$’000
HEE Turnover 82,405 145,960 191,027 150,206
o i i M 4R Loss before tax (5,241) (105,807)% (7,519) (12,929)
E/NEIE. SN Loss for the year
JHE ik A 4F B 5 4R attributable to the owners

of the Company (11,147) (112,413)* (10,818) (13,750)
s (Al Loss per share (HK cent)
— AR R — basic and diluted (0.078) (0.782)* (0.075) (0.096)

* EREEEE EiY 1

* From continuing operations
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

OVERVIEW

During the year ended 30 April 2024 (“Year”), the Group recorded a decrease
in the Group’s total revenue for the Year from continuing operations of
approximately HK$82.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately
44% as compared with the year ended 30 April 2023 (“Last Year”). Net
loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year from continuing
operations was approximately HK$11.1 million, representing a significant

decrease of approximately HK$101.3 million as compared with Last Year.

The operations and reportable segments for the Year were presented as (i)
scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work, (ii) money lending business and (iii) securities investment

business.

The detailed business and financial review of each business segment is stated

below.
BUSINESS REVIEW

Scaffolding, Fitting out and Other Auxiliary Services for
Construction and Buildings Work

The scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work was the largest business segment for the Year. This segment
includes scaffolding services, fitting out services and other auxiliary services
for construction and buildings work. For the Year, revenue from this segment
was approximately HK$36.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$66.6 million as compared with Last Year (Last Year: approximately
HK$103.4 million), since the Group had certain construction contracts that
are completed. During the year, the Group had been awarded a total of 4
new construction contracts during the Year (Last Year: 2 new construction

contracts).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Scaffolding Services

In recent years, a number of large-scale infrastructure projects have been
carried out by the Government of the HKSAR to boost the construction
industry and well-being of the society. For this purpose, a multi-pronged
strategy has been adopted by the government to maintain a steady and
sustainable land supply with the aim to meet the continuing housing needs in
Hong Kong.

On the other hand, in the past few years, the entire scaffolding industry
encountered the major difficulty of shortage in supply of skilled workers and
experienced personnel. Such shortage of workers resulted in the rising labour
costs and diminishing profit margins throughout the industry, which further
intensified competition within the scaffolding sector. However, it is worth
mentioning that the Group’s patented scaffolding system, which is known
as “Pik-Lik”, has played a crucial role in saving manpower and enhancing

efficiency in the industry.

Leveraging the widespread recognition of the impeccable quality of services
and the strong relationships nurtured with clientele, the Group receives
positive feedback and prominent business support and takes pride in being one
of the leading scaffolding service providers in Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group provided scaffolding services to 44 ongoing projects, and 12 of

which were completed on schedule and 4 new contracts were awarded.
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MREEMRBEWIHEE B (K2 _%F Project portfolio of scaffolding services (as of 30 April 2024)
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

Comprehensive Redevelopment at 138 Carpenter Road, Kowloon
Comprehensive Development of Jockey Club One Health Tower for City
University of Hong Kong

Comprehensive Development of LRT Tin Wing Stop Tin Shui Wai
Property Development at Tung Chau Street and 1-5 Kweilin Street
Redevelopment of Khalsa Diwan Hong Kong (Sikh Temple)

Industrial Development at Lot 313 and TWIL 49 Tsuen Wan, N.T.
Residential Development of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Ko
Shan Road

Residential Development of Siu Hong Phase 2 Building

New High Tier Data Centre at T.K.O.T.L 131

Residential Commercial Complex Building Development on T.K.O.T.L
No.17 at Tseung Kwan O

Residential Development at No 3 Off Anderson Road, Kwun Tong
Residential Development at Reclamation Street/Shan Tung Street, Mong
Kok

Residential Development at Wong Ma Kok

Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44

Residential Development of Church Facilities, Residential Care Home
& Senior Hostel at 17A & B Ventris Road

Superstructure & Associated Works for the expansion of United
Christian Hospital (Phrase II)

Repair, Maintenance, Alteration and Addition work at Yuen Long Yoho
Mall I & 1T

Residential Development of proposed dedicated Rehousing Estate at
Hung Shui Kiu Phase 1A, Yuen Long

Residential Development at Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-5

Residential Development at Tung Chung Area 99
Residential Development at Kwun Tong North Area 19 Phase 1A and
1B
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Fitting out Services

For the fitting out services, the Group mainly provided fitting out services
to commercial institutions and luxury residence end-users during the Year.
The competition of fitting out services is keen. The Group will continue to

proactively acquire new contracts.
Other Auxiliary Services for Construction and Buildings Work

For other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, the Group
mainly provided gondolas, parapet railings and access equipment installation
and maintenance services. The Group has been actively cultivating its
gondolas rental business over the past several years and has gained positive
‘worth-of-mouth’ in the market. This has enabled the Group to secure a stable

number of new contracts despite the competitive local market.
Money Lending Business

The Group’s money lending business is operated by an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”)
which is a licensed money lender in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group earns interest
income through providing loans to customers. Customers are usually from
referrals from the business network and connections of the management. The
day-to-day operation of the money lending business is mainly handled by the
directors of Gold Medal, while all loan applications are subject to final review

and approval by the Board.
Business Model

The Group’s money lending business only comprised one business model,
namely the money lending model (the “Money Lending Model”). In respect
of the Money Lending Model, the Group focused on the provision of loan

financing to individuals, private and listed companies.

Gold Medal does not place advertisement to procure new customers from
the general public. Instead, Gold Medal acquires its new customers through
referrals by the business acquaintances of the management or existing and/or
previous customers. When a potential customer is referred to the Group, each
loan application will be considered and approved by the Board on a case-by-

case basis.
The Group finances the money lending business principally by the cash inflow
mainly from the repayment of the existing loan portfolio and the proceeds

from the issuance of bonds by Gold Medal and the Company.

As at 30 April 2024, Gold Medal had 101 customers.

ZZZPUEFE  Annual Report 2024
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

Approval of loan application and major terms of the loan
agreements

All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending business
have been granted and approved in accordance with the Guidelines and the
Procedure Manual of Gold Medal. The Guidelines provide the policies to
be observed by Gold Medal for its money lending business, and set out the
objective for the money lending business is to earn interest income to generate
profits for Gold Medal whilst avoiding incurrence of bad debts. At present, the
Guidelines provide that the usual tenure of the loan is between 3 months to 5
years, and for loan less than HK$5,000,000, the usual interest rate is between
7%-15%, for loan in the amount between HK$5,000,000 to HK$20,000,000,
the usual interest rate is between 7%-13% and for loan in the amount between
HK$20,000,000 to HK$40,000,000, the usual interest rate is 7%-10%.

Each loan application is considered on a case-by-case basis. In general, if
the intending borrower will not provide any collateral for the borrowing, the
Group will assess the overall creditworthiness of the intending borrower. To
balance the risk and return, a higher interest rate (when compared with usual
secured bank borrowing) will be charged by the Group and such interest rate

may be higher than any of the interest rates as specified in the Guidelines.
Credit risk assessment policy

When evaluating the overall creditworthiness of the intending borrower, Gold

Medal has adopted the following practices:

(i)  With regard to private and listed companies, Gold Medal does not
approve loan application of intending borrower which conducts business
in industries engaging in sensitive or high risk activities for money
laundering and terrorist financing, such as the entertainment and the

gambling industries.

(ii))  With regard to individual customers, in accordance with the Licensing
Condition 15 of the licensing conditions as imposed by the Licensing
Court which was effective from 25 November 2023, in respect of
unsecured personal loans only, Gold Medal is required to carry out
a reasonable assessment of the intending borrower’s ability to make
repayments in an affordable manner. Therefore, Gold Medal has
obtained income proof and asset proof from the intending borrower and
also took into account payments needed to meet existing debts (if any)
and essential living expenses of the intending borrower when reviewing

the loan application.
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Existing loans and repayment collection

The amount of overdue loans receivable as at 30 April 2024 was approximately
HK$35.9 million. In relation to the overdue loans, Gold Medal has sent loan
repayment request letter to the relevant borrowers and/or has been conducting

negotiation with the relevant borrowers and may consider taking legal action.

The Company has complied with the requirements set out in Chapter 19 and/
or Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules when Gold Medal granted the loan to

each of the borrowers, whose loan was still outstanding as at 30 April 2024.

The Company does not have any agreement, arrangement, understanding, or
undertaking (whether formal or informal and whether express or implied)
with a connected person (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) with respect
to the grant of any loan by Gold Medal to the borrower whose loan was still
outstanding as at 30 April 2024.

Size of the borrowers

Gold Medal has reviewed and flexibly adjusted the business strategies,
which is to enhance the requirements of the loan granted to the borrowers.
For example, the borrowers have to provide the asset proof or income
proof to prove they have the ability to repay the loan. As the requirements
of the loan granted to the borrowers are higher and the risk for the loan
borrowings are lower, the related interest rate will become lower. Thus, the
business segment recorded a slight increase of revenue during the Year and
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$45.6 million for the Year (Last
Year: approximately HK$42.5 million). For the loan portfolio as at 30 April
2024, the principal amount of the loans ranged from approximately HK$0.1
million to HK$25.0 million with interest rates ranging from 7.0% to 22%
per annum. As at 30 April 2024, approximately 80% of the Group’s net loan
and interest receivables were unsecured. The remaining loan were secured
by listed companies shares. As at 30 April 2024, the net amount of loan and
interest receivables due from the largest borrower was approximately HK$21.8
million, being approximately 4.8% to the net loan and interest receivables of
the Group. The net amount of loan and interest receivables due from the five
largest borrowers (in aggregation with loans granted to persons connected with
each other) was less than 21.5% of the net loan and interest receivables of the
Group. The five largest borrowers were individuals, all of which were third
parties independent of the Company and its connected persons (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules). Further details of the loan and interest receivables
are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending business have
been granted and approved in accordance with the Money Lending Guidelines
(“Guidelines”) and the Money Lending Procedure Manual (“Procedure
Manual”) of Gold Medal. The Guidelines provide the policies to be observed
by Gold Medal for its money lending business, and set out the objective for
the money lending business is to earn interest income to generate profits for
Gold Medal whilst avoiding incurrence of bad debts. The Guidelines also
provide references or specific requirements for setting of interest rates of the
loan, the tenure of the loan and the credit assessment and approval process
of each loan. Each loan application will be considered and approved by the
Board on a case by case basis. The Board will usually take into account of the
applicant’s creditability, reputation, financial status, the value of the security
(if any), the applicant’s past repayment record with Gold Medal, and the
proposed tenure, principal amount and interest rate of the loan to consider
whether a loan application will be approved and whether a security/guarantee

is needed or adequate for a loan.

The Procedure Manual provides the procedures to be observed by Gold Medal
for granting and thereafter monitoring the repayment of the loans. In brief, the
intending borrower first fills in an application form or the intending borrower
communicates in person with the officer of Gold Medal. The officer will then
collect documents from the intending borrower for client identification and
verification, and has to confirm/enquire if the borrower is a connected person
of the Group (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). The application form
will then be reviewed and/or approved by any one director of Gold Medal.
The senior management will draft the loan documents in accordance with
the terms specified in the approved application form. The responsible officer
of the loan application will prepare the Memorandum for Credit Analysis
(“Memorandum”) which contains the proposed terms of the loan application,
the background information of the borrower and the analysis of the credit
risks and security. The draft loan documents together with the Memorandum
will be passed to the Board for final approval. Based on the information in the
Memorandum, the Board makes a conclusion on the credit risk assessment of
the customer. Once the loan is approved and granted, the responsible officer
has to report the status of the loan repayment monthly and immediately report
to the Directors if any default repayment is noted. Generally, if the debt is
overdue, Gold Medal will issue reminder letter to the customer and if the debt

is overdue for 6 months, Gold Medal will consider to take legal action.
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Money Lending:

Gold Medal has reviewed and flexibly adjusted the business strategies,
which is to enhance the requirements of the loan granted to the borrowers.
For example, the borrowers have to provide the asset proof or income proof
to prove they have the ability to repay the loan. As the requirements of the
loan granted to the borrowers are higher and the risk for the loan borrowings
are lower, the related interest rate will become lower. Hence, our money
lending business recorded net impairment losses arising from expected
credit losses and write-off on loan and interest receivables in the amount of
approximately HK$24.0 million (Last Year: approximately HK$84.6 million)
and approximately HK$nil million (Last Year: approximately HK$3.0 million)
respectively for the Year. Despite such difficulties, the Group will continue
putting efforts in the collection procedure of loan receivables. For details of
our money lending business, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Business Review — Money Lending Business” in
this annual report.

Securities Investment Business

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$5.5 million (Last Year:
net loss of approximately HK$23.1 million) for its investment portfolio
for the Year, which was mainly due to the volatility of the stock market in
Hong Kong. The investment committee will continue to monitor the Group’s

investment portfolio closely in order to maximum shareholders’ returns.
BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the external environment is rather complicated in 2024. The
geopolitical tensions and the lagged effects of the sharp monetary tightening
earlier will continue to affect Hong Kong economic growth. Some major
central banks are expected to cut interest rates later in the year, thereby
lending support to economic confidence and activities around the world,
though the exact timing and magnitude of the cuts remain uncertain. The
Group will continue to focus on scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary
services for construction and buildings work; money lending and securities

investment business.

In the past decade, the scaffolding industry has become increasingly
competitive. Furthermore, the costs have become higher together with rising
labour costs and the productivity has suffered decline as well. In the face of
a phenomenon of ageing workers, young generation is unwilling to join the
industry due to hard labour work and higher requirement of technological
qualifications, which has affected recruitment of talents in the industry, and
with heavier government regulations, without favourable factors such as
labour imports, the carrying capacity of the industry may be challenged. These

reflect a lack of confidence in the prospect of the scaffolding industry.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

On the other hand, in response to demand from market development, many
contractors have adopted the use of iron scaffolds instead of bamboo scaffolds
nowadays. The general higher durability of iron scaffolds and the possibility
of calculating load bearing capacity have shortened the time for training of
workers. Hence, bamboo scaffolds may be eliminated in Hong Kong in the
future. According to recent trend, modern iron scaffolds have been adopted
by the industry, especially for high-end shopping malls which are aware of
exterior appearance. Therefore, the future direction of the scaffolding business

will be led by the adoption of mixed scaffolds and iron scaffolds.

The Group has been actively seeking profitable projects over the past several
years in order to diversify its business portfolio and eventually mitigate risks

from the competitive construction market.

After a few years of serious efforts to develop its money lending operations,
the money lending business has generated stable income for the Year. Despite
difficulties in repayment by customers during the Year, the Group will continue
putting efforts in the collection procedure of loans receivable. The Group’s
Guidelines and Procedure Manual for the money lending business were issued
with an aim to comply with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and the licensing conditions and
guidelines and other publications as issued by the Companies Registry from
time to time. The Group will continue to update the Guidelines and Procedure

Manual to ensure stricter compliance with the aforementioned.

Looking ahead to 2024/2025, in view of present economic uncertainty and
difficulties, the Group is reviewing its existing assets structure and business
strategies and may make adjustment to our existing assets structure, with the
aim to consolidate our resources, so as to be flexibly prepared for uncertainties
in the future. Meanwhile, in order to enhance our competitiveness, the Group
will look for opportunities to revitalise the scaffolding business to keep
up with the recent development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, the Group will continue
focusing on those business segments that generate higher profit margins and
show ample growth potential such as money lending operations. The Group
will strictly adhere to its cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business
strategies of its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market

dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for shareholders.

Finally, we will actively explore all suitable investment opportunities to
diversify the Group’s business horizons and will work hard to strengthen
overall business development. The Group’s business strategy is in line with
the general direction of the government’s overall strategic development plans
for property construction, infrastructure investment and financial market

development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$82.4
million (Last Year: approximately HK$146.0 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 44% as compared with Last Year. The Company recorded a
net loss attributable to its owners from continuing operation of approximately
HK$11.1 million for the Year (Last Year: approximately HK$112.4 million).
The decrease in net loss was mainly due to the decrease in net impairment loss
recognised arising from expected credit losses on loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets of approximately HK$24.4
million (2023: HK$92.9 million).

The decrease in turnover was mainly due to the revenue decreased in generated
from the segments of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for

construction and buildings work during the Year.

For the Year, gross profit of the Group slightly increased by approximately
6% to approximately HK$50.7 million as compared with Last Year (Last
Year: approximately HK$47.8 million) and gross profit margin increased
to approximately 61.6% (Last Year: approximately 32.8%). Gross profit
margin of the Group increased due to in gross profit was due to the high
demand of the money lending business and offset with the decreased revenue
in scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and

buildings work business.

During the Year, the operating and administrative expenses decreased from
approximately HK$27.4 million in the Last Year to approximately HK$18.3
million due to the decrease in staff costs, decrease in depreciation of right-
of-use assets due to termination of leases during the year and decrease in
marketing and advertising expenses during the Year. Finance costs increased
to approximately HK$8.6 million compared with Last Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$7.1 million) which was mainly due to the significant
increase in the borrowings during the Year. The Group continued to adopt
its policy of vigilant cost control for the ensuing periods. Funds generated
from financing activities strengthened the working capital of the Group in
anticipation of further investment and diversification opportunities in the

future.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by proceeds from issue of

coupon bonds.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group’s equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, current assets, net current assets and total assets were approximately
HK$383.9 million (30 April 2023: HK$396.1 million), approximately
HK$333.9 million (30 April 2023: HK$534.5 million), approximately
HK$136.6 million (30 April 2023: HK$359.6 million) and HK$582.0 million
(30 April 2023: HK$575.6 million) respectively.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group’s other borrowings was HK$148.4 million (30
April 2023: HK$123.9 million) and the lease liabilities was approximately
HK$0.9 million (30 April 2023: HK$1.6 million). As at 30 April 2024, other
borrowings included (i) 2-year 6.5% coupon bond of HK$20 million issued by
the Company, on 3 June 2021; (ii) 2-year 11% coupon bond of HK$5 million
issued by the Company, on 18 August 2021; (iii) 2-year 6.5% coupon bond of
HK$5 million issued by the Company, on 18 August 2021; (iv) 2-year 6.5%
coupon bond of HK$3 million issued by the Company, on 23 March 2022;
(v) 5-year 6.5% coupon bond of HK$5.8 million issued by the Company,
on 27 April 2022; (vi) 5-year 8% coupon bond of HK$42 million issued
by Gold Medal, on 31 October 2020 and renewed on 1 February 2022 with
6.5% coupon rate; (vii) 3-year 8.5% coupon unlisted straight bond of HK$20
million issued by Gold Medal, on 28 October 2019 and renewed on 1 February
2022 with 6.5% coupon rate and the bond is extended to 27 October 2027
on 29 August 2023 with no change in terms; (viii) the surety bond of HK$18
million was issued by Gold Medal on 16 September 2020 was with no interest
bearing; and (ix) 2-year 8% coupon unlisted straight bond of HK$18 million
issued by Gold Medal, on 7 October 2023.
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As at 30 April 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately HK$18.5 million (30 April 2023: HK$18.5 million). As
at 30 April 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts divided by equity
attributable to the owners of the Company then multiplied by 100%) was
approximately 38.9% (30 April 2023: 31.7%). For calculating the gearing

ratios, total debts of the Group included other borrowings and lease liabilities.

As at 30 April 2024, most of the Group’s bank balances and cash, and other
borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The other borrowings
were repayable on demand or within one year. The lease liabilities had an
average lease term ranging from one to three years (30 April 2023: one to
three years) and all such leases had interest rates fixed at the contract date and

fixed repayment bases.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES

The Directors assessed the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables based on the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under
a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables, the Directors use judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loans portfolio, repayment record, collateral values and
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors. The
impairment assessment was also supported by the assessment made by the

external professional valuer.
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MR

probability of default X

As at 30 April 2024, the Group’s net loan and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$456.2 million (2023: HK$444.4 million). Allowance
for credit losses of loan and interest receivables under the ECL model
amounted to approximately HK$264.1 million (2023: HK$240.1 million) and
net impairment loss arising from ECL amounted to approximately HK$24.0
million (2023: HK$84.6 million).

Estimation of recoverability of loan and interest receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to loan and interest receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of loan and interest receivables under HKFRS 9
requires the use of estimates and judgement. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. The Group uses judgement in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the

end of each reporting period.
Credit risk and impairment assessment
The impairment losses recognised for the year ended 30 April 2024 is the sum
of the impairment loss from impairment assessment on principal and interest
calculated respectively as follows:
Impairment assessment on principal:

X R R X T B R TR 2R

loss given default X forward looking factor
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R 2 kA R A Impairment assessment on interest:
PHTECMENA=Z4TH x 7R X AR X T IS 2 PR 3
RS Z FLE
Outstanding amount of X probability of default X loss given default X forward looking factor

interest as at 30 April 2024
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(1) The probability of default of each loan is determined based on the
internal scoring system from the management, to assess credit risk
of borrowers. To adopt a scoring system in the valuation of loan and
interest receivables, 5 areas of borrowers’ characteristics are used to
assess the creditworthiness, namely overdue amount, length of interest
and/or principal overdue, length of principal borrowed, change in
interest rate and number of extensions.

(2)  The loss given default of each loan represents the percentage of the loan
expected to be defaulted in the future, taking into account of the market

value of any security/guarantee provided for the relevant loan.

(3) The forward looking factor for borrowers from Hong Kong and the
Mainland China is adjusted by the parameters on macro-economic
factors adopted in the valuation with reference to the calculation by an

independent valuer for the impairment assessment under ECL model of

loans receivable for the year ended 30 April 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company did not issue any shares or debentures during the Year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year
(Last Year: nil).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segments

The Group is organised into three operating segments — (i) scaffolding, fitting
out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work; (ii)

money lending business and (iii) securities investment business.
Geographical segments

Customers of all segments of the Group are situated in Hong Kong.
MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any significant acquisition and disposal during the

Year.
INVESTMENTS

As at 30 April 2024, the equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) of the Group amounted to approximately
HKS$1.1 million, representing approximately 0.2% of the Group’s audited total
assets as at 30 April 2024 and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) of the Group amounted to approximately HK$47.7 million
representing approximately 8.1% of the Group’s total assets as at 30 April
2024.

These investments mainly include equity securities of 33 companies listed
in Hong Kong. None of these investments in the portfolio at FVTOCI and
FVTPL has a value of 5% or more of the Group’s audited total assets as at 30
April 2024.

The Directors expect that the upward trend of the stock market in Hong Kong
would be continued in 2024 and 2025 which may motivate the performance
of the Group’s securities investments. Looking forward, the Board believes
that the performance of the securities investments of the Group will also be
dependent on the financial and operating performance of investee companies
and market sentiment which are affected by factors such as interest rate
movements, high inflation, and performance of the macro economy. In order
to mitigate the associated risk, the Group will continuously remain cautious
in the allocation of resources and the identification and capture of appropriate
securities investment opportunities. It will review its investment strategy
regularly and take appropriate actions whenever necessary in response to

changes in the market.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not have any pledge on its assets as at 30 April 2024 and 2023.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group consistently employs a prudent treasury policy during its
development and generally finances its operations and business development
with internally generated resources and equity and/or debt financing activities.
The Group also adopts flexible and prudent fiscal policies to effectively
manage the Group’s assets and liabilities and strengthen the Group’s financial

position.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE
EXPOSURE

Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purpose
during the Year, and did not have any outstanding hedging instrument as at
30 April 2024. When appropriate, for example at times when interest rate
or exchange rate are uncertain or volatile, the Group will consider the use
of hedging instruments including interest rate swap and foreign currency
forward contract to manage the Group’s exposures to interest rate and foreign

exchange rate fluctuations.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including

risks which are specific to the Group or the industries in which the Group

operates. The Directors have established a policy to ensure that significant

risks which may adversely affect the Group are identified, reported,

monitored, and managed on a continuous basis. The Group has identified the

following risks that are considered to be significant to the Group and which

may adversely and/or materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial

conditions, results of operations and growth prospects as at the date of this

annual report:

(a)

(b)

Labour shortage

The Group’s scaffolding business and fitting out services business are
labour-intensive. In the event that there is a significant increase in the
costs and demand of labour and the Group has to retain its labour by
increasing their wages, the Group’s staff costs and/or subcontracting
costs will increase thereby lower the profitability. Further, if the Group
or the Group’s subcontractors fail to retain the Group’s existing labour
and/or recruit sufficient labour on a timely manner to cope with the need
of the Group’s existing or future projects, the Group may not be able
to complete the projects on schedule and within budget. The Group’s

operations and profitability may be adversely affected.

In order to alleviate such risk, the Group is committed to providing our
employees with a safe, pleasant and healthy working environment and

competitive remuneration package with a view to retaining our labour.

Failure to bid new contract

The Group’s scaffolding business relies on successful tenders of
contracts for scaffolding works and/or associated works. Given the non-
recurring nature of these contract awards and that the Group does not
have long-term commitment with its customers, the number of contracts
awarded to the Group may vary from year to year. Upon completion
of the contracts on hand, the Group’s financial performance may be
adversely affected if the Group is unable to secure new tenders or obtain
new contract awards with comparable contract sums or at all. In order
to alleviate such risk, the Group believes that it can leverage on the
existing relationship with the major customers to further develop new

business opportunities in the future.
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(d)

(e)

Competition

The industries in which the Group operates are highly competitive,
for example, the scaffolding industry and the money-lending industry.
Areas of competition include contract price, production costs, marketing
campaign, customer services and interest rates for money lending. If
the Group does not respond timely to cope with the market conditions,
it may adversely affect the consumer demand for the Group’s services
and products, the reputation of the Group and the Group’s financial

performance.
Financial

The Group is exposed to financial risks, including credit, interest rate,
currency, liquidity and other price risks. In addition, the Group’s equity
instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of fair value
of equity instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between shareholder return and a sound
capital position. Adjustments are made, when necessary, to maintain an

optimal capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Technology

The Group relies on information technology systems and networks,
including internet and third-party hosted services for the Group’s
operation, inventory management and financial reporting. Any material
disruption or slowdown of information technology systems, such as a
disruption or slowdown caused by failure to successfully upgrade the
Group’s systems, system failures, viruses or cyber attacks could cause
a loss of data or operation interruption. Therefore, the Group will
continuously monitor and update, if necessary, relevant information
technology systems and networks so as to reduce failure and keep up

with the development of technology.
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(f) Employees

The Group’s success and ability to grow depends largely on its ability
to attract, train, retain, and motivate highly skilled and qualified
managerial, workers, marketing, administrative, operating, and technical
personnel. The loss of key personnel could materially and adversely

affect the Group’s prospects and operations.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 30 April 2024
and 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 April 2024, the total number of full-time employees of the Group was
43 (30 April 2023: 50). Total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$17.1 million for the Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$36.1 million). Employees were remunerated according
to their performance and working experience during the Year. In addition
to basic salaries and contribution to the mandatory provident fund scheme,
staff benefits include performance bonus, medical scheme, share options and

training.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company,

or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities.
EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There is no important event affecting the Group which have occurred since 30
April 2024 except for disclosed in “NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LISTING
RULES”.
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NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LISTING RULES

On 22 July 2024, following the resignation of Mr. Law Man Sang as the
independent non-executive directors of the Company, the Company fails to
meet the requirements of (i) have at least three independent non-executive
directors on the Board under 5.05 (1) of the GEM Listing Rules, (ii) audit
committee comprise a minimum of the three members under 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules and (iii) a remuneration committee chaired by an independent

non-executive director under 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 21 July 2024, following the resignation of Mr. Wong Chin Ming as the
company secretary and authorised representative, the Company will have no
company secretary and will not be able to meet the requirement under Rule
5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules and the requirement that an issuer should
appoint two authorized representatives under Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company will use its best endeavour to identify and appoint a
suitable candidate as a Company Secretary and authorised representative as
soon as practicable in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules
to ensure compliance by the Company with Rules 5.14 and 5.25 of GEM

Listing rules.
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference that clearly establish the Audit
Committee’s authority and duties. The Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this annual report,

namely Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Gong Qiuyun.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company’s
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and to provide advice and
comments thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and risk

management and internal control systems of the Group.
Four Audit Committee meetings were held during the Year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of

the Group for the Year.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Haijia (5 ¥f f) (“Mr. Yang”), aged 36, joined the Group in May
2023. He obtained a Master’s degree in Finance from Queen’s University,
Canada in 2019. Mr. Yang has over 13 years of financial management
experience in the PRC and Hong Kong. He has extensive experience of
investment planning, coordinating and supporting integration planning, and

financial analysis.
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Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond ( #§ % #) (“Mr. Edmond So”), aged 35, joined
the Group in 2012 as a finance manager in charge of the corporate finance matters
of the Group and has been appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2014. Mr. Edmond So was involved in the management of scaffolding
business of the Group. He graduated from the University of Southern California in
the United States of America with a bachelor of arts degree in sociology. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Edmond So gained experience in corporate finance, initial
public offerings and other financial advisory services by working for a year in a
corporate advisory firm which provides advisory services to the PRC and Hong
Kong based companies. Mr. Edmond So resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 27 March 2024.
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Ms. Wang Lili ( E#j#j) (“Ms. Wang”), aged 43, joined the Group in May
2023. She was graduated from the Open University of China, majoring
in financial accounting in 2016. Ms. Wang has extensive experience of
market development, project bidding, investment fund and supervise finance
department in China. Ms. Wang was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 31 May 2023 and resigned on 22 May 2024.

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Ka Ki ( EEXKEL) (“Mr. Lo™), aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 26 February 2018. Mr. Lo has obtained
his master degree of professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in October 2009. He is a practising member of the HKICPA and a fellow
member of the ACCA. Mr. Lo has over 12 years of experience in audit and business
advisory services and is currently the managing director of a CPA practice. Mr. Lo
has previously worked as an auditor at RSM Nelson Wheeler (currently known as
RSM Hong Kong) (“RSM”) from December 2005 to June 2007, a senior accountant
at LifeTec Enterprise Limited and a qualified accountant at Paradise Entertainment
Limited (Stock Code: 1180), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from June 2007 to July 2009 and an audit senior and later on
a manager at RSM from December 2009 to November 2014.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of China Smarter Energy
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1004), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 25 April 2021. Mr. Lo was an
independent non-executive director of Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (Stock
Code: 2182), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from February 2018 to May 2019.
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Ms. Gong Qiuyun (“Ms. Gong”), aged 35, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 11 April 2024. She was graduated
from the Guangdong University of Science and Technology in 2011. Ms. Gong
is administrative manager at Shenzhen Shenxing Technology Development
Co., Ltd with extensive experience in corporate culture construction and
corporate governance.
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Mr. Law Man Sang ( & 3C %) (“Mr. Law”), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 December 2014. He
has joined KGI Asia Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO, since
December 2004 and is currently the executive director of such company.
Since June 2005, he has been acting as a responsible officer of KGI Asia
Limited in relation to Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under
the SFO. Since September 2009, he has been acting as a responsible officer
of KGI Futures (Hong Kong) Limited in relation to Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) regulated activity under the SFO. Since March 2013, he has been
acting as a responsible officer of KGI Asia Limited in relation to Type 4
(advising on securities) regulated activity under the SFO and of KGI Futures
(Hong Kong) Limited in relation to Type 5 (advising on futures contracts)
regulated activity under the SFO. Since February 2019, he has been acting as
a responsible officer of KGI Asset Management Limited in relation to Type 9
(asset management) regulated activity under the SFO. Mr. Law has extensive
experience in financial service management and actively participates in
various social and community organisations in both Hong Kong and the PRC.
Mr. Law resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
16 July 2024.
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Ms. Lam Wai Yu (k2 W) (“Ms. Lam™), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 June 2017. She has
over 17 years of experience in the logistic industry. Ms. Lam was the general
manager of Harper Shipping Limited from 12 May 1998 to 31 December
2020, a Hong Kong private company which is principally engaged in shipping
business, and is mainly responsible for supervising business operation as well
as screening projects in the PRC, Hong Kong and other countries. Ms. Lam
resigned as independent non-executive Director with effect from 12 January
2024.

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited
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% $ M % $ ﬁ *ll 2 % ﬁj] CHANGES OF DIRECTORS AND INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

M9 GEM b 1 BRI 55 17.50A(1) M6 K e 78 3% The changes in Directors and information of Directors subsequent to the date

BB E_Z_ZFWUA = HILFEEZAE of annual report for the year ended 30 April 2023, as required to be disclosed

MHOMEERERERER 2 EHWNT pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Change

HHLA 5 B 7

Ms. Lam Wai Yu As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 January 2024, Ms.
Lam Wai Yu resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

ME I A L A AS 2w H OB R A AR — ] O A B R - MR 2
AEAL Al AT E o

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2024, Mr. So
Wang Chun, Edmond resigned as Executive Director of the Company.

ok RS WA AT AW A S F WEZH B H 2 A TR iR R A
BEAEAS A A AT HE 5 -

Ms. Gong Qiuyun As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 11 April 2024, Ms. Gong

Qiuyun appointed as Independent non-Executive Director of the Company.
W EL L A R H AR ZE AR H b — B A I R MK E
TAL T AN AV ALIF AT R -

Ms. Wang Lili As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22 May 2024, Ms. Wang
Lili resigned on 22 May 2024.
FFIA &+ A F ] H R A AR R A O H 2 A B s > EFTHT Lt

ATE AR A AR

Mr. Law Man Sang As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16 July 2024, Mr. Law
Man Sang resigned on 16 July 2024.

B S e R FAAS 2w H O AR L oS B A A R - AR SO AR S AR TR
TERTNELH S HEHE -
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INTRODUCTION

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to establishing
good corporate governance practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance practices has always
been one of the Company’s goals. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to

the enhancement of shareholders’ value.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Year, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules except the

following deviations:

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1, the roles of Chairman (the “Chairman”)
and chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Group currently has no Chairman and CEO. The daily operation and
management of the Group is monitored by executive Directors. The Board
is of the view that although there is no chairman and chief executive officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to time
to discuss issues affecting operation of the Group. This arrangement can still
enable the Group to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve
the Group’s objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing

environment.

The Group will, the appropriate time, arrange for the election of the new
chairman and CEO of the Board.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board, which comprised three Directors as at the date of this corporate
governance report, is collectively responsible for supervising the management
of the business and affairs of the Company and the Group. Biographical
details of the Directors and their relationships are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report. All
Directors devoted sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
and the Group during the Year.

As at the date of this corporate governance report, the Board had one executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yang Haijia and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Gong Qiuyun.

In most of time during the Year, the Board comprises three independent
non-executive Directors. The presence of three independent non-executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable balance between
executive and non-executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that
such balance can provide adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the
interests of the shareholders and the Company. The independent non-executive
Directors provide to the Company a wide range of expertise and experience
so that independent judgement can be effectively exercised and the interests
of all shareholders will be taken into account. They are also responsible for
participating in Board meetings, dealing with potential conflicts of interest,
serving on the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Board
(“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee of the Board
(“Nomination Committee”), scrutinising the Company and the Group’s
performance and reporting. They provide their valuable skills, expertise and
experience to the Board and the committees of the Board on which they serve

so that the management process can be critically reviewed and controlled.

During the Year ended 30 April 2024, as announced by the Company dated
12 January 2024, Ms. Lam Wai Yu (“Ms. Lam”) resigned as the independent
non-executive Director and ceased to be the member of the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”) of the Company, the member of the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company and the member
of the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). Following
the resignation of Ms. Yu, the Board comprised only two independent non-
executive Directors and failed to meet the requirements of (i) at least three
independent non-executive directors on the Board under Rule 5.05 (1) of the
GEM Listing Rules; (ii) Audit Committee comprising only non-executive
directors with a minimum of three members under Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (iii) the Nomination Committee comprising a majority of

independent non-executive directors under 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

Following the appointment of Ms. Gong Qiuyun on 11 April 2024, the
Company had complied with the requirements under Rules 5.05(1), 5.28
and 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 12 January 2024 and 11 April 2024,

respectively.

During the Year and as at the date of this corporate governance report, at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence and the Company
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element.
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy™)
with effect from 1 September 2013. All Board appointments have been and
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against

objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Nomination and selection of candidates for Board membership by the
Nomination Committee have been and will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The
Nomination Committee is of the opinion that a balanced diversity of the
Board has been achieved during the Year and as at the date of this corporate

governance report.
Board Meetings

Board meetings are held at least four times every year. At least 14 days’
notices of regular Board meetings are given to all Directors and all
Directors will be all given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for discussion at Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”) assists the Board in preparing the agenda for the
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in connection
with the meetings are observed and complied with. The finalised agenda and
accompanying board papers are then sent to all Directors at least three days

prior to the date of Board meetings.
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During the Year, 13 Board meetings were held and the following is an

F T GEORTE T attendance record of the meetings by each Director:
LIV 3¢ (Ve
AEERITH
kA (HRE)
Number of
meetings attended/
Total number of HF %
meetings held during Attendance
& Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
PiTES Executive Directors
BN (A ZF =00 ZHREHE) So Yu Shing (resigned effective from
2 May 2023) 11 100%
R (A ZFZINFE=H 2L HERTE) So Wang Chun, Edmond (resigned
effective from 27 March 2024) 10/10 100%
MER (A ZFZ =R = — B REHE) Tse Fung Chun (resigned effective from
31 May 2023) 2/2 100%
i A Yang Haijia 12/12 100%
FFIA Wang Lili 10/10 100%
BT ES Independent Non-executive Directors
B Law Man Sang 13/13 100%
MEm A = F ZAE— A+ 2 H &) Lam Wai Yu (resigned on 12 January 2024) 9/9 100%
e Lo Ka Ki 13/13 100%
WKL L+ (R ZFZEN A +— I ERT) Ms. Gong Qiuyun (appointed on
11 April 2024) 0/0 NiE I N/A
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Note: Attendances of the Directors during the Year were counted with reference to the
number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

During the regular meetings of the Board held during the Year, the Directors
discussed and formulated the overall strategies of the Company and the Group,
monitored financial performances, discussed the annual and interim results,
set annual budgets, and discussed and decided on other significant matters.
The execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management of
the Group.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting
in detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all resolutions of the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any)
during the meeting. Drafts of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for
comment and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times as
the Chairman/executive Director ensures that the management will supply
the Board and its committees with all relevant information in a timely
manner. They may make further enquiries if it is in their opinion necessary
or appropriate to request for further information. They also have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with board papers and related materials
and ensuring that all proper Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed and complied with. If considered necessary and
appropriate by the Directors, they may retain independent professional
advisers at the Company’s expense.
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In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a substantial
shareholder of the Company or a Director, such matter will be discussed in
a physical meeting and will not be dealt with by way of written resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be

present at such meetings dealing with the conflict issue.

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, have all adopted the applicable

practices and procedures used in Board meetings for all committee meetings.
Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication between the Company and
its shareholders and opportunities for shareholders’ participation. All
shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxy(ies) to attend and vote at such meetings on their behalf if they are

unable to attend the meetings.

During the Year, the Company has held one general meeting, being the annual
general meeting on 27 October 2023 (“2023 AGM”). The attendance record of

each Director at the general meeting are as follows:

JBe RO & B0 R R BRI
L SN2/ e
A AR R AT I
JBe 3K 1 B
Number of general
meetings attended/
Number of general Ly
meetings held Attendance
g Attendees during the Year percentage
PATESR Executive Directors
W 2 ot So Wang Chun, Edmond 1/1 100%
L RGRER Yang Haijia 1/1 100%
FHIF] Wang Lili 1/1 100%
BT E S Independent Non-executive Directors
AR Law Man Sang 1/1 100%
AN Lam Wai Yu /1 100%
i 7% B Lo KaKi 1/1 100%

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited
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The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1, the roles of Chairman (the “Chairman’)
and chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the

Chairman and the CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Group currently has no Chairman and CEO. The daily operation and
management of the Group is monitored by executive Directors. The Board
is of the view that although there is no chairman and chief executive officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to time
to discuss issues affecting operation of the Group. This arrangement can still
enable the Group to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve
the Group’s objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing

environment.

The Group will at the appropriate time, arrange for the election of the new
chairman and CEO of the Board.

The Company Secretary

Mr. Wong Chin Ming (“Mr. Wong”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 31 May 2023. Mr. Wong, CPA, resigned as the company
secretary of the Company effective from 22 July 2024. In compliance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company Secretary had taken no less

than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director will receive a formal, comprehensive and
tailor-made induction training on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the Director’s responsibilities under the
statues and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies. The
Company Secretary and the compliance officer of the Company will
continuously update all Directors on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance of the same by all Directors. During the year ended 30 April 2024,
the Directors had participated in continuous professional developments and
received training conducted by the Company’s Hong Kong legal advisers in

respect of their duties and responsibilities as a director of a listed company.
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The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities
as part of their continuous professional development. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses provided by legal advisers
and/or any appropriated institutions at the Company’s expense and they have
been requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the trainings received by

the each of the Directors (including Directors’ induction training) for the year

ez 7 85l (BLHE 38 F AR B 0ll) WEE an T ended 30 April 2024 and up to the date of this annual report are summarised
as follows:
350 A
Type of

WA Name of Directors trainings
PATESR Executive Directors
1R 77 So Wang Chun, Edmond B
(RGeS Yang Haijia B
T F Wang Lili B
o JEMAT H F Independent Non-executive Directors
B SR Law Man Sang B
M N Lam Wai Yu B
i A B Lo Ka Ki AB
Wik E Gong Qiuyun A
A WEat Gk ek E B A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/training sessions
B: RIS ABAE EEEY ARERKES B: reading newspapers/journals and updates relating to the economy, general
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business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted procedures governing Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiries
have been made of all Directors and confirmations have been obtained from
all Directors that they have complied with the required standard of dealings in
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s procedures governing Directors’
securities transactions during the Year. Relevant employees, who are likely
to be in possession of inside information of the Company or securities of
the Company, are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less
exacting terms than those set out in the GEM Listing Rules. No incident of

non-compliance was noted by the Company during the Year.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2006. The chairman of the
committee was Mr. Law Man Sang, an independent non-executive Director.
Other members of this committee include Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Gong

Qiuyun, both being independent non-executive Directors as at 30 April 2024.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and recommending
to the Board on the remuneration policy, making recommendation to the
Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, as well as reviewing and making recommendation on the
Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairman on
its proposals and recommendations and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also provided with other

resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration

Committee meets at least once a year.

During the Year, four Remuneration Committee meetings were held. At
the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed matters relating to the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of the Group. The

following is an attendance record of the meeting by each committee member:

% ek
A A BERATIY

o ok AR B (HEEE)
Number of

meetings attended

Total number of i
meetings held during Attendance
hEH Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
AEoCH (R ZFZ4EL H /N HEHE)  Law Man Sang (resigned on
16 July 2024) 4/4 100%
MW A ZFZUE—H -+ HE{E)  Lam Wai Yu (resigned on
12 January 2024) 3/3 100%
i 7% B Lo Ka Ki 4/4 100%
WAHE (A ZFEZmEmA +—H Gong Qiuyun (appointed on
MEZATE) 11 April 2024) 0/0 N/A A7

BRFRE = 4% 357 I 2 8 iR AR AR I 2 T
Ty AT A BT AT 2 ek R -

Note: Attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year was counted

with reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The chairman of the
committee was Mr. Yang Haijia, an executive Director. Other members of
this committee include Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Gong Qiuyun, both being

independent non-executive Directors as at 30 April 2024.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board at least annually, making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s and
the Group’s corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board and selecting individuals to be nominated for
directorship, assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with, among others, the factors set out in Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time, and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning

for the Directors.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a director nomination policy
(“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which came into effect
on 1 January 2019, which serves to improve the transparency of the process
and criteria in selecting and recommending candidates as Directors for the
Board’s approval from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
The Directors and the Nomination Committee will consider and nominate
candidates, according to the Director Nomination Policy based on objective
criteria such as the appropriate qualifications, ability and perspectives
that would enable them to effectively fulfill their potential roles and
responsibilities as Directors, with due regard to the benefits of diversity and
measurable objectives including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background as set out in the Board Diversity Policy, to the Board

for approval.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed and believes that the
current composition of the Board reflects an achievement of full consideration
of factors of Board diversity. The Board Diversity Policy will be reviewed on

a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Shareholders may also propose a person for election as Director at the general
meetings of the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-
laws”). The procedures for shareholders to nominate directors are posted on

the website of the Company.
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The specific terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Nomination
Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to nominate candidates for directorships and
review the composition of the Board. The attendance record of the meeting by

each committee member is as follows:

LA F e 'V
AERE BT
kAR ()
Number of
meetings attended,”
Total number of R &
meetings held during Attendance
L Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
1 £E Yang Haijia
(AZZZ=FHH ZHRERE) (appointed with effect from 2 May 2023) 4/4 100%
731414 So Yu Shing
(B ZZR =T ZHREE) (resigned with effect from 2 May 2023) 1/1 100%
M Lam Wai Yu 3/3 100%
Ji 7% Bk Lo Ka Ki 4/4 100%
WRE (R ZFZENH +— HEZAT) Gong Qiuyun (appointed with effect
11 April 2024) 0/0 N/A 38

BFRE + 4% P 41 22 B8 R R AR AR T 2 R U R
PHAT T 47 2 & s CBGET B o

3 RAL AR e BT

B PUATHE S OB R ARSI A A
FIIR A BAR TR A BT —Tr
1] 3f 75 8% i e > =8 A T T > BB = A
A famaes st

BB IR ERE L —FEZER R R
8%t — A A A A 1k ke

R 2% W] A U] S840 - T 4 Jiet i O 4F R
b HRE = 2 — i (B R
FZmf A RIEEEADR =02 —
WER) Hin (R A EEAE =
A i (AR AL — UK o BB 0 - TR 0 ML 5T A 9 T RS
AR R g L IRAT R 4?A§T§HH%J?E,.\EAFE
Joti P SR 4 R o L R s AT

Note: Attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year was
counted with reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their

respective tenures.

Term of Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years, thereafter continuous until
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing, or by payment of three months’ salary in lieu of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of one year unless terminated by one month’s notice in writing.

In accordance with Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As such, Mr. Lo Ka
Ki shall retire at the annual general meeting and he, being eligible, will offer

himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Ms. Gong Qiuyun was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 11 April 2024.

Pursuant to Bye-law 83 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Gong Qiuyun will hold office
only until the annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer herself for

re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Audit Committee and Accountability

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the performance and prospects of the Company and the Group.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Company,
which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
on a going-concern basis, and other inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures. The management of the Group provides all
relevant information and records to the Board enabling it to conduct the above

assessment and to prepare the accounts and other financial disclosures.

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly reports for the
three months ended 31 July 2022 and for the nine months ended 31 January
2023, the interim report for the six months ended 31 October 2022 and
the annual report for the year ended 30 April 2022. The Audit Committee
also reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
accounting principles, practices and compliance.

The Audit Committee, established in 2001, was chaired by Mr. Lo Ka Ki, an
independent non-executive Director and the other members of this committee
include Mr. Law Man Sang and Ms. Gong Qiuyun, both being independent

non-executive Directors as at 30 April 2024.

No existing member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing
auditing firm of the Company.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the independence of
the auditors of the Company, the audit process and the standard of reports

aforesaid. This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee’s primary duties include ensuring that the Company’s
financial statements, annual, interim and quarterly reports and the auditor’s
report present a true and balanced assessment of the Company’s and the
Group’s financial position; reviewing the Company’s and the Group’s financial
control, internal control and risk management systems; and reviewing the
Company’s financial and accounting policies and practices. Other duties of
the Audit Committee are set out in its specific terms of reference which are
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its

duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings to carry out its

ITEik 2z FEBE - K ZBEGHAHE primary duties as mentioned above. The attendance record of the meetings by
TR ECER LT each committee member is as follows:
LR 8 3¢ o
A AR PERRATIY
ok AR EE)
Number of
meetings attended,”
Total number of i &
meetings held during Attendance
LS Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
AR (R ZF T PUAEL H oS HBHT) Law Man Sang (resigned on
16 July 2024) 4/4 100%
MEW O ZF ZUE—H+ Z HEHE) Lam Wai Yu (resigned on
12 January 2024) 3/3 100%
T % L Lo Ka Ki 4/4 100%
HAKE (A F WHFEMA +— H#Z{E)  Gong Qiuyun (appointed on
11 April 2024) 1/1 100%

Wi ok 2% A % 2 B B R AR AR B 2 R O AR
P AT A B 847 2 s G -

REAIMEREHEREZRGMA TR TR
L T SRVE SRS & Rl VSN o
BETZEEE®& Z.%%E T EE G NG
R R P4 A0 G e e A6 R i ZE T A U el A ARUAR
TEVEAAHULTRRBELTHEEZEEN
A - DA - HE RS sk 2

EHARE G MHERERN R

%$ﬁﬁ B0 4 L A R AR T R N BRAT
Sl ZECfE PR 958 2 R AR AE B HE ) A AR o

AR A L R H B R S AR ZE R 2

FHREAE IR 2 ] SO A A R SR 64 2
T2 H 22 S A o

g

%$ﬁr1’ﬁﬁkéﬁé*@fﬁﬁi’ﬁ AN E A A
M0 IR AE TR R AR ARG TR Tﬁiﬁ%%

ey ﬁ%#ﬁ%@hﬁ:%%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁA
FEE 2 RAR A MR M RE2 -

Note: Attendance of the members of the Audit Committee during the Year was counted
with reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective

tenures.

The Company Secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit Committee meetings
in line with practices of the Board meetings and other Board committee
meetings. Draft and final versions of Audit Committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the Audit Committee for comments, approval and
record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

Directors’ responsibility in preparing consolidated financial
statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and ensuring that the preparation of the accounts is in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 64 to 72 of this annual report.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Company
has adequate resources to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Details refer to the note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
determining, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. During the Year, the
Board has developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and made recommendations to the Board; reviewed
and monitored the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; reviewed and monitored the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance

report.
Auditors’ Remuneration

The aggregate remuneration in respect of audit services provided by Infinity
CPA Limited to the Group during the Year was approximately HK$550,000

and nil non-audit service.
Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
service contracts or letters of appointment setting out key terms and conditions
regarding their appointments. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s
business, responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the

strategic business plans are delegated to management of the Group.

All Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, have specific terms of reference
clearly defining the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committees. All Board committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or recommendations,
and in certain specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before taking

any actions.

The Board reviews, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to different
Board committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and they
continue to be beneficial to the Company and its shareholders (“Shareholders™)

as a whole.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and officers’ liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company as from June 2010 and

renewed annually in June since 2011.
Shareholder Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to
its shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Group’s activities can be reflected in many

aspects.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for the
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. A majority of the Directors
made an effort to attend the Company’s general meeting so that they may

answer any questions from the Shareholders.

The chairman of AGM was also actively involved in organising, and personally
chaired the 2023 AGM during the Year in order to ensure that Shareholders’
views were being communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman of the AGM in respect of each separate issue at the
2023 AGM.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed by the Board
from time to time to ensure the Company conforms to the best practices
regarding corporate governance. The relevant circular, which was circulated
to all Shareholders at least 21 days prior to the holding of the annual general
meeting, sets out the details in relation to each resolution proposed, voting
procedures and other relevant information. Members of the Board and D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED, the auditors of the Company, attended the 2023
AGM to answer questions of the Shareholders and all the resolutions were
put to vote by poll and Union Registrars Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure

that all votes were properly counted.

The Company also communicates with the Shareholders through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports and by means of announcement and circular
if and when necessary. The Directors, the Company Secretary or other
appropriate members of the senior management also respond promptly to

inquiries from Shareholders and potential investors of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene general meetings

Subject to the Bye-laws, the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws and
regulations, Shareholders may convene general meetings of the Company in

accordance with the following procedures:

I\ Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company as at the date of deposit of the requisition (“Requisitionists”)
may require the Board to convene a general meeting of the Company by
depositing written requisitions at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark,
No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong
specifying the business to be transacted in such meeting and signed by
the Requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two months after

the deposit of such requisition; and

2. if the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the Requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The Company established a shareholders’ communication policy which had
been uploaded to the Company’s website (http://www.wls.com.hk) and details
of communication with the Board could be found in the policy.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary by post to the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A,
Southmark, No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

Investor relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure
of corporate information to the Shareholders and potential investors.
The Company updates Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars. The Company’s website
(www.wls.com.hk) provides a communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

To strengthen its relationship with investors, the Company regularly meets
with analysts and holds interviews with reporters and columnists of the press

and other economic journals.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, (i) shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders
having a right to vote at the general meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
shareholders, can submit a written requisition stating the resolution which is
intended to be moved at a general meeting, or to submit a statement of not
more than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any

proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Such written requisition shall be made to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s head office and principal place of business at Rooms
1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark, No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong
Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information
of the Shareholder, his/her/its contact details and the proposal he/she/it intends
to put forward at a general meeting in the manner as mentioned above together

with supporting documents.
Constitutional documents

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to its constitutional

documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis and review their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review on the effectiveness of both the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a
view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programme and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will

communicate any material issues to the Board.
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During the Year, the Group appointed external consultant to:

. assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group through a

series of workshops and interviews; and

. independently perform internal control review and assess effectiveness

of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment conducted by external
consultant were reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by external consultant to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the Group were
adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations of external
consultant as well as the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the internal control and risk management systems of the Group

are effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in order to comply with Chapter 17 of
the GEM Listing Rules as well as Part XIVA of the SFO. The internal control
mechanism includes information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality

arrangements, disclosure procedures and staff training arrangements, etc.
Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group has established its enterprise risk management framework in
2016. While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective internal controls are maintained, management is responsible for
designing and implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of

risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are identified,
assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. The risk management
framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management — Integrated
Framework, which allows the Board and management to manage the risks of
the Group effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit

Committee which oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Principal Risks

During the Year, the following principal risks of the Group were identified and

classified into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance

R - risks.

JEL o 48 45 B

Risk Areas Principal Risks

S s L Bt e A% JR ~ R A S T 0 R B~ % 5 RE A L AR bt LB B R RE

Strategic Risks

i

o T B

Operational Risks

S5 J i

Financial Risks

5 HLE B

Compliance Risks

T BB B B TR o 9 T B R B
Competitor landscape, risk of failure to meet customers’ expectation, risk
of over concentration of customer bases and risk of failure to maintain a

competitive edge in terms of construction innovation and process improvement

BHE B A 22248 T BB IR 2~ A B - B O T R DR B Y
Bt~ AN - SR R R SRR SO R R A PR R

N T~ BT o3 6 B VR TE N B 45 R TR B R e R ) R AT o€
4 i~ 2 AR G i T A 9 AR K

Insufficient safety guidelines and trainings to employees, risk of technology
breakdown, loss of business opportunity, risk of information leakage, risk of
burglary/stealing of resources by outside parties, poor quality of equipment
and resources, concentration of decision maker, decline in manpower, risk of
having new subcontractors and potential injury, risk of failure to complete
work before deadline, increase in operating costs and delay in repayment of
loans

O B 2~ A R~ A R L B B ) R L

Liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk

B A~ Al R T B A AR A1) 6 AN LR RR R i A 4 A LB
Risk of non-compliance of ordinances related to safety, health and

environment and risk of legal disputes
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Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by management of the
operational department, coupled with risk management monitoring carried
out by the finance and compliance team and independent internal audit
outsourced to and conducted by the external consultant. The Group maintains
a risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The
risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with
a profile of the Group’s major risks and records management’s action taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually based
on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk
register is updated by management as the risk owners with addition of new
risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the
annual risk evaluation has been performed. This review process can ensure
that the Group proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all
risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert to those
risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an

efficient manner.

The risk management activities of the Group are performed by management
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the risk management framework
will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting is held
to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business operation
processes in order to align risk management with corporate goals in an

effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent professionals to
review the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems

as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Directors
have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of the view that
in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at least annually the need

for an internal audit function.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the Year. All cross-references mentioned in this directors’ report

form part of this directors’ report.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 43 and 19, to the

consolidated financial statements respectively.
RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 73 to 74 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year (Last

Year: nil).
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and the likely future
development of the Group can be found in the “Management Discussion and

Analysis” section of this annual report.
Relationships with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market

standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to accomplish its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain
its market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high quality service to its customers. During the Year, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or

customers.
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According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 days to 90 days to customers. In extending
credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully assess each of their
creditworthiness and financial standing. Management will also closely monitor
all outstanding debts and review their collectability periodically.

The largest customer of the Group is Build King — Hyundai Joint Venture
Limited (“Build King”), which contributed to approximately 60% of the

Group’s turnover for the Year.

The credit terms given to Build King accord with the payment terms stipulated
in the relevant tenders or contracts entered into between the Group and Build
King which are in line with those granted to other customers of the Group.
The subsequent settlement of trade receivables from Build King is on track
with its settlement history and there is no provision made during the Year.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its business
activities. One of the essential goals of the Group is to organise construction
operations in the most environmental-friendly manner while keeping energy
consumption at minimum. One example is the use and promotion of the
Metal-Bamboo Matrix System Scaffold (MBMSS) since 1999, which can
reduce construction waste. In addition, initiatives within the Group include,
but not limited to, waste reduction by double side printing and separating
recyclable paper, green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable
items and using office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department of the Hong Kong Government, and
energy reduction by switching off idle electronic appliances. The Group
will continually review its green practices to integrate environmental, health
and safety management and compliance considerations into operational
processes. By promoting green awareness amongst, and maintaining dialogue
with, employees and business partners, the Group is determined to improve
the environmental performance of its daily business operations towards
establishing a sustainable environment. The Directors are not aware of
any material non-compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations during the Year. Further information on the Group’s environmental
policy and performance will be set out in the environmental, social and
governance report of the Group for the year will be despatched to shareholders

of the Company and will be made available on the websites in due course.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at

the end of reporting year were as follows:

MA=+H WH=+H
30 April 2024 30 April 2023

Tk 0 Tt

HK$’000 HK$’000

% 0 365 A Share premium 560,230 560,230
B e Contributed surplus 191,087 191,087
BE R Accumulated losses (820,380) (804,714)
(69,063) (53,397)

TET A E— LN~ FE ([AR%E]D U
B w0 2 BT o A4 W) Al AE B ROK g
b DT A B A B (e ) R SE ) ) R AR
H IR o SR - ik AL L R IR A i B A
0 IR A A BOAR 2 T R RE ST L B AR EOE
BORE E T s BLE AR LA MR
TR B VR AT BB B R

Subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, the Company may in general meeting make a distribution to its
shareholders out of any contributed surplus (as ascertained in accordance with
the Companies Act) but no dividend shall be paid or distribution shall be made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets would

thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Year and up to the

date of this directors’ report:
Executive Directors

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond (resigned on 27 March 2024)
Mr. Yang Haijia
(appointed effective from 2 May 2023)
Ms. Wang Lili
(appointed effective from 31 May 2023 and resigned effective from
22 May 2024)
Dr. So Yu Shing (Chairman)
(resigned effective from 2 May 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Man Sang (resigned effective from 16 July 2024)
Ms. Lam Wai Yu (resigned effective from 12 January 2024)
Mr. Lo Ka Ki

Ms. Gong Qiuyun (appointed effective from 11 April 2024)

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the independent

non-executive Directors as independent.

In accordance with Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As such, Mr. Lo Ka
Ki shall retire at the annual general meeting and he, being eligible, will offer

himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Ms. Gong Qiuyun was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 11 April 2024.

Pursuant to Bye-law 83 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Gong Qiuyun will hold office
only until the annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer himself/
herself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years. All the such service contracts are
continuous until terminated by either party giving to the other not less than
three months’ notice in writing, or by payment of three months’ salary in lieu

of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a term of
one year unless terminated by one month’s notice in writing. All Directors
are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of directors under the

Bye-laws.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 April 2024, the interests of the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of

the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

/S L K 3

MH=+H

AL T B #AT

JBe A 2 W5 4 b

Jit F5 A I Approximate

Jt 35 28 it 80 H J 4 8 H percentage of the

Number of Number of  issued share capital

HREA 5 0y ordinary underlying of the Company
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares held as at 30 April 2024
R (ASETIE=ZHA - HER HEEAA 800,000 0.01%

A ERAT)
Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond (resigned
effective from 27 March 2024)

Beneficial owner
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations as at 30 April
2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in the business that competed or
might compete or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the

business of the Group during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for details of the share option scheme as disclosed below and in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements, during the Year, none of the Directors
(including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interest in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHERS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 April 2024, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
were not aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company whose interests were disclosed above) who had an interest in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 39 in notes to the consolidated financial statements
and in paragraph headed “Related parties disclosures” in this report, (i) there
is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during
or at the end of the Year in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (ii) no
other contract of significance was entered into by, and/or subsisted between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries during the Year; and (iii) no other contract of significance in
relation to provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by

the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Directors confirm that the material related party transactions as disclosed
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case
may be) in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 42% of the Group’s
total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 27% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 42% of the Group’s total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 15% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the Year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have an interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30 August 2011 (the
“2011 Option Scheme”) has expired on 30 August 2021. No further options
shall be granted thereunder, but the provisions of the 2011 Option Scheme
will remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of those share options granted prior to the expiry date.

Under the terms of the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
22 October 2021 (the “2021 Option Scheme”), the Board may, at its absolute
discretion, offer full time or part time employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and
any agents, consultants and advisers who have contributed or may contribute
to the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company, as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the Group. The
maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2021 Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The life of
the 2021 Option Scheme was effective until 21 October 2031.
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The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of
options granted under the 2021 Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to a grantee in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
(or 0.1% in case of a connected person (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) grantee) of the total issued share capital of the Company in issue,
unless separately approved by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting, and
the number and terms (including the subscription price) of the options to be
granted to such person must be fixed before the shareholders’ approval. A
nonrefundable nominal consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of

each grant.

The subscription price may be determined by the Board, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant of the options; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the options;
and (c) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant provided that in
the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per share shall be rounded

upwards to the nearest whole cent.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the terms
of the 2021 Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee which shall not be more than 10 years from the date
on which the offer of the grant of the options is made in accordance with the
terms of the 2021 Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the
minimum period for which an option must be held or performance target must
be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the 2021

Option Scheme.

For the Year, there were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed

or outstanding.

Further details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note

36 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the

Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined by the

Remuneration Committee on the basis of merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors
and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out above and in note 36

to the consolidated financial statements.
REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, the remuneration of the senior

management of the Company for the Year by band is as follows:

TR YA =
2024 2023
% £1,000,000% JC Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1

A B X A R T 2 — 2
IV S B P TR R B R 12 o

ST RH B 3 ) B 8

AR B A ) 3R 2B AT A (A 2 A B
OIS I T B L
500y A e

MR A 4 AT B o0 T 04 A7 H A 28

F AL 2y B A 2 R S R S A > AR 4 ]
A — ELAERR AN PR R -

Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the five
individuals with highest emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with any

relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float

throughout the Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is being in

force for the benefit of the Directors.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Save as aforesaid, no other contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year ended 30 April
2024.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Group did not issue any shares or debentures during the Year. Further
details of other borrowings obtained are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for details of the share option scheme as disclosed above and in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement (as
defined in section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter
622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was entered into by the Company during

the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$Nil (Last Year: HK$30,000).

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 30
April 2021, 30 April 2022 and 30 April 2023 were audited by D & PARTNERS
CPA LIMITED (“D & Partners”). D & Partners resigned as auditor of the
Group with effect from 19 April 2024 and Infinity CPA Limited (“Infinity”)
was appointed on 19 April 2024 as the new auditor to fill the causal vacancy.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April
2024 was audited by Infinity. A resolution for the re-appointment of Infinity
as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Haijia
Executive Director

30 July 2024
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Infinity CPA Limited

Room 1501, 15/F., Olympia Plaza

255 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong
BECYHSTMERAERAT
FBIL AR 2 B2555

BI#ER 515121501 =

To the Shareholders of WLS Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of WLS Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
73 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 April 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to the section headed “Going Concern” of note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, that the Group incurred a net loss amounted
to approximately HK$11,147,000 for the year ended 30 April 2024, and it
has been noted that other borrowing amounting to HK$51,000,000 were
past due as of 30 April 2024 while the Group’s current cash balances of
HK$18,480,000 are insufficient to settle all the current liabilities due within
the next twelve months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit

matters to be communicated in our report.
Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
. Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

. Revenue recognition from contracts with customers of scaffolding,
fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings

work
Key audit matter
Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

We identified the estimated impairment of loan and interest receivables arising
from the money lending business as a key audit matter due to significance of
the carrying amount and significant estimation required by the management on
assessing the impairment of loan and interest receivables.

As detailed in notes 4, 21 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements,
management assessed the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables based on the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under
a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables, management use judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loans portfolio, repayment record, collateral values and

current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.
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As at 30 April 2024, the Group’s net loan and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$456,162,000 (2023: HK$444,388,000), which were
significant assets of the Group as of the year end, representing 78.4% (2023:
77.2%) of total assets. Allowance for credit losses of loan and interest
receivables under the ECL model amounted to approximately HK$264,089,000
(2023: HK$240,051,000) and net impairment loss arising from ECL for the
amount of HK$24,038,000 (2023: HK$84,555,000).

Management has engaged an independent valuation expert to determine the
calculation of ECL.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of loan and interest

receivables arising from the money lending business included:

. Understanding, evaluating and validating the control over credit risk
assessment of loan and interest receivables, including management’s
identification of events that triggered the significant increase in credit

risk of loan and interest receivables and events of default;

. Evaluating the external valuer’s independence, competence, capabilities

and objectivity;

. Reviewing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology, approach

and basis of calculation prepared by management;

. Testing the mathematical accuracy of the ECL calculation and checking

the information included in the calculation;

. Reviewing the ECL calculation that was prepared by management
assisted by the external expert engaged by the Group, and involved
our valuation expert to assist us in evaluating the Group’s estimation
methodology of ECL and check the parameters to external available

data sources;

. Carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test the existence and
accuracy of the aging of loan and interest receivables as at the reporting

date;

. Testing the integrity of information used by management to develop the
impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables as at year-end
by checking the historical settlement records and loan agreements on a

sample basis;
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. Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions, such as
delinquency ratio and collateral values used in assessing the ECL based

on the historical data as well as market economic data; and

. Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures about the ECL in the
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers of scaffolding, fitting out

and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work

We identified the revenue recognition from contracts with customers of
scaffolding services, filling out and other auxiliary services for construction
and buildings work as a key audit matter due to the significant judgments
exercised by the management of the Company in determining the estimation

of contract revenue and contract costs using input method.

As stated in notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
recognises contract revenue and costs by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on
the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to
the estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition involves a
significant degree of judgment, with estimates being made to assess the total
contract costs and stage of completion of the contract to provide appropriately
for loss making contracts. Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of contract costs for the comprehensive architectural
services as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms
of its total costs may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect

the revenue and profit recognised for the financial year.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the
contract revenue of scaffolding services and fitting out works amounted to
approximately HK$36,812,000 and HK$103,413,000 for the year ended
30 April 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the contract revenue and costs of scaffolding
services and fitting out works and contract assets and contract liabilities for
contract work included:

. Understanding of the management’s process relating to the estimation

of total contract revenue and contract costs;

. Checking and agreeing the total contract value to the contracts and

variation orders or other correspondences, on a sample basis;

o Checking to the supporting documents including the statement of final
account or application forms or invoices issued by the contractors/
developers and their correspondences issued to evaluate progress of

projects during the year, on a sample basis;

. Performing comparisons between the percentage of completion and the
percentage of progress billing on selected contracts and investigate any
significant differences, on a sample basis;

. Checking the progress billings, on a sample basis, to invoices issued and

checking staff costs incurred, on a sample basis, to the timesheet record;

. Agreeing the total budget contract revenue to the contracts and variation
orders or other correspondences and discussing with the project
managers of the Group to evaluate the reasonableness of their estimated
total budget contract revenue based on the size and complexity of the

contracts, on a sample basis;

. Performing interviews with the relevant project teams to understand the
contract terms, performance and status of selected projects to evaluate
the recoverability of amounts due from customers for contract work;

and

. Performing retrospective review by comparing the total actual contract
costs incurred at completion against the total budgeted contract costs to
assess the reasonableness of the estimates used by the management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April
2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion
on those statements on 28 July 2023.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.
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. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matters or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

Infinity CPA Limited
Certitied Public Accountants

Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon
Practising certiticate number: PO8219

Hong Kong, 30 July 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE—E-mEMA=1HILFE

For the year ended 30 April 2024

—EYE —E =
2024 2023
B 51 T# T THs T
NOTES HK$’000 HKS$’ 000
FRE g Continuing operations
I #5 Revenue 5 82,405 145,960
BB A Cost of sales (31,665) (98,112)
B Gross profit 50,740 47,848
HoAth e A Other income 326 3,384
At s 15 v AR Other losses, net (5,227) (25,217)
G SR Impairment losses recognised under
(M5 Bl R ) expected credit loss (“ECL”) model, net
B W RR Y BB s 4R T A 9 (24,409) (92,865)
i S AT B Operating and administrative expenses (18,271) (27,440)
HEY - RS L2 s Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 188 15
W2 R B R A R Impairment loss of property, plant and
o1 R RE ¥ 2 2 W (E A 1R equipment and right-of-use assets - (4,500)
t B B A W) 2 AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 14 - 115
Tl R A Finance costs 10 (8,588) (7,147)
o i i Jes 48 Loss before tax (5,241) (105,807)
FERL (B%) Kt Income tax (expense)/credit 11 (5,906) 487
AR AR A R AACE 1 S 1R Loss for the year from continuing
operations (11,147) (105,320)
#wiERE Discontinued operation
AR FE AR 1 B8 Y iR A Profit for the year from discontinued
operation 14 - 29
AR e 18 Loss for the year 13 (11,147) (105,291)
AN BV AT N AL A 4F B (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to
(KE48) A owners of the Company:
— R B R — from continuing operations (11,147) (112,413)
—R [ R — from discontinued operation - 29
(11,147) (112,384)
IE VI 45 MEAL A AEEE R A © Profit for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests:
—K AR R — from continuing operations - 7,093
(11,147) (105,291)
A R RS AR From continuing and discontinued
operations
A e 18 — FE AR R d Loss per share — basic and diluted (HK$(0.078) (HK$(0.782)
16 cent ¥ l) cent #5ill)
PRS- From continuing operations
B I e 48 — FE AR e Loss per share — basic and diluted (HK$(0.078) (HK$(0.782)
cent Al cent #E A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE—Z e A =4 HIFFE/Z  For the year ended 30 April 2024

2024 2023
T# T T
HK$’000 HK$°000
A AT BE )l 4R Loss for the year (11,147) (105,291)
oAt 2 T S Other comprehensive expense:
SEA B B E AR 19 H - Item that will not be reclassitied to profit or loss:
/A WS R T Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value

(T4 A PEFIA KA AU 1) through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)

Z Mg TH Z A FHEE R (1,083) (1,147)
AR B Hoh A T S P BR B IE Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax (1,083) (1,147)
AT i AT S MR Total comprehensive expense for the year (12,230) (106,438)
AR A N AL A AR B A T Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year

() /i 4 attributable to owners of the Company:

—72R A R RS — from continuing operations (12,230) (113,560)

— R G # LR — from discontinued operation - 29
(12,230) (113,531)

I e HE 4 JRE A 4 TR Wl i AR Total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests:

— R EFFERE — from continuing operations - 7,093

(12,230) (106,438)

EREIZERAR AR WLS Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REFZpmFEmA=—+H At 30 April 2024

TR YE —E =
2024 2023
B 5 T# T T# T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
I B & Non-current assets
LERY N Property, plant and equipment 17 3,620 4,880
o R Right-of-use assets 18 291 -
TGN B 2 R A Interests in a joint venture 19 - -
AN AR A KM 2T Uk s 2 Equity instruments at FVTOCI
T H 20 1,142 2,225
R i £ 3K % A B Loan and interest receivables 21 241,905 26,327
FEAT 3 % K Prepayments, deposits and
oAt JE R IE other receivables 22 1,144 1,111
B Sl TH P Deferred tax assets 34 - 6,527
248,102 41,070
B A Current assets
R Ui B K K R Loan and interest receivables 21 214,257 418,061
TAAT I - 4% 4 Prepayments, deposits and
HL A R o I other receivables 22 10,935 8,541
JE i T 3K Trade receivables 23 34,601 33,571
HRAEE Contract assets 24 7,663 10,100
ety Inventories 25 343 477
AT RE A i Financial assets at fair value through
(M4 A PEFAEBZE]) 2 profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
<5 26 47,661 45,271
BRAT & ik e B4 Bank balances and cash 27 18,480 18,514
333,940 534,535
it B £14% Current liabilities
JRE A HHR K e L At R £ 55 T Trade and other payables 28 40,913 34,975
GHAaE Contract liabilities 30 2,847 13,373
LR B Lease liabilities 31 663 1,027
JREASH {7 ] 485 3 I Retention monies payables 3,822 3,999
s $8 Mk B # 4 f Provision for onerous contracts 100 140
HoAth 5 £ Other borrowings 32 148,348 120,563
JRE A4S A T Tax payable 669 816
197,362 174,893
B & A Net current assets 136,578 359,642
H U W B 1 Total assets less current liabilities 384,680 400,712
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

RZFZPFr A =+H At30 April 2024

TR Y4 —E =
2024 2023
B 5T T# T T# T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
I v Bh £ 4% Non-current liabilities
LR B Lease liabilities 31 244 595
HoAth 5 £ Other borrowings 32 100 3,316
R A B IH £ i Deferred tax liabilities 33 459 694
803 4,605
& A Net assets 383,877 396,107
A K it Capital and reserves
Jie A Share capital 34 143,670 143,670
il Reserves 240,207 252,437
A2\ W) BEA N REARG BE Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company 383,877 396,107
IE 12 FOHE 2 Non-controlling interests - -
HE 7 AR Total equity 383,877 396,107
BI3EITIA Z 5B MBIk —F M4t The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 171 were approved and
AE1THRERGgMZLZERE LR T authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 July 2024 and are signed
VNS RAW-E & on its behalf by:
s i £ BkE
Yang Haijia Gong Qiuyun
E E
Director Director

70 ER#ZBRARAR WLS Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE T A=+ HIFEE For the year ended 30 April 2024

YL 2PN 1
Attributable to the owners of the Company
AP
FF AR A
Bk bR ESER GORE RERERE  BiHER W RRRMEL  MGAE
Non-
Share Share Contributed Merger FVTOCI  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
T T T T T T T T#x  T#x
HKS$'000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
(Wika)  (HED)
(Note a) (Note b)
WoZZZHRHA—H At 1 May 2022 143,670 560,230 191,087 20 (37,838) (349,733) 509,638 (7,093) 502,545
KEE (FE) /A (Loss)/profit for the year - - - - - (112.384)  (112.384) 7093 (105,291)
e FEF AR bR E G Fair value loss on equity instruments
fEm LAZATHER at FVTOCI - - - - (1,147) - (1,147) - (L)
FEERE () /i85 Total comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year - - - - (1,147) (112,384)  (113,531) 7,093 (106,438)
RoZ-SENASHER At30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023
“ECEELA-H 143,670 560,230 191,087 202 (38,985) (462,117) 396,107 - 396,107
AEEER Loss for the year - - - - - 1,147 (11,147) - (1,47
BATEF AL M2 E 42 Fair value loss on equity instruments
R LAZATHER at FVTOCI - - - - (1,083) - (1,083) - (1,083
AR R A Total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - - (1083)  (ALW4T)  (12,230) - 1220
RZZZWENA=+H At 30 April 2024 143,670 560,230 191,087 202 (40,068) (473,264) 383,877 - 383877
B 5 - Notes:
(a)  AGE M X TR AR AR LR I R T — DU 4 (a)  The contributed surplus of the Group represents the amount transferred
JNH T N H BT 2 ORI R € B e from share premium amount upon the cancellation of the entire amount
T PR Tl S B A H 2 B i A AR A standing to the credit of the share premium account as at 28 August
HIR 1 A 1 IR 9 R MR P < 2014 pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting held on that date.
(b)  AEEZ AR A L BT 2 R (b)  The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the

R A R = EF 4 A
=R B EAL AN E A R

AT A I (H 2 22

nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 23 November 2001.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE - —pmEp A=+ HIFFZ  For the year ended 30 April 2024

“E YA —E =
2024 2023
T#x T
HK$°000 HKS$°000
REEH Operating activities
Bk B i s 18 Loss before tax (5,241) (105,778)
— R — Continuing operations (5,241) (105,807)
— IR — Discontinued operation - 29
R 545 AR AR Adjustments for:
HE A Interest income (77) (70)
il 8 A AR Finance costs 8,588 7,148
b Depreciation 1,362 4,310
BN EFI AR Z B EE 2 Fair value loss on financial assets
NTEIE R at FVTPL 6,327 23,109
AW BB R 2 AR Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (188) (15)
S B HOR B A Waive of loan interest income - 30
JRE Wi B B A B 2 R Write-off of loan and interest receivables - 3,000
R WS B R 2 WU Write-off of trade receivables - 1,581
At iR OE 2 R Write-off of other receivables - 2,107
W) W M B L R R B 2 Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
ol (L 5 42 and right-of-use assets - 4,500
JRE Wi 8 % ) B 2 (A A T R Net impairment loss of loan and interest receivables 24,038 84,555
e IR 2 (i (E s 4R A3 el Net (reversal of)/impairment loss of trade receivables
L (EL s 4R 15 9 (282) 1,399
BHEEZ (HEERER) Net (reversal of)/impairment loss of contract assets
W i 4R 15 9 (102) 150
SH A JRE A T 2 B (4R 1 A Net impairment loss of other receivables 999 73
Qe Write down of inventories - 466
EHEN (lks) EH (Gain)/loss on debt modification (1,070) 1,472
B B 2 ) 2 i g Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - (115)
BG4 (B M) B (Reversal of)/provision for onerous contract (40) 140
REEESBBHR RS Operating cash flows before movements
B &w & in working capital 34,314 28,062

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

BE T A=+ HIFEE For the year ended 30 April 2024

R YE xR =
2024 2023
T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
JHE i £ I B 88 o Increase in loan and interest receivables (35,812) (45,707)
TEAS SR ~ 44 T H A JE i 3 E (Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and
() /> other receivables (3,300) 4,509
TR (K)o (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (748) 4,155
HHEER D Decrease in contract assets 2,539 2,839
FEED (K Decrease/(increase) in inventories 134 (77)
WA EFI ARG Z S EE (Increase)/decrease in financial assets at FVTPL
(i) /Wb (8,717) 3,573
JRE AT R L At JRE AT 3K TE S Increase in trade and other payables 6,805 2,758
HH AR Increase in contract liabilities (10,526) (3,915)
JREASF 4[] 4 3K TE K4 Increase in retention monies payables (180) (1,168)
REMBHE Cash generated from operations 15,491 -
O A A il R B Hong Kong Profits Tax Paid (751) -
REEBEmANB&FH Net cash used in operating activities (16,242) (4,971)
REEY Investing activities
H B R 2 ) 2 B A O TR AR Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries - (230)
U 0 2 R B A Purchase of property, plant and equipment (21) (1,203)
P ECE LA SRAT AR R Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits - 14,707
W B R T AT FOE Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 188 316
[SRL&:D5S Interest received 77 70
REEB A EFH Net cash generated from investing activities 244 13,660
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

BE - —pmEp A=+ HIFFZ  For the year ended 30 April 2024

R YE xR =
2024 2023
T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Al Financing activities
MBREAT A Z MG & Z B33 Proceeds from other borrowings, net of issue cost 18,000 400
HREMEAR Repayment of lease liabilities (1,140) (2,748)
B R ERAT 5 6 Repayment of bank borrowings - (8,634)
B H At 1 £ Repayment of other borrowings (18) (4,293)
SERR DS Interest paid (878) (155)
G EER® (R AEFH Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 15,964 (15,430)
W& R Bl &S0 H WA S8 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (34) (6,741)
RAERZ B & KRB EFHEH Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 18,514 25,255
RAERZHERIEFHEH Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18,480 18,514
Ba LB ESEEA S Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
HH R From continuing operations:
WATH: B B & Bank balances and cash 18,480 18,514
18,480 18,514

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.
The head office and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is located at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark, No. 11
Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of scaffolding, fitting
out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, money

lending business and securities investment business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”™) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 May 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and

HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information

ZZZPUEFE  Annual Report 2024

81



82

B 7 A 5 e Wi

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

"2

nl 7 v %
W
H NP

)

~H
ﬁ
2

e |
=
.@;%‘3
Fmﬂ
—

| —

M
4|
=
A\
bl

(

BR T SCHT A & b A AR AR B R T A RS
e QB R A AR 4R B A AR BE I A 4
ZPEBE AR UL B R B DL B, R A R B S
R BTl 2 4R I A R

W FH A 7wt 3 B SR 19RO
WM BRI (BRI A) [&
l BOR 3% % | 5

AEEORAFERE KRB ZEETA K
e T RS 0E [ B R B a1 ] B RT
[EREFECRER | AT AR [HEE
at BOSR | — il o A B BOHE R SR T
W S R 0 2 LA R — OF 5 IR - A A R
M EREEN BN MBI R R E
B % S S R PR 2 R E - A B R
B B B F K o 5% S AE AT AR R W B B
5 4 S AN K o fEL 8 BRSO AT R R R A
B 22 5y ~ oAt 2 4 BOIR D0 2 A R T R K -
SR > S I B A7 BLEE R A2 5y ~ oAt 2 AR SR UL
A B 2 B whECREEOR AR By B K - i
IR R FEREBECRER ZEERA
1548 35 5 K & 5 BUR & R - 7 1 85 o
R0 TS 8 W 2290 [ ot B S R B ) (TS5
W) IR RSB T > DLl B R el T R
@%ﬁ%fﬂﬁ%%é%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%uﬂ
W7 A I B ) DR B R T

8 K o BB W R N 5| e a4 -

MR % S5 5T AR B i 15 51 > JB i AR YR AL B
b {4 4 A S A v S A Y LB E
& FFEOR SR 2 JF BRSO B R
ST 5 A PSR B RE R B R - DA S AR
o B AR MY R P R A R & BUR B R
B A o

JRE FF) 5% S5 46 T A Sif 408 3 AR 4 [ 1) B B 51K DL B
B A OB MR BN SUAR I RE BT IR
AR T K RO Y B B

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set

out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure
material accounting policy information. HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting policy is
material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the

Practice Statement.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting
policy information that is standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered
immaterial accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure the material
accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance but has affected the disclosure of the

Group’s major accounting policies set out in this note below.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”’) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group recorded a
consolidated loss after tax of approximately HK$11,147,000 for the year
ended 30 April 2024, and it has been noted that other borrowing amounting to
HK$51,000,000 were past due as of 30 April 2024 while the Group’s current
cash and bank balances of HK$18,480,000 are insufficient to settle all the
current liabilities due within the next twelve months from the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements. These conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of

business.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations for at
least the next twelve months from the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements. In order to ensure the Group’s ability to operate as a
going concern, the directors of the Company have implemented measures to

deal with the conditions referred to above, as follows:

(a) the Group will continue to negotiate with bondholders for renewing
bond agreements. Based on the latest communications with the
bondholders, the directors of the Company are not aware of any
intention of the bondholders to require repayment of the loans, and the

directors believe that the existing bond agreements will be renewed;

(b)  the management will consider other financing arrangements and fund-
raising alternatives with a view to increasing the Group’s capitalisation/

equity and to support the continuing growth of the Company;
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”’) (CONTINUED)

Going concern (Continued)

(c) the Group will continue to improve the operating efficiency by
implementing measures to tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses in order to enhance its profitability and to improve the cash

flow from its operation in future; and

(d)  most importantly, management will rigorously collect the past due loan
receivables, and the current loan receivables will be due within the next

twelve months.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may arise and
to re-classify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the

consolidated financial statements.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair

values, as explained in accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.
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EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account

when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of

the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the

date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by

other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the
Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings, held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment

losses, if any.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is
clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property
is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at initial

recognition.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the

leasehold land is under finance lease.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 20%
Metal tubes and catwalks 20%
Gondolas’ related equipment 10%
Motor vehicles 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit

or loss.



B 7 S 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EAEFHBRER @

&

F 88 T 4% SRR B w] 5 BB A # P 2 AR
AR o A T Se A S th 5 ik wt B

T 5 BLE )Y — RS AR 2 Al (E
AT S8 BOUBAS B3 B 4 A6 B 2 A AR o

& T H

ERUEE KA R EE TR A% TR
5 #0e SCHYET £ 05 B B R o BT A 4R W R ik
B 2 A B B R R S A Uk
il R o Hc W B 7 i L A AR B I 3 R B B
A 091 i 57 2 Ty TR AE 2 7 58 A 2 < L

HE e

% A E B A A PR R
H &5 6 4 75 A 1R B A0 BR AR  JAS i
T HE Q) 55 1SR AE AT B0 48 R R R O o U B
A7 <5 A P R B R (R A (R AR 4
2 S A R A (B PR AL ) OB AS 2 &8
Ty WA T 90 20 T R IR 0N < il E 4l
2 AR S AE T BR (A ) o g 4% 2
P R AR AT 2 Bl A A R
i 2 28 5y 1A RIVIRS Ji 18 4 e w3

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is

calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,

a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are

presented as revenue.
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured

at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to

collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured
at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3

Business Combinations applies.

Financial asset is held for trading if:

. It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term; or
. On initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as hedging

instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

®

(i1)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated

losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”

line item in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the

“other gains and (losses)” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit losses
(“ECL”) model on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 including loan and interest receivables, trade receivables, contract
assets, other receivables and bank balances. The amount of ECL is updated at

each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting

date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract

assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since

initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are past due based on the
contractual terms, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.
(ii)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade receivables,
and contract assets are each assessed as a separate group. Loan
and interest receivables, other receivables and bank balances are

assessed for expected credit losses on an individual basis);

o Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

ZZZPUEFE  Annual Report 2024

97



98

B 7 A 5 e Wi

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EAEFBRER @

&Rt TH (@)
4 (M)
AL TR 2 i E

AR T S AT < U R Y 5 A HE R i A A
AR T 51 < L B R AR ) A OV
Box % (o] i 0 G T O — U > A SR I 7 g A%
1 i R < L E o i A% 4R T SIE R RS R R AR
B R A R S 8 RS L Bt e [ i o S A
il O RS A o F A 4 O e R RL S L A AR
B HEE £ % L T RE ZE ST G A B AR o i R 4R
P PR B LR < L E O B AR IO B R R
R B3y e 1o S - A S T A A R L I
I Bt 8 S 75 K IE Y L AT A5 K

T & 1k Tl B 1 4 B AR AR Y IR
5 28 R 1A (L L S P MR o A AT ] ) 2
BT E i A D o

1L B A SR T A ) A5 e R IR R R 4 N T
FEA A 2 T i g wH A RE g8 TR BB
J15 Rl B8 A 2R w2 B I B0 18
ANE B R R G EE = R -

EEZERARAT WLS Holdings Limited

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for

the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not

reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, retention monies
payables and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference

between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Moditication of financial liabilities

Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform in which the Group applies the
practical expedient, when the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.
The exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial modification

when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities
will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the
modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in

profit or loss at the date of modification.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations
on or after the date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of
a property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building

components, unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of some clinics that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.

—Z—maEE  Annual Report 2024 107



B 7 A 5 e Wi

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EAEFBRER @

L (80

A 45 W1 2y R RN (80

ik 3=v=3

o1 FH M T 2 AR L4

. AR AE S

. T B B H O B2 AR 2 AT T AR A
AR AR AT SR B O

. SR 0 A 2 AT AT ) B R RS 5 I

o ARSI R IR R A R U
A 24 7 P 1 51 40 A D 7 R
L4 3 2. T 40 5 AR L 7 78 2 2
it LA -

8 )R 5 A 25 A ] 2R R 4 8 % B
M 48wt Sl L B G A AT T R AR R
% .

A7 S T A L 245 R B 5 L T 4 IPOA B AL
BEEEMAMEEAEEE ABMERBE
2 A i AR U 6 SR (D R AT o T At A
DU > {10 488 L A0 9 R A R AT
SRR (DA & T M) A o

A 5 A A T 5 K L 251 R R 2 51
R HBIEH

A 28 [ ] I 7 <

B AT 2 AT AR o] R 2 4 T AR 4R A U A S R
HHERI SO AR A 45 AP E P FHE o R
VI R IR 2 V- (B o AR AR AN B A 3K
St wH AP AR R 2 A

102 EmfzRARAR  WLS Holdings Limited

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any

lease incentives received;
. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses, and adjusted for any measurement at lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise,
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of

its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease

incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment

to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured

by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical costs in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
rationalisation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
they arise.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an

amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are

accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of

goods or services.
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most likely amount, depending on which
method better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty

associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting periods and the changes in circumstances

during the reporting periods.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the

consolidated profit or loss in the period they incurred.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the

grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses the related costs for

which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are deducted from
the related expenses, other government grants are presented under “other

income”.
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees

Equity-settled share based payments to directors and employees are measured

at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the

revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to

accumulated losses.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share based payment transactions with parties other than
directors and employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services
received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as an expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve),
when the Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties render services,

unless the goods and services qualify for recognition as assets.
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling

them to the contributions.
Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated profit of loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.



B 7 S 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EAEFHBRER @

Frf3 Bt (&)

EIEBLIHIEAR G MR N E E LA 2R
T (L L 5 330 SRS S ) R T 2 AR R 2 2
7 T 2 R e D < AR S Bl JHUB AR — OB BT A A
R LT IR 2 B A AR AR o AR SE BLUH AR —
e LA B R 26 L AT 36 A B % 5 AT T AR R IR
2R B FT A T T BRI R 2 R A R AR
i 7 W05 25 0TS R A0 Wl R (T DR TR 365 5 F )
38 oy i 2 R BRI A HUR & SRR
ot M) S i N AR B % A AR A B
THEE KA A TR -

AR I A S I R 42 ] I 2 A G (o] R T R 2
BN K AT BE A AT 55 A (e 46 5 A R o i BRL
WEF Ja 2~ ) B B 8 2 ) 4 45 R R ) R R
IR 25 A R AR 4 Bl JH B o B S BUE T A
S R T e R IR R T | Y A A B UH
B MR RBL U R AR O B A B T
IR 26 2 A% i > HL 7 00 1 IRF 2 A AT R AT BN
B [\ 488 W 7 T DR RE

0 T 3 TEU A 2 R TR A 4% A R B I
F030 > M DL E RRBE i A AN B R DL Sl ] A
#8245 A R

0 S T TR T T AT i B A B
JEE IR 42 301 70 9 R R BE R AR R O R
O il € ST b BB R (R B

E=N
o

U JOE F3 IE BA J% EE E Y S  AS 4R [R 7
Wi Tl s L e B RO T 2 Ty 2R
R IR B AR R

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and it is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets

to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business

combination.
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows

(where the effect of the time value of money is material).
Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and
measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist where
the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at
the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract

and the net cost of continuing with the contract.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimation of recoverability of loan and interest receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to loan and interest receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of loan and interest receivables under HKFRS 9
requires the use of estimates and judgement. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. The Group uses judgement in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in note 41.

Estimation uncertainty on budgeted cost of scaffolding services ad fitting
out works

The Group estimated total contract revenue in accordance with the terms
set out in the relevant contracts, or in case of variation order or other
correspondences and the management’s experience. The Group estimated
total contract costs of scaffolding services and fitting out works, which
mainly comprise costs for scaffolding and interior materials, labour costs and
subcontracting fees, based on quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors/suppliers/vendors and the experience of the management
of the Group, which involves the management’s best estimates and judgments,
the actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may
be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised. If the price of scaffolding and interior decorative materials or the
wages of labour or the subcontracting fees varies significantly in the coming
months from the budgets, the contract profit for each of the individual projects
will differ significantly from the estimated contract profit. If estimated costs
exceed contract revenue, a contract loss will be recognised.
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5. W
BRE-Z JUAENA=+HILEE

(@) ZRA%F GBS

5. REVENUE
For the year ended 30 April 2024

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

TR Y4 —E =
2024 2023
Tt T#s T
HK$’000 HKS$"000
FHEEBELNKEES GHAKE: Revenue from contracts with
customers from continuing
operations:
Fh AR SR J gtk AR R LA SR S A S B R Contract revenue in respect of
oAt ol B IR 2 A R M s scaffolding, fitting out and
other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work 36,812 103,413
A 1 Al 2k U5 2 W 2 Revenue from other sources:
B HOR Bl A Loan interest income 45,593 42,547
TR RS T A M 5 Total revenue from continuing
operations 82,405 145,960
-~y 11! —E =
2024 2023
T T THs T

HK$°000 HKS$°000

e 5 A A T A WL B 2 IR D
i IR [H]

M E T F =N = HREE & 1E
MEEEEHEFELENKAREF &40
#7176,00035 7T b 5F: [H] fife 528

(b) REAFMEENES GHZIBHTAT

IERER B TR IEE R
At i B R

AN AR S R st TRE IR AN RS B R
B T Al By R B o it A 42 11 A1 2 4R T
— T E - % A B R TR E
P > B 5% S5 M S e R R R — B IRy ] A1 2
19— JE B 4 BAT: - 5% 5 8 50 IR 5 A0 Wi i )9 AR
5 4058 B B PR T 1 AR TR -
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Timing of revenue recognition
from continuing operations:
Over time 36,812 103,413

Revenue from contracts with customer from discontinued operation of
asset management business of approximately HK$176,000 were recognised
overtime during the year ended 30 April 2023.

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with customers from

continuing operations

Scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work

The Group provides scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services
for construction and buildings work. Such services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. Revenue is
recognised for these construction services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method.
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S.

REVENUE (conTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 (Continued)

(c)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation

(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) for contracts with customers

that remain outstanding as at reporting date and the expected

WmE: timing at recognising revenue is set out below:
TR YA =
2024 2023
T# T T
HK$°000 HK$’000
PR . Continuing operations:
B R TR A R R A Scaffolding, fitting out and
At B R % other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work
—4E A Within one year 12,346 45,136
—AF DA b H R R A T AT More than one year but not
more than two years 5,000 -
2} Total 17,346 45,136
6. riBEH 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

AR R RN (T8 88 Yook
N 1) P s B 2 i ot o e LA Ko il o D
5% SF O T DAy B R KRT A R B R
T AR A RS G T A e A AR
T FEAT W AR 0 BT o LR S F AR e
TEARN A = H IR AREEE
RO AR — (1) B e s TR AR AT
TP R B8 T H il i B RS - (i) (S AR 2
B~ K (i) i S5 BOE S o i A R%5E 0 TR R
AT 26 T 5 B R [R) 48 748 28 45 Je SR w > e 4y
=S

The Group determines its operating and reportable segments based on the

reports, reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”), that

are used for resources allocation and assessment of performance focusing

specifically on the revenue analysis by principal categories of the Group’s

business and the profit of the Group as a whole. For the years ended 30 April

2024 and 2023, the Group has three operating and reportable segments —

(i) scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and

buildings work, (ii) money lending business, and (iii) securities investment

business. These segments are managed separately as they belong to different

industries and require different operating systems and strategies.
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DS REBV R E Kk A E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results and segment assets and liabilities

A 45 0 22 40 T 0 R 2 Wil B SE A DL
HE R BB o

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results and assets and

liabilities by operating and reportable segment.

BEZ WENMA =+ H IR

For the year ended 30 April 2024

REEREE TR
{3 B R 45 1
i et R
Al B e
Scaffolding, fitting
out and other W E R
auxiliary services e Securities
for construction and ~ Money lending investment At
buildings work business business Total
T Tt T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FERE: Continuing operations:
e & REVENUE
B € External revenue 36,812 45,593 - 82,405
HoAl e 18 4 Other losses, net 40 (787) (4,470) (5,217)
PG S AR I (FERR) 2 Net impairment losses reversed
3 (LAl 4R 30 (recognised) arising from ECL 628 (24,038) (999) (24,409)
HAtg A Other income 167 - 3 170
At Total 37,647 20,768 (5,466) 52,949
B T 43 7 3 4 Segment result before elimination (256) 9,734) 20,729 10,739
Sy 2 5 5 (W k) Elimination on inter-segment
transaction (note) - 26,350 (26,350) -
B BRI 2 S S AR Segment result from external (256) 16,616 (5,621) 10,739
B BRIE RS2 R TR 6 Unallocated gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment 188
743 T A s 450 A Unallocated other losses, net (10)
A3 LRl & LA Unallocated finance costs (8,588)
RABLZ A FRA Unallocated corporate income 156
F Wb d] Unallocated corporate expenses (7,726)
Wi 48 Loss before tax (5,241)
REZZWENA=ZTH At 30 April 2024
B ASSETS
o Segment assets 48,351 479,713 43,852 571,916
FABA A EE Unallocated corporate assets 10,126
SRR Consolidated assets 582,042
AfR LIABILITIES
AT Segment liabilities (46,771) (103,201) (129) (150,101)
P /NI B=E Unallocated corporate liabilities (48,064)
SR Consolidated liabilities (198,165)

WP RE - 8 2L #E U el i B SRS 1) R R B0 SEH ORG

0 AR 4% 106 e R AT
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Note:

The management fee was charged to the money lending business from

the securities investment business which was under negotiated terms.
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6. 7 EP =) 6.

43 B W A5 B B AR DL B gy R mE I B AR Segment revenues and results and segment assets and liabilities
(%) (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

BEZR - =FMA=+HIL4FE For the year ended 30 April 2023

MR R TR
Rt
U Y

At B e 5
Scaffolding, fitting

out and other BB EET
auxiliary services T REETS Securities
for construction and Money lending investment Mt
buildings work business business Total
T T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FaRE: Continuing operations:
e 2 REVENUE
HM £ External revenue 103,413 42,547 - 145,960
oAt s 1505 A Other losses, net 1,951 (1,502) (23,109) (22,660)
LT (5 8 s 5L 2 (e 90 Net impairment losses recognised
arising from ECL (5,310) (87,555) - (92,865)
oAt A Other income 2,822 5 7 2,834
At Total 102,876 (46,505) (23,102) 33,269
HEHI A2 M E AT Segment result before elimination (9,331) (71,756) 2,839 (84,248)
SRR A o A (B EE) Elimination on inter-segment
transaction (note) - 26,278 (26,278) -
A M 4 Segment result from external (9,331) (51,478) (23.439) (84,248)
8 B A A U i Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 115
WY BRE Rk 2 R4 B g Unallocated gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 15
W B B L R A Impairment loss of property, plant and
oY <5l equipment and right-of-use assets (4,500)
R B LA LA Unallocated finance costs (7,147)
KB Z A FIA Unallocated corporate income 550
KA B2 AR Unallocated corporate expenses (10,592)
W 5 i A 4 Loss before tax (105,807)
REBZZFENAZTH At 30 April 2023
P ASSETS
R Segment assets 48,540 459,267 50,420 558,227
b0 WALR- Unallocated corporate assets 17,378
SREE Consolidated assets 575,605
fafi LIABILITIES
Ty R R Segment liabilities (52,796) (80,643) (67) (133,506)
Ko B A A G Unallocated corporate liabilities (45,992)
HaAk Consolidated liabilities (179,498)

—Z—mEEE  Annual Report 2024 115



B 7 A 5 e Wi

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. HPE Pl a0

g il Wt Be S A DA B gy i E M £ 1
(#0)

B ST R 2 el AR A B A Y
Wogs o ABZE ZF INAER —F T =4 A
e ol B 1 9 i 7 o T = =i

K& 0 2 B UK BLAS SR M ST BOR — 2K
1 VR S RRAR TE R B2 L B W 3 RS Bt
R 2 B ~ Rl A ~ R 20 B L A i 1R 1
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results and segment assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended 30 April
2024 and 2023.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies. Segment results represent the profits earned by/loss
from each segment without allocation of unallocated gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment, finance costs, unallocated other losses, net,
unallocated corporate income and unallocated corporate expenses. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and

performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources

between segments:

. all assets are allocated to reportable and operating segments other
than, certain right-of-use assets, certain property, plant and equipment,
certain prepayments and deposits and other receivables and certain bank

balances and cash;

. all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating segments other
than certain other payables, certain lease liabilities, certain tax payables,

and certain other borrowings.
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6. VBPEPL a0

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

A 53 5B & B Other Segment Information
BEEREE TR
BB
R Y
30 3 M 5
Scaffolding,
fitting out and [e 4858
other auxiliary fi B E3
services for Money Securities
construction and lending  investment AR At
buildings work business business ~ Unallocated Total
Tt T T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FINGHER AR E R B LK Major amounts included in the measure
AHMEEMEREH: of segment results and segment assets
from continuing operations:
REZZZWENAZ+HIEAEE  For the year ended 30 April 2024
EARH L Capital expenditure - - - 21 21
VESY V&L N Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment - 1,280 - 1 1,281
R T 8 Depreciation of right-of-use assets - - - 81 81
SELEN G Ed A e Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 188 - - - 188
DATEFFARG 2 SHEE Fair value loss on financial assets at
ATHIEH FVTPL, net - 1,856 441 - 6,327
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6. 4 akE B a0 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
HoAth 43 30& BE (s1) Other Segment Information (Continued)
BEEREETE
TR Rk A
R
At B A7
Scaffolding,
fitting out and HHEBE
other auxiliary ERE ES1
services for Money Securities
construction and lending  investment KA At
buildings work business business  Unallocated Total

T T T T T
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

FINGHER AR E R B2 S K Major amounts included in the measure
23 R Y R of segment results and segment assets
from continuing operations:

BREZZZ=FNMAZFHIEAEE  For the year ended 30 April 2023

A 3 Capital expenditure 1,203 - - - 1,203
VES &L FiN Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,478 1,280 - 154 2912
R T Depreciation of right-of-use assets 705 - - 691 1,396
HEWE BE LR 2 Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 15 - - - 15
W BUE R LS A 2 Impairment loss of property, plant and
W kR equipment and right-of-use assets 3,670 - - 830 4,500
AT EF ARG Z SRS E 2 Fair value loss on financial assets
AFEEH > at FVTPL, net - - 23,109 - 23,109
W3 43 Geographical segments
A R A RS 2 KT Hh S T A 2 AR R The geographical location of customers from continuing operations is based
5 B it R B8 W 30k 2 1) o 7 M HE E o 48 e IR TR on the location at which the services were provided or the goods were
) ¥ Y b BT A R AR PR 5% 0 E A delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current assets is
A o based on the physical location of the asset.
W 4 4 € Ik 5 B B
Revenue Specified non-current assets
TR - TR PUAE R
2024 2023 2024 2023
Ti# oo T#7T T#o T
W’OOO H£$’OOO W’OOO Hﬁ’OOO
B Hong Kong 82,405 145,960 3,620 4,880

118 EmziARAR  WLS Holdings Limited



B 7 S 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. 7 EP =)
FEEXFER
WE T PIENH =+ AR AR

B = (R T AR WA G A SR R AR AR
JEA£R10% L BB P EFT S 5 o 2 H #%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information on major customers
During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group had transactions with three

(2023: two) customer who contributed over 10% of the Group’s total revenue

for the year. A summary of revenue earned from these major customers is set

GEFEREF IS I out below:
SERIMAE e S
2024 2023
Tt T
HK$’000 HK$’000
A B A R TR R Revenue earned from scaffolding, fitting out
BT 28 44 72 ~ R 2618 ] and other auxiliary services for construction
HL A sy J IR S T A5 A 4 and buildings work:
®F— Customer 1 21,952 43,949
KFE Customer 2 5,065 18,962
BE = (BEE) Customer 3 (note) 3,840 -

MERE: EEZFZ=FENA =+ HIREE
B A A AR RS A 10%

7. HAtt A

Note: This customer did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
during the year ended 30 April 2023.

7. OTHER INCOME

R BiLgg Fisi|
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
CRONE CFTZE CSFONE CF S SRONE RS
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Tk Tt T Tt Tk Tt
HKS$’000 HKS$000 HKS$’000 HKS$000 HKS$’000 HK$000

HMETE A Sundry income
EM ARG (MR Government subsidy (note)
FBIEA Interest income

Miet: MEEF AN = HIBEE S AR
£ FHE AR A e R B201956 IR R 9 R
TR A A B ) R A B 492,014,000
5 T B 7 R 9 AT B0 I B0 4 Ak AR
MEFBARE -HE T N =+
Ak 4R B2 > AR T | 4%k 2078 T RR B22019
58 R 99 25 0 AH BR A R AT BE 9 BOR Al B %
105,000%5 7C > H 1 £165,0003 7 B 1R 5t 3%
s # A B B £940,0009 7T 51 7 ik 7 B AT B
[ S RF 4 AL 110 3 0 5 et A B o

248 1,300 - 201 248 1,501
- 2,014 - 105 - 2,119
78 70 - - 78 70
326 3,384 - 306 326 3,690

Note: During the year ended 30 April 2023, the Group recognised approximately
HK$2,014,000 government grants in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies
which relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the HKSAR
government from continued operations. For the year ended 30 April 2023,
the Group recognised government grants of approximately HK$105,000 from
discontinued operation in respect of COVID-19-related subsidiaries which
included approximately HK$65,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme and
approximately HK$40,000 relates to Distance Business Programme provided by
the HKSAR government.
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8. Hfth s 1H 8. OTHER LOSSES, NET
2024 2023
Tl Tt e
HK$°000 HK$’000
AT ARG S@MEEZ Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL, net
NFEER FHE (6,327) (23,109)
Ex BRIk, (FER) Gain/(loss) on debt modification
(WHE326) & Gii)) (notes 32 (i) and (ii)) 1,070 (1.472)
o A7 & Write down of inventories - (466)
B HORL B A Waiver of loan interest income - (30)
e TR A R4 ] () Reversal of/(provision for) onerous contracts 40 (140)
oA Others (10) -
(5,227) (25,217)

9, TEHIfEEEHEBEXTHER 9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED

P4 1 s 1 5 R UNDER ECL MODEL, NET

2024 2023
T# T T #8T
HK$’000 HK$°000

TE 5 e 4H T AL T 51 4% JH Net impairment losses recognised/(reversed) arising

WERR, (F 1B ) ok (B s 180 1 4 from ECL on:

— FE s B R ) B — Loan and interest receivables 24,038 84,555
— ME SR K — Trade receivables (282) 1,399
—AHEE — Contract assets (102) 150
— HC At B Wi ok I — Other receivables 999 73
JE Ui R R 2 AR Write-off of trade receivables - 1,581
JRE AT 8 R K ] L 2 R Write-off of loan and interest receivables - 3,000
HCAth i R IE 2 IR Write-off of other receivables - 2,107
JRE W M sk 2 S5 i [ Bad debt recovery on trade receivables (244) -
24,409 92,865
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10. & AR 10. FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023
T# T Tt
HK$’000 HKS$’000
SRAT A B T RAT 4 SR B Interest on bank borrowings and bank overdrafts - 155
Hoth £ 25 1 S, Interest on other borrowings 8,535 6,847
& & &AL Interest on lease liabilities 53 146
8,588 7,148
11. it (k) iK% 11. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT
—E Y =
2024 2023
F#x Tt
HK$’000 HK$°000
B IH A0 45 - Tax comprises:
7 s 15 B Hong Kong Profits Tax
— AR — Current year charged (607) -
IR FE B TH Deferred tax
—AAEE () R — Current year (charged)/credited (5,299) 487
(5,906) 487

ot #E & AR A =+ H AR A R
JHE SR B 35 A A R R 32,000,000 T 19 FE SR B
It I 42c8.25% B S i WA B i TR & W A4S
43 A > T st 82,000,000 T FE #5 BL i Al
P AT 4] 358 43 42165 % B 3R 548 7 5 R 15 B 1%
oS E - Z =4 A =+ H IE4E
FEA A Al E A BB R O & =
ST A v ) A5 B A A

Hong Kong Profits tax has been provided in the financial statements at the rate
of 8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2 million; and 16.5% on any part of
assessable profits over HK$2 million on the estimated assessable profits for
the year ended 30 April 2024. No provision for Hong Kong Profits tax had
been made for 2023 as the Company incurred tax loss during the year ended
30 April 2023.
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11. Frfa B (B %) % s

R T M 15 B AR B W & 2 B
HLAR & BB R T IR K o A AR 4 L
Y M 15 B0 %A w1 R BL R Bl 2 16.5% wHE

A A AL Y BR B AT 1R B AR S R AR R
B PTR 2 B2 BRI R :

11. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT (CONTINUED)

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Loss before tax is reconciled to income tax in profit or loss in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss from continuing operations as follows:

e g ' s e i B
2024 2023
Tt T#s T
HK$’000 HK$’000
A& [ 5 A A8 1 R B I R 1R Loss before tax from
continuing operations (5,241) (105,807)
T A B W R B 2 B RS 2 BLIA Tax at tax rate applicable in
the relevant jurisdictions (865) (17,458)
ARAT B 2 B 2 Bl S R Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose 103 14,182
PHH B 2 WA 2 Bl 5 5 2 Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose (3,666) (10,633)
T HERR 2 Bl TE B 18 2 B 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,942 4,058
B 28 A S o il R 2 B T i 18 2 B R Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised (888) (4,624)
KT WERR 2 AT LT I 22 A 2 B Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised 4,018 13,988
#e 1l R IRE 25 R 2 B Y Tax effect of temporary difference
derecognised 6,460 -
265 2L Wk Tax concession 171) -
HoAts Others (1,027) -
A AR B A AL R BLTE R S (%) Tax expense/(credit) for the year
from continuing operations 5,906 (487)
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12. #H LIEEM &

(a) #HFEMWE

MR GEM B T B3R ~ 24 W {66 9] B 45 i 15
W1 55622G o 7] (4 8 35 2 7 i 201 K4
P 2 T 5 RAT B AR AR A 2 3 T i 5
LU

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap.622G), are as follows:

Bid W R AR A A
E A it 3k %
Salaries, HHEA  Contribution to A 4
#4  allowances and Discretionary retirement Total
Fee  benefits in kind bonus  benefit schemes emoluments
(H3E) T Tl Tl Tl T
(Note) HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BREZZROE For the year ended
WA=+ HIEEE 30 April 2024
HfES Executive Directors
HEL Tse Fung Chun (i) - 68 - 2 70
it Yang Haijia (i) - 359 - 18 377
EHH Wang Lili (iif) - 64 - 3 67
[ ¥ So Wang Chun, Edmond (iv) - 1,038 - 32 1,070
e R Independent Non-Executive
Directors
& U Law Man Sang (v) 120 - - - 120
A Lam Wai Yu (vi) 84 - - - 84
i % B Lo Ka Ki 180 - - - 180
BHE Gong Qiuyun (vii) - - - - -
A5t Total 384 1,529 - 55 1,968
BT Note:
(i) WERLACHENTESFRY - A -F (i) Mr. Tse Fung Chun resigned as an executive director with effect from 31 May

CEERHA = B A
(i) HEELESHERMTANTESR 5 -F
TEAERHA HMAER

(i) FHHZ LCHEREAPTES 9 -F
SEER S H RO W
ERH T HEHT

(v) MBRZERECBENTEREYE 8 =%
THHE=ZA L HMAER

(v)  EBECEEACEHEMLF AT EE R A
SETAEE A A T H AR

(vi) MBI DO EHEM L F AT EE R A
TERTNE—-H T T HRBAERK-

(vii) BMMELLOHEEERB Y ERTES A
SFR AR A A B AR

2023.

(il)  Mr. Yang Haijia was appointed as an executive director with effect from 2 May 2023.

(iii)  Ms. Wang Lili was appointed as an executive director with effect from 31 May 2023
and resigned on 22 May 2024.

(iv)  Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond resigned as an executive director with effect from 27
March 2024.

V) Mr. Law Man Sang resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect
from 22 July 2024.

(vi)  Ms. Lam Wai Yu resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from
12 January 2024.

(vii)  Ms. Gong Qiuyun was appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect
from 11 April 2024.
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12. =3 KEB M2 w0 12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) EHME (@) (a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Hra o TR BIRAE A
TR RS
Salaries, BG4 Contribution to A4
Wé allowances and Discretionary retirement Total
Fee benefits in kind bonus benefit schemes emoluments
Tt Tt T T#T THT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
REZRO=4 For the year ended
WA = H kAR 30 April 2023
WhES Executive Directors
B, So Yu Shing - 2,182 - - 2,182
Rtk Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca - 1,522 - - 1,522
TLEE Kong Kam Wang - 596 - 9 605
[ Y31 So Wang Chun, Edmond - 696 - 35 731
HEH Tse Fung Chun - 816 68 18 902
BT E Independent Non-Executive
Directors
Bk Law Man Sang 120 - - - 120
MR Lam Wai Yu 120 - - - 120
I % Lo Ka Ki 180 - - - 180
A5t Total 420 5812 68 62 6,362
P 5 - Note:
() BRI LE BT EERE B % (i)  Dr. So Yu Shing resigned as an executive director with effect from 2 May 2023.
TSR H HEAR-
(ii) Rugitht tEWMITRITEFRE A - F (i) Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca resigned as an executive director with effect from 19
ST AT IJLE AR December 2022.
(iii) VLEZELACHMTATERIME . A =% (iii) Mr. Kong Kam Wang resigned as an executive director with effect from 16
SO AT S HRAER - November 2022.
(iv) MEEEAEBRITATHEERE - A % (iv)  Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond resigned as an executive director with effect from 27
“HE=ZA S EHREER- March 2024.
) AEREACBHENATERIRY A -F ) Mr. Tse Fung Chun resigned as an executive director with effect from 31 May
CEERLA=E R EAR 2023.
(vi) EECAEAC BT ERITESY A (vi)  Mr. Law Man Sang resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect
ZERTDAEE A S H AR from 16 July 2024.
(vii) MREW L 1 C BT L JE AT E RS A (vii) Ms. Lam Wai Yu resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect

SERCHE—A T HBAER
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12. #EH LIEBME w0

£y

AR A MATEF KA A A FPATEF X
RS B HR CE AR A W Sy i
SN 4R M B AR 0 ) R KL B 2 R B
A B 2 F At R S P AR PN < R R WA 4
b SR 0 8 S JF AT S P TR A
B AR 2% R 2 B RS i S A o

R TR T HAEN A = H IR E S A
VMG B8 1) 2 3 SO T o 1 2 O HL
NS ) BN A A S [ R ) 25 TR s e 4 1
(ZF =4 o) -

(b) Ttk IE B

BECEENA =+ HIREE BE R
EHMALEEAAR WA (ZF =

VU4 ) B FLI G FEAE RO bk g A B
WERM 20 AFEMRTIMA (ZF =
)V MIEARAFERHIFELTEHITAER

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Director’s remuneration

Fees, salaries, allowances and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive
directors of the Company are generally emoluments paid or receivable in
respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors

of the Company.

During the year ended 30 April 2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office (2023: HK$nil).

(b) Five highest paid employees

During the year ended 30 April 2024, the five highest paid individuals
included two directors of the Company (2023: four), details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements
above. The emoluments of the two (2023: one) remaining individuals who

are neither directors nor chief executives of the Company for the year are as

ZN L ZFHE S T follows:
- e 1! i . —
2024 2023
T T TH#s 7T
HK$’000 HK$’000
i S Ho At AR A Salaries and other benefits 1,556 865
AR RAR B E Contribution to retirements
benefits schemes 18 15
1,574 880

BF=A(CE =8 K)o A L
(MR ) < B an r

The emoluments of the three remaining highest paid individuals (2023: one)

who are not the Directors are within the following band:

TR YA e S
2024 2023
% %1,000,000% JC Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1

7 A4 B2 P AR AR [ NI 0 1) AT el 2 8 AT
i 0. 4% 5 i3 3 I A 2 SASHAE o I 2 4 2 i A
7R A T SO A IR 2 A% i A 2 G A R
S5 SR AT (T 5

The Group did not pay any Directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
any emoluments for inducement to join the Group or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office, and none of the Directors has waived

any emoluments for both years.
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wHAEBMNES w0

(b) hAE=HHGMER (8

ESCHTR AT R e T A B A A
O R B A B T S5 ) R

SO B 8 57 IR AT I S T A B
08 A A RS o

A B 2 T ALY 2 A A I 2 A
S (A B I T 1 55 0 T

ATE AR SR SN A =+ H o M
4 B 5 45 9 95 AT 0L DU B S 2 1 A
Fo i B B T A %t N 2 B MR
N e HoAte 52 5 % B o

A4 s 1R

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as Directors.

Discretionary bonus for Directors and employees were determined with
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, there are no loans, quasi loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of Directors, controlled bodies and corporate
or controlled entities with such directors.

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

FERR RlLRE EE
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
CERCNE CECSE CRCNE CEFCSF SFONE SRS
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Tk T T T T TR
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
AEE R R T & E Loss for the year has been
arrived at after charging:
% S 55 P Auditor’s remuneration
—Fat s - audit service 550 650 - - 550 650
B A S Z A7 B WA Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense 1,715 8,990 - - 1,715 8,990
ok 4 Sub-contracting expense 15,552 58,957 - - 15,552 58,957
AT EFAHG 2 &MERE 2 Fair value loss on financial
AT (EREE assets at FVTPL 6,327 23,109 - - 6,327 23,109
I ENY Y R Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 1,281 2912 - 2 1,281 2,914
AR AT Depreciation of right-of-use assets 81 1,396 - - 81 1,396
s f7 & Write down of inventories - 466 - - - 466
BTHA (BFEEEME) Staff costs including directors’
(B 3E) emoluments (note)
—HAFE A AR X - Basis salaries, bonus, other
SRR R B3R benefits and retirement
benefit scheme contributions 17,142 35918 - 231 17,142 36,149

BsE: B T HUA#17,306,000% 00 (=% - = 4F:
20,341,000%5 7C) T 51 A 8 B A -

126 EE#zRARAR  WLS Holdings Limited

Note: The staff costs of approximately HK$7,306,000 (2023: HK$20,341,000) were
included in the cost of sales.
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14, & IE&&

MEEZAEANANA S ARAE (EBET)
B AR [ 2 ST 5 = 7 KRR B BR AR (5
JBo) A BR 2w~ A R A R 2 B & Suncorp
Investment Holdings Limited ([ 5 /1) (fE&
BT AL E B ek ([E B Hhak]) - AR
O\ AR AR TR R TR O A e A (R R R
BN T KA M A F 2 A AT R
A HR RS B A EHE AR (T80
MtJg AR L HA R ([
W) > AU £5530,000% T ©

WE F - =ZFWH=+HILFE AEH
PR S AR e EA B SR E
#7180,000%5 7G > 7EBE B Oy 0 E A B A
1 497,00095 70 M 7E il E 266 7 T 2B B 4
it 7 4989,0009 I °

B TR TE R 25 40 £5115,000% G -
15. i B

HEHE i 2 & V4EN A =+ H IE4EE R
ARy T 22 3 A I I TR B e IR B S
IR R AR DA B R IR BE AT IS (=
TR ) o

16. % 18

B B 36 A B ¥ 3 i 4R

(a) RAFBERERZILERS

Ay m A N A g T R A 2 48 0 i 4R T AR
PELLE Mo

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 8 August 2022, the Company as vendor entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “S&P Agreement”) with Draco International Investment
(Holding) Limited, Mass Fidelity Consulting Limited and Suncorp Investment
Holdings Limited (the “Buyer”) as purchaser, being independent third parties
of the Group, pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to sell,
and the Buyer conditionally agreed to buy the entire issued share capital of
two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, together with their respective
wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Disposed Subsidiaries”) which were engaged
in the assets management business (the “Disposal”), for a consideration of
approximately HK$530,000.

During the year ended 30 April 2023, the discontinued operation of the Group
generated cashflow of approximately HK$80,000 in respect of operating
activities, generated cashflow of approximately HK$7,000 in respect of
investing activities, and used cashflow of approximately HK$89,000 in respect

of financing activities.

The gain of Disposal was approximately HK$115,000.
15. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company
for the year ended 30 April 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

16. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted loss per share
(a) From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

- Sy 11| S
2024 2023
T# T T
HK$°000 HK$’000
JH DG B I A R T s 1R 2 AR A Loss for the year attributable to
HEA N AL A 4 B2 i 1R owners of the Company,
for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share 11,147 112,384
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16. B8 (@)
A JBE 5 A B ¥ 9 1S 4 ()

() ZRH AR REILERE (8)

16. LOSS PER SHARE (coNTINUED)

Basic and diluted loss per share (Continued)

(a) From continuing and discontinued operations (Continued)

TR IPYAE S
2024 2023
Ji& i B H &y B H
Number Number
of shares of shares
JHRARE 5 4 i 5 A s 8 2 50 IRn RS- 24 B E Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic loss per share 14,367,101,072 14,367,101,072

(b) RAFHLE

0 B MRS A B A 2 5 I A

(b) From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing

T T A 18 T AR DL R BB R operations attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:
2024 2023
T 0 T# T
HK$’000 HK$ 000
A B R AR AR B 1R Loss for the year from continuing
operations 11,147 112,413

MR AEERERE T NER R =4
POH =t H Lk 4 AR OB AT A
A B 4 v e 4 B A S A s 1R R )

(¢) ZRHZKRIEFEZE
BEZ =N A=1+HIFERE K E K
1k 58 4% 7 A AR B R 5 A 10,0002 41l > 5

MRIE AR B # 1k 8848 2 4F B % 1| £929,000% JC
K b CHrseak 2 fEEHE -

128 EmEfzRARAR  WLS Holdings Limited

Diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share because the

Group has no potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 30

April 2024 and 2023.

(¢) From discontinued operation

For the year end 30 April 2023, basic earnings per share from discontinued

operation was HK$0.0002 cents per share, which were calculated based on the

profit from discontinued operation for the year of approximately HK$29,000

and the denominators detailed above.
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17. P2 ~ W Br Je at i 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
i %E
AR Tk
SEE TH B3 f Furniture,
i T e 25 i1 Gondolas T fixtures
Plantand  Metaltubes  and related Motor and it
machinery  and catwalks equipment vehicles equipment Total

Fibx Tk Tk Tk Tk Fibx
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000

ﬁUﬁ Cost
zijﬁﬂ A—=H At 1 May 2022 912 27,033 5,607 3,802 13,015 50,369
Additions - 1,189 - - 14 1,203
$§1% AfERERE Transfer from right-of-use assets - - - 667 - 667
hE Disposals - (27,080 (7 (1,589) - (28,676)
Written off - - - - (52) (52)
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023
912 1,142 5,600 2,880 129717 23511
Additions - - - - 21 21
Disposals - - - (192) - (100)
REZWERAZTA At 30 April 2024 912 1,142 5,600 2,780 12,998 2343
?ﬁg Depreciation
AR ZERA-H At 1 May 2022 784 23,786 4546 2,882 6,568 38,566
B Provided for the year 64 603 462 420 1,365 2914
aRAfRRELE Transfer from right-of-use assets - - - 489 - 489
TBR 8 R L (A Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 64 940 597 678 197 2476
t ‘%7‘# ] Eliminated on disposals - (24,187) (5) (1,589) - (25,181)
fii Eliminated on written off - - - - (33) (33)
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023
- 912 1,142 5,600 2,880 8,097 18,631
N Provided for the year - - - - 1,281 1,281
HEWR Eliminated on disposals - - - (192) - (100)
REZNERAZTA At 30 April 2024 912 1,142 5,600 2,780 9,378 19812
W Carrying amounts
RZBZNENA=TH At 30 April 2024 - - - - 3,620 3,620
REZBZZFNAZTH At30 April 2023 - - - - 4880 4880

A Gy FRAEAE WA WF 5 > A B 2 R In view of there are impairment indicators noted from segments, the Group
T % Al A0 A8 ) RE T AT (R R A o BT performed impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and
SRR B 03 T ok B A B P (R T 2 right-of-use assets. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less

W e costs of disposal and value in use.

BEZERCFNA=ZTHIEFEE ¥ MK For the year ended 30 April 2023, the recoverable amount of property, plant
o B A 0 08 P RE B T i [ 4 RIS R and equipment and right-of-use assets are lower than the carrying amount,
TAE > P02 ~ s B 5 A R i RE O 7 20 Al impairment loss of approximately HK$2,476,000 and HK$2,024,000 were
2 39 M 8298 445 492,476,000 JT 22,024,000 provided to property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.
T ©

BE RN A =+ B R4 R For the year ended 30 April 2024, no reversal of and provision for impairment
{H 55 Tﬁﬁ’i‘ ] J2 w42 A loss were provided.
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18. 1 FH BE &

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

ilseiES e At
Lease properties Motor vehicles Total
ZEYE RIS ZENE ey RN CERCZAE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Tt T T Tk T Tl
HKS$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$000
RHEA—H At 1 May
R Carrying amount - 1,430 - 2,168 - 3,598
RUA=Z1H At 30 April
Y T £ Carrying amount 291 - - - 291 -
BEMAZ+HIEEE For the year ended 30 April
HE Depreciation charge 81 854 - 542 81 1,396
REMAEHRZEN Expenses relating to short-term leases 971 2417 - - 971 2417
HEZ B &R 8 Total cash outflow for leases 1,141 5,165 - 678 1,141 5,843
REGRERE Additions to right-of-use assets 32 - - - 3 -
BREENERF L Transfer to property, plant and equipment - - - 178 - 178
EL TR 60 (FL B 4 Impairment loss recognised - 576 - 1,448 - 2,04

AR A A A BE oy P A B A R
B e 0 AH 5 A0 > B R an AL S A B T SE 0 IR
BB (CF = B =F) oA E
V] 1 768 7 AHL 309 S W ik A T SR B S BR Ry > R
JH A #0 B S 220 TR 7E 5 ) T B AR AT A ST

iR

A A T A N B R o R R S U A R o
CERCNUERCEC=ZHENA=ZTHEH
A B0 AL A B ) B SR A RH < A B B
S AE b 3C R 45 1 U B B A A A A

AR TP R SR T EENA = E A
A 19 57 0 T 58 AR B AR K 9 AL o A B ek I
S it 0 A A A4 T o AS 2 R R ek AR AT
i 2 JIE 4= B A 1k BE R o

19. R &2 5w Z B

A 4L B it — M A 4 /A §] Favourite Number
Limited (— [ i 3 Ji 4 8 o0 B 55 ([ 00 ) 4 17
R ) GEM AR AR FEA43% (ZF
TS 43% ) AR RE £ BB A 43950
(F€7cl) (335W T ) - MIE G & A
i o AN A B B ) — 44 I R AL [R] 1 A A D
WA R R - R A A A i #E
FOPER EF EZEPNA =+ B IEEE
& B b 2 > OIS A BB R B R S
N B B R
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For current year, the Group leases offices and warehouses for its operations.
Except for short-term leases, lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one to three years (2023: one to three years). In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

Leases committed

The Group entered into short-term leases for offices and warehouses. As at
30 April 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term expense included in
rental and related expenses and disclosed in above.

As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, the Group has no lease with variable lease
payment. The lease agreements do not impose any extension or termination
options which are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessors.

19. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE

The Group holds 43% (2023: 43%) equity interest with investment cost of
United States Dollar (“US$”) US$43 (equivalent to HK$335) in a joint venture
named Favourite Number Limited, which is a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). Based on the joint venture agreement, the
Group and another shareholder jointly control over the financial and operating
policy of the joint venture. No financial information of the joint venture has
been disclosed in these consolidation financial statements as the joint venture
did not commence business during the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023.
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20. %A A EF A\ H At 4 T U 20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

fn Z B i T H
SR —ZE-=
2024 2023
Tt THsTT
HK$’000 HK$°000
AW BT AR R Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 1,142 2,225
Ve A R AT A L RIHE Analysed for reporting purposes as:
IE B K Non-current assets 1,142 2,225

B BT A BB A T A
ZERERRMARBANT A -EHD
RS % A TR ACE R E B AP R

The following listed equity investments represent ordinary shares of entities
listed in Hong Kong. These investments are held for long-term strategic

purposes. The Directors have elected to designate these investments as equity

A At 2 T 45 o

(B R A Al 2 T i g 2 HE 4R TR R
U

instruments at FVTOCI.

The details of the equity instruments at FVTOCI are as follows:

RE-FINE OR-E=
WA=+H WA =+H
As at As at
e 0% P A Al 2 i e A 2 4 e 30 April 30 April
Financial asset at FVTOCI 2024 2023
REORTNE R OFEE
WH=1H WH=1+H
P WA RO A
Number of Number of
shares held shares held
as at as at 2P NFE
30 April 2024 30 April 2023 Fair value Fair value
BB Tt T Tl Tt
Investments ’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TR A A PR A T+ 9,338 9,338 729 1,597
Capital VC Limited
T AR FRCAT R A ) 2,285 2,285 413 628
KPM Holding Limited
1,142 2,225

AR E AR A = H kAR B A 4R
HaZSEn THZBRERA(ZE =
U I0) ©

v

No dividend income from these equity instruments during the year ended 30

April 2024 (2023: HK$nil).

*  For identification purposes only
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21. JE W B KA E 21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
ZE Y oEF =

2024 2023

Tkt T e

HK$’000 HK$’000

R g 2k B A B, Loan and interest receivables 720,251 684,439
W A5 Bl TR A Less: Allowance for credit losses (264,089) (240,051)
456,162 444,388

A AR (8] R g ] S ) 2R T ) A R L B S The exposure of the Group’s fixed rate loan receivables to interest rate risks

HEHBMAMT and their contractual maturity dates are as follows:
RN —ERC=
2024 2023
T#0 T
HK$’000 HKS$’000
— 4 A B W 3E Amounts fall due within one year 214,257 418,061
55— A A AR N B e Amounts fall due within one to second year 241,905 26,327
456,162 444,388
AR H A JRE R S R R AL A At the reporting date, loan and interest receivables consisted of:
e <y 111K SRR
2024 2023
Tt T#IT
HK$°000 HK$°000
DLIE OR AN AEHEAT 2 46 31 Amounts secured with guarantor - 96,557
DLRE J VR4 2 &80 (B GE) Amounts secured with securities (note) 86,883 142,274
A AT 2 230 Amounts unsecured 369,279 205,557
456,162 444,388
BEGE A BB 2 A W 2 B BT A W 2 A e 5% Note: The securities are ordinary shares of companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
EHHNTHELELK1,612,000% T (—F The fair value of these securities were approximately HK$111,612,000 (2023:
T4 255,650,000 T o HK$255,650,000).
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21, R E A B )

AR YA H = A H o AR S R
TR B A L5 7 s O O TR T AR
%9 %535,090,000%5 70 ( =& = = 4F 1 38,726,000
W5 I0) 1Y U R 3 R 495,969,000 76 (
F =4 125,185,000 JT) € ) k30
H > #14,929,000 70 (% = =4 F i 0)
O A 30 H {H AN B 90 H > #7821,000%

SRS FEo0) O Ao H H
DIR180H > £119,539,000% T ( —F — =
W o0) O 180 H A DN 147 » K &Y
3,832,000 9T ( =& = =4F : 13,541,0004% 75)
Cs 14 - 58 > @ W 30 A 1
JE IR R B R B 2 A5 AR ) OKE E T R
5 L3 0 AR AO0 B A M i 4 3K B B B B AR A
O A5 AR e -

T TDUAE DD B A H O RE B R A B
ﬁﬁﬁ{a@%%aﬂa%EﬁE%‘{%MMOSQOOO
#on (ZF Z =4 1 240,051,000 7T )

PEE R AN A =R
A5 3K IR S A BT 49 7 A B I a2 B A R SR
BN PRAFETEERE (R S F7EE
40.6J% )

21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 30 April 2024, included in the Group’s loan and interest receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$35,090,000 (2023: HK$38,726,000) which are past due as at the reporting
date, of which approximately HK$5,969,000 (2023: HK$25,185,000) has been
past due less than 30 days, approximately HK$4,929,000 (2023: HK$Nil)
has been past due more than 30 days but less than 90 days, approximately
HK$821,000 (2023: HK$Nil) has been past due more than 90 days but less
than 180 days, approximately HK$19,539,000 (2023: HK$Nil) has been past
due more than 180 days but less than 1 year, and approximately HK$3,832,000
(2023: HK$13,541,000) has been past due more than 1 year. The Directors
consider credit risks of loan and interest receivables that are past due more
than 30 days have increased significantly and those past due more than 90

days are considered as credit-impaired.

Included in the carrying amount of loan and interest receivables as at 30
April 2024 is accumulated allowance for credit losses of approximately
HK$264,089,000 (2023: HK$240,051,000).

During the year ended 30 April 2024, loan and interest receivables were
charged on fixed interest rate mutually agreed between the contracting parties,
ranging from 7% to 22% (2023: 7% to 40.6%) per annum.
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TEAT K IH ~ %2 K A W
X JH

22.

T AR ~ S AR ORI 2 REB AR

22.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Details of prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:

R Y4 —E =
2024 2023
Tt TH T
HK$°000 HK$°000
T AT Prepayments 4,563 4,801
e Deposits 1,371 1,338
T Ath, Wi 2 IE Other receivables 6,145 3,513
12,079 9,652
fEiE Ao AL NIHE Analysed for reporting purpose as:
F s G E Non-current assets 1,144 1,111
I ) Current assets 10,935 8,541
12,079 9,652
Fifak: A =& ZMER R Z4AFWA =+ 057 Note: As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, all of the other receivables are interest free,
A At o T A G S~ R I 2 e B SR unsecured and repayment on demand. The bank balances carry interest at rates
8 5% o SRAT &5 % 1 A R A F0% £0.88% ( ranging from 0% to 0.88% (2023: 0% to 0.45%).
T 0% 2£0.45%) FHE -
23. JBE Wk wk 23. TRADE RECEIVABLES
TR Y4 —E =
2024 2023
T# T T#IT
HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 45 JE T A5 JE iR 3R Trade receivables from
— Py A R A TR R 4L $5 - — Scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary
W G R H A il B IR 5 () services for construction and buildings
work (note) 36,054 35,306
W A Bl T Less: Allowance for credit losses (1,453) (1,735)
34,601 33,571

134 Em#ziARAR  WLS Holdings Limited




23.

Wt

[

B 7 S 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JRE WL B K ()

b AR R TR SR A AR R e

o FE AU Sl B B 1 1) 45 4 A 5 R S R 2 A
R TG AR B8 AT R B B R RT WD 2 A Bk
T 42 A1 o 7 3% 30 A 7 9 5 M R A B
s B2 i A 2 MEWSUR SR IR B8 20 AT 4

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (conTINUED)

Note: The credit terms given to each individual customer of scaffolding, fitting out and

other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work were in accordance
with the payment terms stipulated in the relevant tenders or contracts. The ageing
analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of allowance for credit losses is as follows:

TR YA e S S

2024 2023

Tt ERP

HK$’000 HK$’000

90 H A Within 90 days 18,415 22,793
91%180H 91 to 180 days 2,907 5,961
1812365 H 181 to 365 days 10,471 3,884
R R 1A Over 1 year 2,808 933
34,601 33,571

AR TPUAE D A = H o AR S R R R
AR AL FE N IR H ) 8 Y AR e AR A
£516,240,000%5 76 ( % = = 4£ 110,778,000
e 0 ) 1 A R R o A R AR Cm S R R £
2,808,000 7C ( %% — = 4F : 933,000% 70) C.
J ) R AT o A A T I AN R G GE AN SRR
AT HE A 5

AL — 10 H T 5 T60%90 H 15 £ -
ATE DN R CF T SAFENA = H R
S [E] 7 0 5 W B R A AT ] S T 2 9
i 8 A 6 38 5 5 e > T iR KRS Wiz BOR
o

As at 30 April 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$16,240,000 (2023:
HK$10,778,000), which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, approximately HK$2,808,000 (2023: HK$933,000) has been past due

more than 1 year. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group usually grants customers credit period from 60 to 90 days. The Group
did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements over the
trade receivables as at 30 April 2024 and 2023 and no interest is charged on trade
receivables.
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24. HHIERE 24. CONTRACT ASSETS
WZRIPE S A SF =
MA=+H WA =+H
At 30 April At 30 April
2024 2023
T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
2 H 2 4 B i TR R R e Contract assets from scaffolding,
P A~ RS 2 15 B B 1t ol Bl R B 0 fitting out and other auxiliary services
HHE B for construction and buildings works
Gy KT 2 T - Analysed as current:
AP E 55 (M5Ea) Unbilled revenue (note a) 2,610 4,250
ME W AR [E 4 (Bff 55D ) Retention monies receivables (note b) 5,053 5,850
7,663 10,100

it

Notes:

(a) AR EE ok B B AR 1 A SE s E o2 T (a)
AHL 1 A BR R AR A B AR A R > iR 2
HBIMER R F T EMAEEERN 54T
FEA% J7 n] VB ELA B TR 28 48 % 5 sl o0 )
BT R o A A0 MR R SR AR (3
WAL R T SR RmIREC % T
B H) TR B R WS I ) A 2 MR AR K

(b) A AT A B R (] A A ) S B (b)
0 BRI 5 ZE A R A ORG24 R b i B
I 5 < #4013 0 M S o SR T <
PR ) 12 2 0 A0 1 IS 03 2 R WS A o B Wi R
W] < 7% R A ~ 5 E D B I 8 1l 7 &4 R B 3
A 9 465 R R i (o] o A B [ 7 90 5% 46 45 0 45

A7 AE T HE A o

AEEBZEGHEEBRRBEE T
FhT 7 A S T 300 8 JFG I 7 0 T 5 B

GHEE-

R W B RT AL R O R4
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Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to
receive consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the contract work completed
by the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the customers or
external surveyors. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed contract work from the customers or
external surveyors.

Retention monies receivables included in contract assets represents amounts not
yet billed to customers which is conditional until the expiry of defect liability
period in respect of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services contracts.
The retention receivables are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. Retention monies receivables are unsecured, interest-free
and recoverable at the end of the defect liability period of individual contracts.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group

expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note 41.
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25. 8 25. INVENTORIES
2024 2023
Tt AR P
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
JE A R Raw materials 343 477
26. %2 AL AR £ 2 5 il 26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
¥ 7
e <y 111 Fi e e
2024 2023
T T oo
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FefE BB AW LT RS R S Hong Kong listed equity securities held for trading 47,661 45,271
s R o AL R IHE - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
LR < Yz Current assets 47,661 45271

FHTEHENATEIIREFBE R TS EA The fair values of listed securities are based on the bid prices quoted in active

{8 i 7E markets in Hong Kong.
27. SRATHI AR R Bl & 27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
SRAT &5 R K TR B G A 4R B T 2 B A Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short term bank
A A 25 =8 A 5L 2 B ERAT A7 deposit with an original maturity of three months or less.
28. JE Ak Bk B B At W o 3k JH 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2024 2023
Tt TH#IT
HK$’000 HK$’000
JEAT IR (Kt ika) Trade payables (note a) 8,933 10,751
HoAth JEE AT IE (B ¥ D) Other payables (note b) 28,085 19,815
JE 5T 2 Accruals 3,709 4,409
T WA < 4 Provision for long service payment 186 -
40,913 34,975
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28. T A5k M sk B G th W Ao 3K I ()
B

(@ LU 2% B 5 RN 2 A AR 95 9 5 )

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTINUED)

Notes:

(a) The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables to trade creditors based on

1) BR B 43 T - the invoice date:
— A e i
2024 2023
Tt T-#5 70
HK$’000 HKS$’000
90H A Within 90 days 1,342 4,513
91%180H 91 to 180 days 39 762
1812365 H 181 to 365 days 2,383 4,462
8 i 1 47 Over | year 5,169 1,014
8,933 10,751

A AR R Z P E BN 30K EIOK -
AR [ E i S0 R B B BORE  HEAR BT A
B ASF S T B0 R O

(b) A HoAth FE AT ZCHE A (1) 913,550,000 76 (-
T 4E 112,500,0009 98) B HE AT — [ B
AAF —ZEFE (ZEFPD T FA
H = H BEAT) A 0 B A J Y ERE (i)
#12,400,000% 7T ( =& = = 4F : 2,400,000
JC) AN F — A EE (ZEFN F
TSR A TOH BEAR) MR KA S (i) £
3,470,000% 7& ( % — = 4F 13,270,000
JC) BEM AN — B EE (GEER F
T TA T IUH BT BRI S K Giv) B
5,421,000% 70 ( —F =4 Bk oT) A REAT
A ) — U] B B A F — 44 HE I K BE AR B Y

P 4 5 308 B G A4 S
R -

29. & E M A A 1

BTN E —F INER —F = A
= H AR AR R R TS A A 4R 4 TR
e MR EZAF A A AR B A B Al R RE
AT 2 75 T A A 38 788 A2 1 AR I R TE N A
% 55 G 4 I EE A Y e v SR A IR 4 o
AEMERBERE R _FNENA =+
AN A 28 G FE A B A I 46 B R B AL

M E BN A EERZEGHHTZA
RO S A A w o 5% 5F & B 1 R R Bl R
AT IR B R 5 B R EK
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The average credit period ranged from 30 days to 90 days. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled
within the credit timeframe.

(b)  Included in other payables, (i) approximately HK$13,550,000 (2023:
HK$12,500,000) was amount due to a related company, owned by a director of
the Company who resigned on 2 May 2022; (ii) approximately HK$2,400,000
(2023: HK$2,400,000) was the patent amount payable to a director of the
Company who resigned on 2 May 2023; (iii) approximately HK$3,470,000 (2023:
HK$3,270,000) was amount due to a director of the Company who resigned on
19 December 2022; and (iv) approximately HK$5,421,000 (2023: HK$nil) was
amount due to a family member of a director of a subsidiary of the Company.

All of other payables are interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

29. PROVISION FOR ONEROUS CONTRACTS

The provision was made for onerous contracts for construction services
during the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023. Under these contracts, the
management of the Group estimates the unavoidable cost of meeting the
obligations will exceed the economic benefits expected to be derived from
the revenue generated by these contracts. The management of the Group is
of opinion that there is no significant variation in unavoidable costs as at 30
April 2024.

The provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability
under these contracts. These amounts have not been discounted for the
purposes of measuring the provision for onerous contracts, because the effect
is not material.
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30. XA 30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

“E g —E =
2024 2023
T# oo T T
HK$’000 HKS$’000
A6 Ay SR R A LR PR R A B Amounts due to customers of scaffolding,
P~ RG  15 B Al il B AR B 14 fitting out and other auxiliary services for
JRE A % 5 K IE construction and buildings work
I3 AT By T ) Analysed as current 2,847 13,373
T I A AR B O R 0 N A T R A 4 Contract liabilities which are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% (JILEJE fg

operating cycle, are classified as current.

GHEaEEHINT The movements in contract liabilities are as follows:
R4 —EC=H
2024 2023
Tt T#: T
HK$’000 HK$’000
WHH—H At 1 May 13,373 17,288
PR A 4 A TE BRI A WD T A A #1 B 2 Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
W ts TR B A #H AR D recognising revenue during the year that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (10,526) (17,288)
PR PSR T B 2 A A AR Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing
AL FE 7 A A BE T AR B W A in advance, excluding those recognised as
revenue in the current year - 13,373
wrH=+H At 30 April 2,847 13,373

0 OG0 R B — R s

%JWT-

T B TR T ARAR GO AR R - KR R

L fth talf 9 Mk B5

il A 4 T s 2485 ) B 4y i B FE 0 5 OB
- BLER I T A A B O IR
EAﬁﬁﬁfa  H & M B A W R i f R

A5 3 S B 4 R

R G BRI

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work

When the Group receives upfront payment or cash advances from its
customers before the construction activity commences, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the

relevant contract exceeds the amount of the cash advance.
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ME AR

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

R4 I —
2024 2023
T# T T#IT
HK$’000 HK$’000
JEASH AR B & i Lease liabilities payable:
—4R Within one year 663 1,027
e — A > {H S A AR 2 0 i Within a period of more than one year
but not more than two years 244 352
R A8 T AT o (HLAS R 2 T AR 22 S0 T Within a period of more than two years
but not more than five years - 243
907 1,622
BB AKE T IRz Less: Amounts due for settlement within one year
JRE A — AF IR 5 55 2 B shown under current liabilities (663) (1,027)
FMBEFIE TR Amounts due for settlement after one year shown
JRE 7 — AP 1% & 0 2 3KOA under non-current liabilities 244 595
At ff B 32. OTHER BORROWINGS
—ER Y4 —E =
2024 2023
T# 5t T
HK$’000 HK$’000
5 75 I H A 1 £ Bonds and other borrowing 148,448 123,879
B BB A Less: classified to current liabilities (148,348) (120,563)
I i B F 1R Non-current liabilities 100 3,316

R FEZPAENH =+ EI ol R 5 BB A R
BT RS (& =4 5) A EATE:

(a) AAFPZFE—MENAZHBAE
{8 %520,000,000% G ~ 22 B £46.5/E 2 W
AEH R EE IR LT A 5 o B AT R R
5459.73% o A8 F) M AE I B A n] i
FBE4T B =M A & KB H AT E
SR P2 T ] A BE A R o i & 0 AR
A=+H> %#%Eﬁﬁ%ummmo
Moo (& = 4F 022,601,000 T )

ATENENA =+ H FEHE#E
B B AT R &3

(b) AXNAR-F—FNHA+I/NHEBT
T {8 /45,000,000% 7C~ Z B A 11E 2 W
AR R SR b T A S o B R AT R R
$49.33% ° AN\ M AR SRR A N n] i &
#%&"H%ﬁi%ﬁlﬁfﬁ&ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%
SR 2 AT B R A B AR o By 111 K S
A=+H> E#EEE{EZ%%% 108,000%
gt (& =4 15,971,000 00) o A
T PR A =+ H o BEAHE S E
KAy A 55 7 -
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As at 30 April 2024, WLS Holdings Limited issued 5 (2023: 5) coupon bonds
as follows:

(a)

(b)

A 2-year 6.5% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$20,000,000 was issued by the Company on 3 June 2021. The
effective interest rate is 9.73% per annum. The Company and the
bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after three
months of the issuance date of the bond and before the maturity date.
As at 30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond is approximately
HK$24,245,000 (2023: HK$22,601,000). As at 30 April 2024, the bond
payables were matured and remain unsettled.

A 2-year 11% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$5,000,000 was issued by the Company on 18 August 2021. The
effective interest rate is 9.33% per annum. The Company and the
bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one month
of the issuance date of the bond and before the maturity date. As at
30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond is approximately
HK$6,108,000 (2023: HK$5,971,000). As at 30 April 2024, the bond
payables were matured and remain unsettled.
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H At 5 B m)

() AAFR_FE—FENH+ /BT
T8 {H £55,000,000%5 7C ~ 5% 8 66,58 2 W
AR R IR LTI A A SR o BB AR R
759.33% o AR\ T I F HE A N AT R
AT B O — 0 A 1% R B A A
SRR I A B AR S o Y S AR Y
H =10 &7 R {E 7 %5,965,000%
J6 (& = 4F 1 5,570,000% 0 ) © i
FPIEN A =+ H o EAHESR T FY
BAPy R 4 i o

(d ERARKRE - FE=ZA =05
17 T {A £53,000,0003 It ~ 2 5 56,51 2
T AF 8 S IR b T S o BT AR R
RINT.67% - Kl RfEHR 2 EH A
AR BT 288 5 R i S 0 o 7 R PO AR Y
A =10 &5 MR E 5 #3,431,000%
JG (0 TU=A4F 13,216,000 00) o Y
FOPAENA =+ 1 BEAHE ST
KA A5 -

(e) $“7% FOHFMA LA
A7 1 E £55,800,000% € ~ 22 8. 56,58 >
ﬂ@%uT#Lm A F o BT AR A
RIN8.32% o A w] R AE S FEA AT
ff F5 #5147 A — 18 H & & 21 B §r
TR P M A B S o S AR
WH=+H: ﬁ#%ﬁﬁﬁ%m&mm
ot (& = =4F 1 6,168,000% 7T )

AR TIUAE A = B AR A A ]
EEME AR EBEEARAF ([&8)
BEATLL M4 ( SR T =4 3) B A

(i) EBHR_FE_FFTH=+—HEET
AR 42 % F542,000,000% 7T - Z B B8JE 2
TR B BB S > HTy B AR s T A 2
PRAVE SR o 4230 A 4 3 ZE i 3 1 A 18
o AN T MR I A N AR R R B AT
FHA = R H % 2R 4 i M ol A B 1
FoH E A A —-HEfIRKE
PR 256.5% - AR BE E TR B R 1B
Bk R A e IF B R o AR R R R 1R
#%Eﬁ%ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁfﬁ
1 3 4 U R BLE /N R 10% © B I i B
&H%%Liﬁ#%ﬁ%%%ﬂ%%
ﬁﬂ? o A:EQM$MHi+

;44$¢ﬁmwm$m

32. OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(c) A 2-year 6.5% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$5,000,000 was issued by the Company on 18 August 2021. The
effective interest rate is 9.33% per annum. The Company and the
bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one month
of the issuance date of the bond and before the maturity date. As at
30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond is approximately
HK$5,965,000 (2023: HK$5,570,000). As at 30 April 2024, the bond
payables were matured and remain unsettled.

(d) A 2-year 6.5% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$3,000,000 was issued by the Company on 23 March 2022. The
effective interest rate is 7.67% per annum. No early redemption option
for both the Company and the bondholder of the bond. As at 30 April
2024, the carrying amount of the bond is approximately HK$3,431,000
(2023: HK$3,216,000). As at 30 April 2024, the bond payables were
matured and remain unsettled.

(e) A 5-year 6.5% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$5,800,000 was issued by the Company on 27 April 2022. The
effective interest rate is 8.32% per annum. The Company and the
bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one month
of the issuance date of the bond and before the maturity date. As at
30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond is approximately
HK$6,168,000 (2023: HK$6,168,000).

As at 30 April 2024, Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued 4 (2023: 3) coupon
bonds as follows:

(i)  Gold Medal issued a 5-year 8% coupon bond in the principal amount
of HK$42,000,000 on 31 October 2020 which were secured by the
Company’s corporate guarantee. The whole principal amount is
repayable at the date of its maturity. The Company and the bondholder
may request early redemption of the bond after 3 months of the issuance
date of the bond. The interest rate has been changed to 6.5% since 1
February 2022. The modification of interest rate was considered as non-
substantial under quantitative test, in which the net present value of
the cash flow under the new terms discounted at the original effective
interest rate for the remaining cash flow of the bond period is less
than 10%. Therefore, the adjustment of the above amendment to the
carrying amount of the bond was recognised in profit or loss at the date
of modification. As at 30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond is
approximately HK$43,138,000 (2023: HK$40,643,000).
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32. H i B (w0

(i) wEN_F—IJLFETHZNH LT
i {E £520,000,000%5 It ~ 5% & /48,5 2
SHEMEEE E A S A
I AL A FEYE AR VR HRAT o AN F K (R I Hr
AN NE ST H R =M HEE
SRARHTE M A B SR B —F 4

H—H# F %R E Bl H6.5% - MU 41
B L@ Esa el #—%
M E —F EEFA T EH R
T ZAENA A UH R A
MEZF LA AZHER (HAig
O A 5 W) o AR PR T B A 2R O
ISEE’W‘EM&’ 20 8 I EE M - AR R B
T Ao 3 > A8 5 B 00 ) % B 4 U R UE R
I AT B B4 I BLE DR 10% e
Rt #E - F - WHFEMNA =+ H1EF
FE B B A S IR S BT
i 7 1E 25 e BRI £E 491,093,000 T ©
W E AR A =+ H - &SR
{8 £ #120,497,0008 70 ( & — =4
19,964,000 7T )

(i) EBR_F_FENH FRNHETZ
T {5 %5 18,000,000 It 19 4 & 95 4 1%
Ko h ZEFZ=FIILA R AR
R OEUENA =+ B EHER
{8 % #118,000,000% 7T ( —F — =
18,000,000 7T ) ° i+ — & — M 4 W A
= H o EAME S B R AR AT

(v) &8k -F =44 tH+H®7EHE
£518,000,000% 7T ~ 5% 2 £5 8 2 T 4F: HA
B bl K54 Al 4
SENERAEIR I o A S BH N 2 1 A 5
o AN T AR SRR A N TR S S AT
H AL = 4% 22 oKk 4% A 5 [0 A B 1
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BT 185559 o A =
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32. OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(i1)) A 3-year 8.5% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$20,000,000 was issued by Gold Medal on 28 October 2019 which
were secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee. The Company
and the bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after
3 months of the issuance date of the bond. The interest rate has been
changed to 6.5% since 1 February 2022. There is amendment of 4-year
coupon unlisted straight bonds has been further extended to 27 October
2027 with the effective dated on 29 August 2023. The bond is extended
to 27 October 2027 with no change in other terms. The modification of
repayment term was considered as non-substantial under quantitative
test, in which the net present value of the cash flow under the new tenor
of the bond discounted at the original effective interest rate for the
remaining cash flows of the bond period is less than 10%. Therefore,
the adjustment of the amendment to the carrying amount of the bond is
recognised approximately gain of HK$1,093,000 in profit or loss at the
date of modification during the year ended 30 April 2024. As at 30 April
2024, the carrying amount of the bond is approximately HK$20,497,000
(2023: HK$19,964,000).

(iii) A surety bond of HK$18,000,000 issued by Gold Medal was issued
on 16 September 2020 with no interest bearing which was due on 15
September 2023. As at 30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond
is approximately HK$18,000,000 (2023: HK$18,000,000). As at 30
April 2024, the bond payables were matured and remain unsettled.

(iv) A 2-year 8% coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$18,000,000 was issued by Gold Medal on 10 July 2023 which were
secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee. The principal amount is
repayable at the date of its maturity. The Company and the bondholder
may request early redemption of the bond after 3-month of the issuance
date of the bond. As at 30 April 2024, the carrying amount of the bond
is approximately HK$19,168,000.

All bonds were unsecured.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the directors of the Company
having made all reasonable enquiries, all bondholders are an independent third

parties not connected with the Company and its connected person.

As at 30 April 2024, the another borrowings of the Group is approximately
HK$1,728,000 (2023: HK$1,746,000). The other borrowings are unsecured,
interest free and repayable by installment and on demand.
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33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

TR Y = e

2024 2023

Tt F i oe

HKS$’000 HKS$’000

I SIE Bl T Deferred tax assets - 6,527
W5 AE B TH & fiK Deferred tax liabilities (459) (694)
(459) 5,833

B A A B A AR A T R A B N RE 2
EIEBLIHE R/ (i) 88

Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group during
the current and prior years are as follows:

& g £ 7k K
Bz EH
o 32 At e B 5 i 0 s 4 958
Accelerated ECL provision of
Bt Je s 8 tax  loan and interest M5t
Tax losses depreciation receivables Total
T T T T T TH#ETT
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000
RoF - HEAH—H At 1 May 2022 123 (1,063) 6,286 5,346
R (FUBR) FEA (Charged)/credited to profit
(BsELL) or loss (note 11) (123) 610 - 487
WZEZ=AENA=+H At 30 April 2023 and
Mo FE=FERA—H 1 May 2023 - (453) 6,286 5,833
MBE (F1FR) FEA (Charged)/credited to profit
(BfFRELL) or loss (note 11) - 987 (6,286) (5,299)
F6F & 2 ] R el 2 De-registration of
subsidiaries - (993) - (993)
MZEZEENA =+H At 30 April 2024 - (459) - (459)

B AEN A =+ H > AL A A
A HE 8 R A e A R SR B OB R A 2
168,267,670 G ( % — = 4F : 161,874,000
JG) o H R R A i A AR IR 2 S AR A Ho
#1168,267,670#5 o6 ( & — —4F : 161,874,000
st ) 1 A E RR A R AL Bl JH B o R B T BL
TH B 18 £9168,267,6708 o0 ( % — =
161,874,000 7T ) 7 41 B 109 4 i o

T B R 5 A A (9 A B A R B R R
2 TA A AE £ 18 13 A A BE 0 ok HE BB T 0 Bl
BT I 2% 4 £9264,089,000% T ( & =
84,555,000 70 ) o A< 5 [ i A< 4F B Sl 40 e 52
L fth 08 4E B TE G 0 2 R AR SR TR W AR
A B A E SR R DL B 5% 45 AT 0 B R 2
%Eo

At 30 April 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately
HK$168,267,670 (2023: HK$161,874,000) that are available to offset against
future profits, of which amounts of approximately HK$168,267,670 (2023:
HK$161,874,000) have not been recognised as deferred tax assets because
of the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unused tax losses of
approximately HK$168,267,670 (2023: HK$161,874,000) may be carried
forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unrecognised deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$264,089,000 (2023:
HK$84,555,000) in relation to ECL provision of loan and interest receivables.
The Group has not recognised other deferred tax assets in the current year, as
they are not probable that the Group can generate additional taxable profit to

utilise these deductible temporary differences.
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34. A 34. SHARE CAPITAL
i f SR SR I (B e S S ECEHE
Par value 2024 2024  Par value 2023 2023
LW Jie % Tt P i T T
HK$ No. of shares HK$’000 HK$ No. of shares HK$°000
B Authorised
MHEA—HEMA="+H  AtlMay and 30 April 0.01  40,000,000,000 400,000 0.01  40,000,000,000 400,000
BT R Issued and fully paid
MHEA—HKMA=1+H  Atl May and 30 April 0.01 14,367,101,072 143,670 0.01 14,367,101,072 143,670
35. A2 W MR B & 35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
AR 28w i R 2 IR DL R & OB Information about the statement of financial position of the
mE: Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
- =S 11 3 i
2024 2023
Tt T 7T
HK$’000 HK$’000
I B & E Non-current assets
VI ENS &) Property and equipment - -
A B s 7 2 G Investments in subsidiaries 396 396
396 396
B A Current assets
TEAT BT ~ 412 4 B H Ath JE i 3 T Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 415 462
IR W B B 2 ) kI Amounts due from subsidiaries 150,627 151,222
SRAT 45 B Bank balances 282 2,665
151,324 154,349
it B £ 1% Current liabilities
JREAST B Jog 2 ] ik 1A Amounts due to subsidiaries 20,531 20,789
A AT R I Other payables 515 157
HoAth 1 B Other borrowings 45,917 40,310
66,963 61,256
it Bh B RS A Net current assets 84,361 93,093
HE E W B AL Total assets less current liabilities 84,757 93,489
I i B A 1% Non-current liabilities
HoAth 1 £ Other borrowings - 3,216
B pE Total net assets 84,757 90,273
Ji A B fits Capital and reserves
J A Share capital 143,670 143,670
fiti i (B5E) Reserves (note) (58,913) (53,397)
HE £ 48 %1 Total equity 84,757 90,273
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35. A2 W) IR B () 35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Bk 5« AR F A 2 MR AR Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
i 0 16 B BB R BitER
Share Contributed Accumulated k]
premium surplus losses Total
T#T T T T
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
R-BZZHEHLA—H At 1 May 2022 560,230 191,087 (789,537) (38,220)
N ZEVETFRIE L Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - (15,177) (15,177)
RERZZHNAZTAR At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023
ZREZEAA—H 560,230 191,087 (804,714) (53,397)
AAERE R E R T Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - (5,516) (5,516)
RERZMENA=+H At 30 April 2024 560,230 191,087 (810,230) (58,913)
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36. [ 5 HE T 31
TR T AR HE T A

RFEAXFRR —F - —F+AZ+HRMA
Z W ([ =% = — A R 8 ))
G g T 2 R B R A A W SR
AT o] WiF Jo 22 W) 2 A B R B (B AL
) B AT T B 2 R AR T 3 S O i BLAT 51
FEBAT R SL sk M) ) A R B A AT BE
oy 7 B2 AR R R AR A e QR T [ %
N B A i R - AR T A o ) A o A A
S St A 4 [ % 2 P A L RK Y M) B D - AR
B8 T T A RO R ) AR A FAE AT At
S P AR B 4R L T G R AT B 2 BT A I R AT
S J5e MR R AT 8 T T DA BRAT 2 B B e 2
S A A A F A I AT BAR30% o —F
SRR R E M EE R =
A= t—BRAiE—HAEK-

S KRl (i [ DR i NS A P2 NG 7 el <)
TR T AR TR R SR N A T B
) A A 1 % S B TR 2 R RE (LA
AT B v A AT 0 0 A ) i © ¥ AT K T
B2 RO EE > AR BEEAN A B S
TTREABEZ1% (S EEHE AL CEER
GEM i 8 | & 82 A > B10.1%) > B 9 A< 2
G S 9N SN MG S PSSR i PN w
B A T AR P ) A A At v R BR AL L) A B
N L5 i B R RE R BB K (LSRR A
B ) ZEU 1 B SR M I 5 S o 2 AR 3T I R Iy
ZAAAS ] AR [ S A E 109 T

R T H T ME S AR (a) $Z
W PR W 2 H T B 28 T A SR 3R T R AR A )
J& 03 i GEM Z Wi T 1 5 (b) B #2 #% i iR
H M AR 2 25 B A W28 B i B OHRAE 3R T R
A5 T A 1 GEM 2~ il i A8 5 B (o) IR 4%
WA R EE (=ZF D ) >
0 g 2 e P A > R R R B A0 R B
AL

RRAR = % — — 4 JHE st B 2 R o S TR
TR g R R AR N 2 ] TR B I
WA R O AT MEAR R T T AR I A R
B 2 MK > a2 D ] A A5 B 00 A 4% o I
Z BAEFE A o AR IR T T A R RE T
AR K > Sl B R S a0 AR AR B S ]
WA ZRUIE F I SE R R 7 R AT (o O B L — i
BUE
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
2021 Option Scheme

Under the terms of the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
22 October 2021 (the “2021 Option Scheme”), the Board may, at its absolute
discretion, offer full time or part time employees of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries (including any directors, whether executives or non-executives
and whether independent or not, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and
any agents, consultants and advisers who have contributed or may contribute
to the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company, as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the Group. The
maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2021 Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The life of
the 2021 Option Scheme was effective until 21 October 2031.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of
options granted under the 2021 Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to a grantee in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
(or 0.1% in case of a connected person (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) grantee) of the total share capital of the Company in issue, unless
separately approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting
with such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting, and the number
and terms (including the subscription price) of the options to be granted to
such person must be fixed before the shareholders” approval. A nonrefundable
nominal consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of each grant.

The subscription price may be determined by the Board, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant of the options; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the options;
and (c) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant provided that in
the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per share shall be rounded
upwards to the nearest whole cent.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the terms
of the 2021 Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee which shall not be more than 10 years from the date
on which the offer of the grant of the options is made in accordance with the
terms of the 2021 Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the
minimum period for which an option must be held or performance target must
be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the 2021
Option Scheme.
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i JBE HE B B ()

A4 H W > AN B AR B 1,436,710,107
A (15 BB AT AR 10% ) W] AR 5
AR R R R AT

W E E ER - E =N HA=+H
14T BE > M 4 57 L I R o

ATE TR R T EENA =T E
T A BRI 0 S 1 R AT 2
B o

¥ K4

ATE TR e AR T EAENA =R
A2 S 0 A AT IS 4 o

38. B tE A 5 B

HOoEEREF A HB# REHC AR
o) J AR UM E A A T A G E A B L2
SRR A wh ) o g R A AT B 2y i B L AE RE A
2 8 B A R o AR PR A T E > AR
[ J HL R B 45 B AR5 i M T < v ) T
EAL IR B U A 2 5% $ 3zt #14 A 7 A
BN H— B DU A 1,500 7T
Fy R AR (I Sk B g i B R

AR g 40 BR 2 A8 AR £9529,0009 o6 (-
TSR A9773,0000 00 ) 15 A 4R ) ) R Al 4
FhERE AR 2 o

50 4wl ) 2 LA R R Y LAt 7 ) B
i > Pl — L 2 TR R o A 10 TR R
w42 R SE O SO 4 ok JE R
fE B r A o & TUAR Je TR T AR A
= H Sl AT A A SR
JA R AAT B 2 AT K o

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coNTINUED)

1,436,710,107 ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company,
representing 10% of the issued share capital are available for issue under the

2021 Share Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.

During the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023, no share options were
granted.

As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, there was no outstanding options under the
2021 Option Scheme.

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any pledged assets.

38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has arranged for all qualifying
employees of the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries to join the
MPF Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, both the Group and
the employees make monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation, subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month effect from 1 June 2014

and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately HK$529,000 (2023:
approximately HK$773,000) represents contributions payable to the MPF
Scheme by the Group.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years
as at 30 April 2024 and 2023.
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39. BHEEN L PR

AL ARG BB L RTSL LA A 5

39. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related

parties:
e <y 111 K e Sa i B
2024 2023
Tt TH T
HK$°000 HK$’000
A —RKEEAF 2 Management fee income from
EHEBIGA (HiEa) a related company (note a) - 30
K —KEEAFZ Commission fee income from
Ha WA (Fka) a related company (note a) - 51
l— KB AR A2 Commission expense paid to
a2 (ffsta) a related company (note a) - (49)
Wl — KB AR A2 4 A Rental expense paid to a related
(F5ED) company (note b) (972) (1,296)
P 5E Notes:

(@) PSSR ) — oK I ) A0 R (] R A R A
) I 28 B HE> 5a% A A O SR T
R S RPN RSN R ) PAIISYS
SR CHENANHEEE RE ZEEN
HIOUH AL AL Z B L -

(b) EEHFHC XM T —REMAF > H/ARR
A RS 2 ) A

SHL A AR P ) 2 N 2 A6 R 1 IR AR A B
Bk D3R B 45 B G
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(a)  The amounts were received from or paid to a company which is a related company
to the Group as a director of a subsidiary of the Group is also the controlling
shareholder in that company. The subsidiary was disposed on 9 August 2022 and
no longer a related party of the Group from 9 August 2022.

(b) The amounts were paid to a related company which is the director of a subsidiary
of the Company.

Details of the balances with the Group’s related parties are set out in the

consolidated statement of financial position and respective notes.
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39, BN LB EE s

FTEEMARMNE

ACAEJE S AT T T Ho A B AT B B 2
[/

39. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

(CONTINUED)
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of executive director and other members of key management

during the year was as follows:

2024 2023

Tt THs T

HK$’000 HK$’000

10 A Short-term benefits 4,592 9,029
B ARAE Post-employment benefits 110 131
4,702 9,160

AAFPATES (FAEEERAR) Z W%
Tom 2 B ek g S AR
B R i 3 e B AR O

40. & A )8\ e A B

AN G B AR DL OR A G2 [ % I )
2% ) RE S 15 A A > BRI IR O 1 AL £ B
S R B NS SRS ) S
AR R 11 L R s A R S B

A AR TR SR LA S RS R A R Y
B 15 A CELAE 20 9 S B 31 5328 B¢ 77 19
M B A R A b8l & KB &%
WEH) M RAN A A REAGHE 2 (45 A
Bl ) -

ERGEFHEARLN M RZEN B
g i AL F R AR A TR AT
Al o MR CIR B F A EREEEA
JI AR B LA S AR B 2 S B - N
R B AT B ~ AT OB OB B AR BLA GBS
DL i A% S [0 1) B8 R AR ZE 4

The remuneration of executive director of the Company, who are also members
of key management is, recommended by the Remuneration Committee and
approved by the Board having regard to the performance of individuals and

market trends.

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Group and its subsidiaries
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt which includes lease
liabilities and other borrowings disclosed in notes 31 and 32 respectively,
net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to the owners of
the Company, comprising share capital and reserves, as disclosed in the

consolidated financial statements.

The Directors review the capital structure annually. As part of this review, the
Directors assess the annual budget prepared by management of the Company.
Based on the proposed annual budget, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Directors also
balance the Group’s overall capital structure through new share issuance, as

well as issuance of new debts and repayment of existing debts.
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40. & A R B 4 B (m) 40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
HAEH Management of capital

A 45 [ 4 ) 4 B LR (R AR B S B R BR The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which arrives at total

DL AR RE 5 ) B A o G5 AR A AL A A interest-bearing debts divided by the total equity. Total debts include other
BB R EEAMILENT borrowings. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:
TE YL B
2024 2023
SR T
HK$’000 HKS$’000
{IPSN=EiE Interest-bearing debts:
HoAth 5 £ Other borrowings 148,448 123,879
R0 48R Total debts 148,448 123,879
HATERS Total equity 383,877 396,107
HE AR Gearing ratio 38.7% 31.3%
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41. @B T H
a. &R T HZER

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

e uny I1' F: —E =
2024 2023
Tt Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
4 & Financial assets
Fie 2 AR N Al 2 i W AR 2 Equity instruments at FVTOCI
M TR 1,142 2,225
A PR ARG Z &MY E Financial assets at FVTPL 47,661 45271
e Yk B PR AR At amortised cost
22 4 T Ho A R Wi R IE Deposits and other receivables 7,516 4,851
T Wi B 3k M ) Loan and interest receivables 456,162 444 388
JRE IR Trade receivables 34,601 33,571
RATHE B M 4 Bank balances and cash 18,480 18,514
565,562 548,820
& il £ Financial liabilities
e R B AR At amortised cost
JRE AR B 3 B H At B AT 2 I Trade and other payables 37,018 30,566
JREAST R ] <55 3 JH Retention monies payables 3,822 3,999
HoAth 1 £ Other borrowings 148,448 123,879
LR B Lease liabilities 907 1,622
190,195 160,066

b. S B PR AR R BUR

AEEZ FE B LIARW ERFH 2% &
Pl T L R R A% WA SR B R o N SO S B S
S Bl TR A T 22 DL B e e A % 4 L B 2
UK o 7 B B R B PR 2 A LR - LATREOR S
IR 1 A 250l B U 2 HE i

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed in the above table. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.
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41. &k T H (m)

b. B R B B H OBR R BOUR ()

s B o B B ok AFL W il
JEY B R T

A 2 B R AR S B RS > A B2 A B A S B
R Tt B o PR AR R Wi R A S A U i B
Bt o 5% wT Ak T 2 7 3 AT Wi B R 2 ) B
Al DL R A PR 22 0 I (R A S T AR B
T R ZE IR B KB B
A ~ 1A 2 BE % 4R R EE 0 A DL A R
RO BKSE) o BUAh o A G2 B RE R — M 7 TR AR AR T
HI 5 B Ml 1R A 3 R i R Ak S ) S AT
R A AR o ) HE S R YRR AR R R 1R A B
E 1K A 099 R 2 S (Al AR S B K R A
TR o

B 5 T A A ENOIR S R 5 49
E

2oy e R IR B B AR 4R R L © &R
PR > B E (R B R B A A
5 1B I WA At B 42 - R PR OB O £
Tl DA A 1m0 S AR < A > AR 4R AR 9 TR 4
B8 s TR S A B M R AT SR R L
AR £ B e A B 2% BB E AT 0 AL
o5 ) 988 i 4 ol B 52 5 B AR AT (L W i o AE
A F I OR KA IR ~ B S B A R
1 AGT Bk B AR DR > B A BUE S AT
TR A B R A o A 4R Ok 4 L 2 AR
R B AN TR A - AR 45 I
o R T 22 19 A B85 1 A 2 & B EL T 52
R 0 T S TR R AT SR R > T C 15 B Y
54 7 &5 Bk BB HEAT A - UL > B SRR A
A5 £ B R B KR R A
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Loan and interest receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has a policy
for assessing the credit risk of accounts and loan and interest receivables. The
assessment is based on a close monitoring and evaluation of collectability and
on management’s judgement, including the ageing analysis of receivables, the
current creditworthiness, account executives concentration analysis, collateral
distribution and concentration analysis and the past collection history of each
client, etc. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on loan and interest receivables based on general approach. The
directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss rates of loan and interest
receivables based on historical credit loss experience as well as the fair value

of the collateral pledged.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances based on
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that have similar credit
risk characteristics based on nature and industry of debtors. Internal credit
rating has been given to each category of debtors after considering aging,
historical observed default rates, repayment history and past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on probability of
default and loss given default with reference to an external credit report and
are adjusted for reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that
is available without undue costs or effort while credit-impaired trade balances
were assessed individually. In this regard, the Directors consider that the

Group'’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables

The Group assessed the impairment for its other receivables under ECL
model on other receivables based on general approach. The Directors consider
the loss allowance of approximately HK$73,000 (2023: HK$73,000) and
HK$999,000 (2023: nil) for other receivables within 12 month lifetime
ECL and credit-impaired lifetime ECL as at 30 April 2024 was provided,

respectively.

Bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are

deposited with several banks with high credit ratings.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain level of
concentration of credit risk as 32% (2023: 54%) and 27% (2023: 66%)
of the trade receivables and retention monies receivables arising from the
Group’s largest customer and the two largest customers from scaffolding,
fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work
respectively. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain level
of concentration of credit risk as 4% (2023: 4%) and 7% (2023: 8%) of the
total loan and interest receivables arising from the Group’s largest debtors and

the two largest debtors, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. &k T H (m)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

b. BB B PR AR R BOR (s0) b.
(Continued)
i B I e % 9 AFL W Al ( 0)
A3 0 ) 7 0 55 LI A0 £ 3 LA T
Bl categories:
P B £ 5 B i
Internal credit rating Description

R R B Tk B A A
Trade receivables and
contract assets

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

At 4 10

Other financial assets

{9

Low risk

B 4

Watch list

] %€

Doubtful

i 18

Loss

8

Write-off

B8 5y 5 T35 40 By A L I 28 AT £ 3 1 5 E

The counterparty has a low risk of default

and does not have any past-due amounts

Lo BT e R C a i (R N F AR 5
AR NI LR AR R AT B R S

The counterparty has amounts past-due but
is continuously settling after due date and
with continuous business transactions with

the Group

25 38 1 B A B 2 R B A R R AT A
0 e B AR - i B B B 3 > (L2 5
T LA R AT SE B L )

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
external resources while the counterparty
is with continuous business transactions

with the Group

A i R B A ) R AR R

There is evidence indicating the asset is

credit-impaired

A B R FHUR AUBE N B A B Y B S TR L
A SR B A HAR AN AT i e A T

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group

has no realistic prospect of recovery

WLS Holdings Limited

R R RUNERCY 7R
R HE A

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

R URRINERY A b
ARG BE

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

W EYEERE -
R A B

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

=2 CBRURERSY 7E R
OB E R B (E

Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired

A B B

Amount is written off

12 A 5 B
#H

12m ECL

121 A T8 145 £ s
1

12m ECL

A TR e 1E —
R A B

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

S EE R
C 8L A5 S (E

Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired

i A B B

Amount is written off
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41. & T H (m)

b. B R B P H BR R BOR ()

s B B B B AFL W A (%80)

8 2 A 5 A A8 T B i B Y — 3R 20 > AR SR T
57 P A i i 6 A0 HE 7 5 A6 A6 9
SR SRR PN SN ek U9 o
S LA W B E G AR SN BT B R
THHIRETT

JE WA B 3K B A A0 EE YA R B IR R B AR B
B N TEREAE A 2 1 BT RLE A AL
who Sl DA 4 0 28 U0 A Bl 8% O B AT LAY
T IS R R o A A A5 L 0 R A B
I M R B A R TS H OB R AR B & T
TSR L BE JR T 1) o 5 A0 G A AR W R G A
L A R R AT R I A TR JRL B R e A R
] AL e A B AL A - D AR B 4 E A
5 N A B Y RO R o B IR 3K A 4
HER T HEE RS TMURRE]0.06% (%
TEAE0593%)  THEAH10.14% (ZF
TEAFE0.142%) TR EE]0.71% (& — =
F:0.727%) F [ 4R ] 63.19% (= F ==
62.561%) °

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers in relation to its operation because
these customers consist of common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the

contractual terms.

The estimated loss rate of trade receivables and contract assets are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Such forward-looking information is used
by the management of the Group to assess both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
type of contracts. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management of
the Group to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
The average loss rates for trade receivables and contract assets are “Low risk”
0.06% (2023: 0.593%), “Watch list” 0.14% (2023: 0.142%), “Doubtful” 0.71%
(2023: 0.727%), and “Loss” 63.19% (2023: 62.561%).
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41. & TR 0 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b. A% R B A BE H AR K BUR (s b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
e £ )8\ B B W AR FE A (4 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
I 3R R A A AR TE A R 4R R AN 1 The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial
Al T 09 45 R assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:
ZERINE CRCEF
it & Py bR B 1218 A g 2 1 2024 2023
i3 i3 T R I T 48 0 AR A
External credit Internal credit
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount

T T T Tt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000

JRE o B 3 B A A A% Bt 1216 A (5 Bl 4R
Loan and interest receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 18,820 22,671
N hi R 12 7 7 B 1
N/A Watch list 12m ECL 134,237 68,762
A [} 2UENEEEH-
RE A R
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - 457,619 440,016
not credit-impaired
A i i 2MEBEEEH-
B fF B
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 109,575 720,251 152,990 684,439

credit-impaired

RAREEREE TR A 15 JaL it EWEMG E -
R~ AR A1 B A KB AR
RS 0 RE WS IR 3 (BT )

Trade receivables from scaffolding, N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - 14,677 22,731
fitting out and other auxiliary not credit-impaired

services for construction and S b B4 AMFENERER-
buildings work (Note) KB S
N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL - 3,603 76
not credit-impaired
A 5t EHEMGRER -
R EBUE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL — 2,897 4,100
not credit-impaired
A B EHEMGERER-
B HBH
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 14,877 36,054 8,399 35,306
credit-impaired
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41. & T H (m)

b. BB JEU B BE H AR K BUR ()

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
fe B R B B WAE RE AN () Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
R YL —E =
Hb A5 B M B B 1248 A 2k 2 3 2024 2023
i % Fi3:1 THWIE B E R T A A M T S8
Gross Gross
External credit Internal credit carrying carrying
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
Fi#T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
HRVEE (FEE) N 1% B 2 M A B 1 —
R B WE
Contract assets (Note) N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 7,752 10,291
not credit-impaired
oAy iR IE A7 A1 L Bt 1218 A TS S 18
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 7,020 4,924
Ay iR I AN 78 T i 18 AT G B —
OB A5 B
Other receivables N/A Loss Lifetime ECL — 1,568 -
credit-impaired
SRAT S B A2FE A-1+ A3 ] 1240 7 T AR B0 1R
Bank balances A-2to A-1+ N/A 12m ECL 18,480 18,514
BT Note:

S HE WO TR S £ 6 o A S TR ) A o R
Y L) SR R AL v i 2 00 O AR 4 s PR A i 4R
SRR o B % A 5 0 U 10 B SR A S ) R A
A S TR A o R T A SR 1% 2 AL O B AR A
fift 72 % A5 T H I T A5 R 4

BE ETDUAEDN A = H RS > A B RE O 3K
4 9B (L e T8 45 VR 43 1] 927,000 0 (& T =4
I (L e 15 8 26,0009 70 ) L2 A7 B R 88 A A5 S (E
19 A #0871 9 (R s 48 1 4 3 48 171 £9102,0009 JG
(2 =4 M s TR 150,000 1) 43 B
H 45 WERE o L Ah - B 43 Tl 18 4% E SR A BRI Wi R K
14 35 {4 MG 8L % A4 9 98 ] 49255,0009 T ( —F =
AE Y s 48 98 A 1R ST R 491,373,0009 JT) K lf JE
A B A A BRIRU(E 2 A 40 0 4 00 A A ] o

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance of lifetime ECL. Except for trade receivables
and contract assets that are credit-impaired, the Group determine the ECL on these items

by using a provision matrix, grouped by past-due aging of receivables.

During the year ended 30 April 2024, net reversal of impairment loss allowance of
approximately HK$27,000 (2023: impairment loss allowance of HK$26,000) related
to trade receivables and net reversal of impairment loss allowance of approximately
HK$102,000 (2023: impairment loss allowance of HK$150,000) related to contract
assets that are not credit-impaired was recognised in profit or loss, respectively. In
addition, net reversal of impairment loss allowance of approximately HK$255,000 (2023:
net provision of impairment loss allowance of approximately HK$1,373,000) related to
trade receivables and there is neither provision or reversal of provision related to contract
assets that are credit-impaired was recognised in profit or loss, respectively.
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41. @k TH 0 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b. A% B A B H AR K BUR (s b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
s 85 A\ B B WAE BT A (%) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
TR R R R R I A B R e A The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been
IR recognised for loan and interest receivables:
2 WM 2
5 S H fa LG
124 H BB (REAE (E#%E
fr B 4 fr B WA f5 BEAL) GE
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
12m ECL impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
T T THIT T
HKS$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$’000
MWZEFEZZHFEHA—H As at 1 May 2022 22,378 33,656 99,462 155,496
WA H—HEMERZ Changes due to financial instruments
ERTHZ %8 . recognised as at 1 May:
— W A — Transfer to credit — impaired (3,729) (769) 4,498 -
— 5 R AR BB — Transfer to not credit — impaired (13,368) 13,368 - -
— L HERR W I 1 — Impairment losses recognised 1,753 64,386 23,997 90,136
— F ) (i R — Impairment losses reversed (329) (5,099) (2,131) (7,559)
B Z e Mg E New financial assets originated 1,978 - - 1,978
ATETZHEMAZTHR  Asat30 April 2023 and
e SO 1 & | 1 May 2023 8,683 105,542 125,826 240,051
HitHH—HERRZ Changes due to financial instruments
S ITHZ 28 recognised as at 1 May:
— i F 1218 H | {E B E — Transfer to 12m ECL 27,090 (14,523) (12,567) -
— B F B RE — Transfer to credit — impaired (903) (10,527) 11,430 -
— 8 7 R B B — Transfer to not credit — impaired (5,527) 44,555 (39,028) -
— DR BUE 18 — Impairment losses recognised 244 50,457 23916 74,617
— 385 I 3ok (Al 10 — Impairment losses reversed (21,900) (31,786) - (53,686)
EAZ e E E New financial assets originated 3,107 - - 3,107
REZZZNENH=+H As at 30 April 2024 10,794 143,718 109,577 264,089
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41. & T H (m)
b. AR )R B A4S BE H A R BR (41) b.

(Continued)
o B L I % kAL RF A (1)
AR WA B R B R SR 2 e R A 5 B % e

to:

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for loan and interest receivables are mainly due

“ZRCNENMA=1H

30 April 2024
B, (WA &M HEE BRSNS (W)
Increase/ Increase/(decrease)
(decrease) in lifetime ECL
1218 A 32 320 [ g5
5 B 4R fr BRI AR o B AR
Not credit-
In 12m ECL impaired Credit-impaired
T# T T# T Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
KEMGANZ L TR A(E  Loan and interest receivables from
Z MR R IR a debtor with gross carrying amount of:
- %972,578,000% S E M — approximately HK$72,578,000 has
1218 H TS Bl 48 K been transferred from 12m ECL and
R4 R EE S not credit-impaired to not credit-
AR HWE impaired - 15,242 -
—#135,204,000{6 CELHHE. - approximately HK$35,204,000 has
A E R R been transferred from credit-
B AR B impaired to not credit-impaired - - 23,774
— %944,430,0007% 7T E A — approximately HK$44,430,000 has
O A {5 B Dol 3 been transferred from credit-
FARBEFEBIE impaired to not credit-impaired - (26,300) -
- #)77,616,000% JG . M — approximately HK$77,616,000 has
OB {5 B (E & been transferred from credit-
R B B I impaired and not credit-impaired
= 1210 A FEHIE to 12m ECL (21,395) - -

CEC=HENA=4H
30 April 2023
B, kb)) 2B SRR O D)

Increase/ Increase/(decrease)
(decrease) in lifetime ECL
1216 H KA S
TE IS B 1R 15 B E 5 Bl H
Not credit-
In 12m ECL impaired  Credit-impaired
T T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
KEBBEANZU TR  Loan and interest receivables from
2 BB K e R a debtor with gross carrying amount of:
— #120,575,0004 5 € B — approximately HK$20,575,000 has
1248 7 05 S s 18 been transferred from 12m ECL to
R EREAGR not credit-impaired
o RIES - 10,457 -
- #)59,783,000 LMK — approximately HK$59,783,000 has
A E AT R been transferred from not credit-
OB {5 e impaired to credit-impaired - - 17,065
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41. &k T H (m)

b.  BA% )R BE P B B R 8R4 b.

s B B B o AFL W Al (%81)

NRINRBEHE T EC R EE R EE T
T R (300 225 A K A8 % L A ol B AR 5 )
IR S B R e R A A TR B TR A S )

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables from scaffolding, fitting out and other

auxiliary services for construction and buildings work under the simplified

approach.
4z 1 ¥ 1 2z 1 ¥ 1
e B (GRS Fi]
(A% A (B4
e SEPAE ) fi B UAE ) ik
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
T#: T T T#s T
HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
MW_EFE__HHH—H As at 1 May 2022 3 333 336
— I 55 A A I (E — Transfer to credit — impaired 3) 3 -
— O R A 1B — Impairment losses recognised 26 824 850
— O 9% ] ek A e 4R — Impairment losses reversed (1) (58) (59)
B A 22 0 A Rl New financial assets originated 1 607 608
MZEFEZ=FMHA =1+ HX  Asat 30 April 2023 and
ZECEERA—H 1 May 2023 26 1,709 1,735
— S B A S — Transfer to credit — impaired (29) 29 -
— O e 58 (A e 18 — Impairment losses recognised - 613 613
— B 188 ] ok (L s 12 — Impairment losses reversed (27) (729) (756)
i &5 Written-offs - (202) (202)
B A 22 0 e Rl New financial assets originated - 63 63
W _UAEMH =+H As at 30 April 2024 (30) 1,483 1,453
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41. & T H (m) 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. A% R B PR H AR K BUR (m) b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

e 85 A\ B B AR BT A (%) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

TR R AR PR A T O Ay AR R s T The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
B LA 28 05 A ORg 5 M5 e A i B e 1Y recognised for contract assets from scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary
GHRIEEMR 2 ESE S EROED) - services for construction and buildings work under the simplified approach.

2 11

15 B 1H
(AL

i BWAE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-

impaired)
TH#IT
HK$’000
W HEHRA—H As at 1 May 2022 41
RHHA—HAEMRz &M TR &2 Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 May:
— O WERR B (A s 18 — Impairment losses recognised 152
— 13 ] o e 12 — Impairment losses reversed (38)
FEAE 2B R New financial assets originated 36
MNEFEZEFAMAEZTH AR EFTH—H As at 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023 191
WHH—HOMRZam TR . Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 May:
— O AR (A e 18 — Impairment losses recognised 3
— ¥ 1] ok (L s 4R — Impairment losses reversed (105)
A W A E New financial assets originated -
WoFZUAEMA =Z+H As at 30 April 2024 89
i A R BE R RS N R A B B IR B L The Group writes off a trade receivable, loan and interest receivables and other
S 40 B PR i TR AT BB (UnE BN EHE T receivables when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe

ol M A AR Bl AR K T B R B RS DA financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when
T JH At JRE o 3 T A O AR (DA A the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
ME) ) > RIS S 3] BB R s R K I A R M proceedings, or when the trade receivable, loan and interest receivables and

)R DA B H At 1 i 35 O o other receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier.
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41. &k T H (m)

b. B R B B H OBR R BOUR ()

Tl 355 i\ B
T 5 I B
B4 i 2 R 2 B

A 4R H) 32 2 R VR ) R R 28R AT
SRR 2 B4 A R B

A5 B T R 32 A

7 S ) BB I S L% SF- {0 M) 5 e B B 4 O
BB B A B 2 AT AR R R e BOOR o EE
N B B A 4R T i T B JEL B o NI B A R
TR 7 B A o

U 93 #

VAR 9 B0/ BE 7 A 75 (B 0 A 2 5 ) % ¥R ot
R AR T E 0 Ol B R RZ H T T3 AR
H &l TR 2 ) A Ja By o it 1 B BN+
AAE M) 3 L i ) R0 S A B (8 ) B A BT 3 1% »
T4 L 3B | A n) e A BR A B 2 wTAY o

i A 2R 3R F F 1% 107 A H: At 85 o A BR
NEg> REBMBE _F WA H =+ H 1k
AF B 1 B4R Tl 4RI 88 0, B0 #9184,0003 T
(ZFF=A4F hn82b 920,000 70)

O8RS

A £E 8] 7 N ST-E R 2 R B T 2 B e R R
EAELEMESHR ( ?%E%ﬂ$%%
TN WL EE31 532)

Pkl

A R % 2 0 W Ja B B AR B AL 5 B
FEBMEH e EWIIE B HE A
JE\ By 2z B T B A 3R 0 o A 42 B T RE A R
HEAT IF) — & W 22 5 LA AR a JR Bt o o 5 3R 2%
A A S0 R A 5 T 2 K LB o R U - R
Sy 3l R 2 5 -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through the changes in

interest rates related mainly to the Group’s variable-rates bank balances.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy in relation
to fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The directors
monitor the Group’s exposures on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging

the interest rate should the need arises.
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined assuming that a change
in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments in existence
at that date. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post tax loss for the year ended 30 April 2024
would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$184,000 (2023:
increased/decreased by approximately HK$20,000).

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed rate lease
liabilities and other borrowings (see notes 31 and 32 for details of these fixed

rate debt instruments).
Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through transactions
that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily the US$. The Group mitigates this risk by conducting transactions
in the same currency, whenever possible. The directors consider there
is no material exposure to the US$ as at the end of the reporting period.

Accordingly, sensitivity analysis has not been presented.
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41. & T H (m)

b. B R B P H BR R BOR ()

i B B < Jal B

U B L B T A 4 I A S A R AT B i T
LA B 2 7R ¥ I 42 IR S 2 Ja g o R B
4 e R i B e A
fEUAR Hh B <6l T

AR 2 U B B PR S MR T R B
A A O] B K B HE TR L I R ) 4B A5 A A
TG 2 SRAT A R R B KT

A 45 8375 3 TR I O 7 B A ORR L B AR AR AR
G G A A BLA R AT LR
o) % B AW o DA £ B 40 JE A5 I A B A 1
KEHME TR

N KRR AL B BRI BR S A0 E -

7% ¢ ) 19 T A A A T B B O A
A G AT RE BRSO B B R A R e L
HEL 1 55 > S a3 T 07 88 4R AT 0 ELHE R 8 T i
P AL R BOR HUR  HAEE C E R
T 7 IR B o JFG A R A7 AR <l B A A9 200 1
SR 4% 1 A 2 K H I R E o % R LA FLBL K
A% g B4 U B o Al LS U B 2R 0 B R 3R R OR
S B9 < AR R A R 9 R o

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that a group entity will encounter difficulty in raising
funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity
risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its

fair value.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash. The
Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and cash deemed

adequate to finance the Group’s operations.

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to manage liquidity risk by
forecasting the amount of cash required and monitoring the working capital
of the Group to ensure that all liabilities due and known funding requirements

could be met.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, other borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the counterparties choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted

amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

ZRINE
2024
T M g

U TIES ~WAW Vit

Weighted On Rewfait
average demand or —~fAE ZWAE-%  —BECE CELE Total I i £
effective less than =MWA 3 months to 1to2 2to5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1 year years years cash flow value
% Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt
HKS$000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$000
A R 3k T S Ao 50 Trade and other payables - 37,018 - - - - 37,018 37,018
e ] 4 208 Retention monies payables - 3,822 - - - - 3822 3,822
HiEeE Other borrowings 641 149,106 1,494 6,836 - 100 157,536 148,448
Ak Lease liabilities 5.16 63 126 502 248 - 939 907
190,009 1,620 7,338 248 100 199,315 190,195
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41. @k TH 0 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b. BB R B R PR H BE K BUR (0 b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
i B & 4 R B () Liquidity risk (Continued)
SRS
2023
EF-2 Bt o
B % —fHA R AHTE
Weighted On Banast
average demand or -z ZEAE-% —FECE  CEERLE Total e
effective less than =R 3 months to Ito2 2t05 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months | year years years cash flow value
% it Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt T
HK$’000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000
A R 3k T S Ao 500 Trade and other payables - 30,566 - - - - 30,566 30,566
JEAT (R 4 28 Retention monies payables - 3,999 - - - - 3,999 3,999
Jfbf 8 Other borrowings 6.54 102,580 35 21,187 100 - 123,902 123,879
HER K Lease liabilities 484 112 25 740 371 248 1,696 1,622
137,257 260 21,927 471 248 160,163 160,066
TR 7t BBk 2 B H 007 — B 1R Maturity Analysis — Other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
BN M based on scheduled repayments
A8
iR SF- 33 A1) 2 Bl & A at
Weighted —4EN —AEAR Total W T A
average Less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amounts
THs T T THs T TH T
%o HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ZEZZNAENA=4H 30 April 2024 6.41 157,436 - 157,436 148,348
CERCEFENA=1H 30 April 2023 7.64 61,432 53,683 115,115 102,580
i ¥ JE 25 110 5 ) A IR A R IR R E 1Y The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are subject
fl TR S bty BT B9 6 e B A to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
o interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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41. & T H (m)
e AT

T —4F R B 0 2 4 A % R 2 A SRR
B B B P (AR A -

P SRR N 2 A R 2 B B R 2
] TR & 2 B AR T 05 5 B 0t 7 Sl
i E SRR AT

T R AR AL T LA AR 2 4
TH - RNFEFAMEFRMT

. A TR] T BCA R AE I R T 4 R A A
(CRECHHEE) () -

. B o8 — 8RBT G5 Y A A > W E e (RD
QAR M ) B B (B 7% AT A ) LA
1Y 5 2 SR A A (36 AR -

. P S R A (B O R T B A
W TSR (B DB A B ) (58
=)

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
c. Fair value estimation

The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less

than one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The fair value of balances with related parties have not been determined as
the timing of the expected cash flows of these balances cannot be reasonably

determined because of the relationship.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by

valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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41. &b TH ) 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
c. XA-PAEAE (a0 c. Fair value estimation (Continued)
NEREMAREE D T PUE R T A The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are
MU H =4 H AR S E K& AT measured at fair value at 30 April 2024 and 2023.
TR
2024
50N 580N =00 fak
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TF# st T#t Tt TF# st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
P Assets
AT EFFAHAMATE  Equity instruments
Wz s TH of FEVTOCI 1,142 - - 1,142
AT EFE AR #7 Financial assets
2 4 G at FVTPL 47,661 - - 47,661
2023
% —HHl 55 Z A 5 =500 aF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
T #E T T #5 T TH#TT TH T
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
G Assets
A wE A H A 2 T Equity instruments
W it < B 4 TR of FVTOCI 2,225 - - 2,225
AP EF AR Financial assets
A at EVTPL 45,271 - - 45,271

i 1HG T A 45 FBE A [ ST MG R — - These were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.
EHATE

R AT Y S B ) R R R R A T 1l The newly issued coupon bonds are initially recognized at fair value through
F N F-(E TE R o HLBE 15 19 57 B I ) % 0k ik the application of the income approach technique. It will be subsequently
B A B R FE I A A EE32 carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For details,

please refer to note 32.
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41. & T H (m)
c.  AFHEMAE a
A% J B

R R I AR FR R R B BRBUR B4R (A
Rt 1R) R A% o P (8 FE A A 2 T Ui AR %
i R {2 A 2 o v Bl K L B ) A B e S
i (L ETTSCET R ) 2 & B AT AE A% B i i B
HO A Bh B )

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

c. Fair value estimation (Continued)

Price risk

The following table indicates the approximate changes in the Group’s loss
after tax (and accumulated losses) and FVTOCI reserve in response to
reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market price (for listed
investments) to which the Group have significant exposure at the end of the

reporting period.

“EIA
2024
B EE A FHEEA
TR R B R Bt s HAtb 2 i
LY 2 W 2 Gtk i
B/ (W4) (H3E) ZHB
Effect on
loss after
Increase/ tax and
(decrease) in accumulated Effect on
the relevant losses FVTOCI
risk variable (Note) reserve
Tt Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
ARBA b BB 2 E A Market price of underlying listed investments: 10% 3,980 95
(10) % (3,980) (95)
SR
2023
BB EREE A TEFA
A8 B LB o 25 HoAth 4> 1w
s 2R Wi g i e
Wi, () (Bf5E) 2
Effect on
loss after
Increase/ taxation and
(decrease) in accumulated Effect on
the relevant losses FVTOCI
risk variable (Note) reserve
T T
HK$’000 HK$°000
A B b T 2 T A Market price of underlying listed investments: 10% 3,780 223
(10)% (3,780) (223)

BFRE = A% 52 B BRBUAR s 4R 2 2 BB S BB R 2
A DL -

Note: The effect in the Group’s loss after tax has disregarded the utilisation of tax

losses.
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42. e W B E A BB IR

RS A S I O ) P AR Y R AR )
o 48 B 4 B O B R ) - il O B E AR
9 8 16 R B 58 SO 8 R A 4R B AR 6 B
B R B BB B P A B R TR 3R

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash

Z B flows from financing activities.
AT A Hinfes  MIEAE At
Bank Other Lease
borrowings  borrowings liabilities Total
fft 532 Fff 531
Note 32 Note 31
T T P T T Tt
HKS$000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$’000
W _H#HLH—H At 1 May 2022 8,634 119,453 4,224 132,311
RVE B 4 Financing cash flows (8,789) (3,893) (2,748) (15,430)
JE Bl 4 5 ) Non-cash changes:
BEH Y Debt modification - 1,472 - 1,472
Rl ¥ A Finance cost 155 6,847 146 7,148
W2 =Z#MNA=+H At 30 April 2023 and
E-E _-=#H1H—H 1 May 2023 - 123,879 1,622 125,501
G &= Financing cash flows - 17,104 (1,140) 15,964
B Non-cash changes:
HAEEERE Addition to rights-of-use assets _ - 372 372
EHBR Debt modification - (1,070) - (1,070)
il B A Finance cost - 8,535 53 8,588
REZZZNENH=+H At 30 April 2024 - 148,448 907 149,355
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43. A5 w2 B A W 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

AR R R SAEMA = HEE Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, which are limited liability companies,
Wb 24 W) (B 5 A BB AR A | RENS A F at 30 April 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

ERLY Ave

RE B CHITR

Place of EA B RA

incorporation/ EREL Issued and LVELEE S S PAA
it 6 % ¥ 45 1 registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FEEH
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities

e 1] CECZE
2024 2023

% fil % B il
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

HR R EARA T KEAET RS FRaa TaEmAIET 100% - 100% - HEHE
Conkar Investments Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Securities investment
FRRARAT i AIRAT LERA LT - 100% - 100% HAERE
First Occasion Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HKS1 Securities investment
SREFEARAF Eit AIRAH TmA T - 100% - 100% 55
Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HK$1 Money lending
HETRARAA ([HE])* i HRRA il - - - 0% mETAER B Bt
1,226,667H ¢ W RBRRE
DL R e e
EBEBI 2 ZER
AR
Sinogain Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Trading, design, sales,
(“Sinogain”) HKS$1,226,667 repairs and maintenance
of gondolas and parapet

railings and access
equipment installation
and maintenance services

Kl BB R ) Bk HRA T A - 100% - 100% HEmHETER
10,0008 72

Skylon International Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Gondolas rental
HKS$10,000

KEEGH AR K KRR LA - 100% - 100% HEHEE R
10,0007 7T

Skyway Transport & Trading Company ~ Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of transportation

Limited HK$10,000 services
EEARAA KRARRRS LA T@mAIEL - 100% - 100% #%HHE
Upright Victory Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Securities investment

* AL S T AR R R AR A — A A B AR G R BRI AR

The Company was inactive since year 2022 and deregistered in November 2023, which does not have a material impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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43. A ) R 2§ R 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
(#0) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
AR,/
AL/ BN C#iTR
Place of EA AR R A
incorporation/ ML Issued and AR T B 4 B B 2 Tl
it % ¥ 44 1 registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FEEH
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities
SR i St
2024 2023

HE% il % LK i3
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

WLS (BVI) Limited KRR TS LG Lk 100% - 100% - RERR
38510% 7T
BVI Limited Company Ordinary Investment holding
US$38,510
HERRARA R A KRR TS AR TEmAIET 100% - 100% - REER
World Lion Global Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Investment holding
R TREGEHRAR" i HRRA LEmA - - - 100% REEREHRE
10,000 7T
WLS Contractors Limited* Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of management
HKS$10,000 contracting services
i FHE G e A ik AT LA - 100% - 100% feETER
WLS Intellectual Property Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Investment holding
HKS2
TR A TR A ] i HRRA LEmA - 100% - 100%  HEHERER M
100,000 T
Wui Loong Consultancy Company Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of consultancy
Limited HK$100,000 services
TR (7 ) MEARAR i ARATH L AE T - 100% - 100% SR
Wui Loong (H.K.) Scaffolding Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HK$2 Scaffolding works
Works Company Limited business
ERERARAH it HRRA il - 100% - 1009% RO TR
10,0008 70
Wui Loong Resources Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of management
HK$10,000 services
ERAEA R AT i ARAT W A2 - 100% - 100%  WAERS RS
R
A2 (Mt
1,900,000 72
Wui Loong Scaffolding Works Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HK$2 Scaffolding works business
Company Limited Non-voting
deferred (Note)
HKS$1,900,000

* EA AN ZF = — R TR

# The Company was deregistered on November 2023.
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43, AN EEI B A vl 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#0) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
AR/
REM /0 C#iTR
Place of BA BEBA
incorporation/ ERER Issued and AR T B 4 B B 2 Tl
it 6 2% ¥ 44 1 registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FEEH
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities
“EONE EZER
2024 2023
HE% f % LK i3
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
TR EE AR B AR Lk - 100% - 100%  fE& R
100,007 7T
Wui Luen Engineering Company Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Fitting out business
Limited HK$100,000

B 3+ 0 3 T RO G RO\ SERE A S, - M
R SRR & B A RS IR A A U R
2R R A b B A AT R A (M Y bl
T PR IR T AR A | B RE A N 1,000,000
W ICE 2 A BEE N — LA RSN -

B R A A
oM I 7 O (1 T A 4 2 AR S R
GRS E 0% SRR Y Va1
BRI TR o

44, #HiE % B E

5 A B L 1 2 o
P L BRI -

45, L

AT T EN D U aARFEE L
2577 e

46. LSS M B R

WMBRECR —F HELA =+ H RS
G v R T B o

Note: The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends, no rights to attend
or vote at general meetings and no rights to receive any surplus assets in a return
of capital in a winding-up (other than one half of the balance of such assets after
the sum of HK$100,000 billion has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary
shares of the Company in such winding-up).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the Directors, materially affected the results of the Group or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets. To give details of other subsidiaries

would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
44. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 30 April 2024 and up to the date of approval of the

consolidated financial statements.
45. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative figure has been reclassified to conform to the presentation

of the current year.

46. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 30 July 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
E3 RESULTS
BENA=1HILEE
Year ended 30 April
SR CECZE CDEDTE DR DR TERF
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Tt RPN RPI P AP
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FERR Continuing operations
g Revenue 82,405 145,960 189,047 150,206 139,516
5 LA Cost of sales (31,665) (98,112) (117,927) (78,164) (80,759)
EF Gross profit 50,740 47,848 71,120 72,042 58,757
HAt g A Other income 326 3,384 461 6,647 2,215
oAt 18 7% #R Other losses, net (5,227) (25,217) (59,237) (47,356) (78,194)
HHE R Impairment losses recognised
RSN AN 7R under expected credit loss
model (24,409) (92,865) - - -
B NATEE T Operating and administrative
expenses (18,271) (27,440) (48,374) (42,680) (43,996)
REMEZ NTE Fair value changes on
5% investment properties - - 2,521 (4,500) (8,080)
WEYE - TR Rk A Gain on disposal of property,
P& plant and equipment 188 15 - 829 81
VEN T Loss on disposal and write-off of
2 3 R e 1R property, plant and equipment - - (407) (391) (25)
W12~ BRI B skt LA Impairment loss of property,
AR E 2 W EEHE  plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets - (4,500) - - -
B — [ [ B /A 7l Z UtEE  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - 115 34,446 12,255 -
AT Y Impairment losses recognised
w8 2 W8 fE i 18 in respect of goodwill and
intangible asset - - - - (34,954)
& A Finance costs (8,588) (7,147) (8,049) 9,775) (9,795)
W 5 i s 4R Loss before tax (5,241) (105,807) (7,519) (12,929) (113,991)
Frfa®i (BIZ) /&% Income tax (expense)/credit (5,906) 487 (4,258) (6) 8,986
AAEE Loss for the year (11,147) (105,320) (11,777) (12,935) (105,005)
& E K AR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
WWH=+H
At 30 April
TR SR CSE DECTE DR E DR R
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Tl T T T T T T T
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
Mg Total assets 582,042 575,605 703,374 711,065 732,119
MAR Total liabilities (198,165) (179,498) (200,829) (202,177) (207,770)
383,877 396,107 502,545 508,888 524,349
Z/NEIE/ 2SN Equity attributable to the owners
JRE A HE 45 of the Company 383,877 396,107 509,638 521,353 537,629
e P M 1 4 Non-controlling interests - - (7,093) (12,465) (13,280)
383,877 396,107 502,545 508,888 524,349
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